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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of MKB Bank Nyrt.
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of MKB Bank Nyrt. (the ,,Company”) for the year 2020 which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020 — which shows a total assets of mn
HUF 2,792,636 —, and the related statement of recognized income, statement of comprehensive income —
which shows a net profit for the year of mn HUF 6,232, statement of changes in equity and statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Company as at December 31, 2020 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
(the ,,[EU IFRS”), and the financial statements were prepared in all material respects in accordance with the
provisions of the effective Hungarian Act C of 2000 on Accounting (the ,,Accounting Act”) relevant to the
entities preparing financial statements in accordance with EU IFRS.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Hungarian National Standards on Auditing and the effective
Hungarian laws and other regulations on audits. Our responsibilities under these standards are further
described in the "The Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of our
report.

We are independent of the Company in compliance with the relevant effective Hungarian regulations and
the “Rules of conduct (ethical rules) of the auditor profession and the disciplinary process” of the Chamber
of Hungarian Auditors and, in respect of matters not regulated therein, the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants (the IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the same ethical requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.



Key audit matter

Related audit procedures

Impairment of the loan receivables

(See Section 11. of the Notes to the Financial
Statements for the details)

The net value of loans to customers in an
amount of HUF 1,106,242 million comprise
39.6% of the total assets (gross book value
of HUF 1,144,720 million of loans measured
at amortized cost), and the relevant
impairment balance at the end of the current
year was HUF 39,416 million.

The determination of impairment of loans
requires  application of professional
judgement and use of subjective
assumptions by management. The most
significant assumptions applied in the
provisioning calculation are the followings:

- actual model parameters
- valuation of collaterals;
- estimated time to realize the collaterals;

- estimates of future cash-flows expected to
be realized.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in an
increase in the uncertainty of assumptions
underlying the economic outlook. This
combined with varying government
responses, has raised the complexity of
assessing and monitoring customers'
financial health, necessitating an elevated
level of judgement required by the Bank in
calculating the ECL.

Based on the significance of the above
described circumstances the calculation of
impairment of loans was identified as a key
audit matter.

The relevant audit procedures performed by us included
the following:

- evaluating internal controls relating to monitoring of
loans and calculating and recording of impairment;

- evaluating specific loan impairments by selecting a
random sample based on risk profiles, and for the
individually impaired loans the review of consideration
and valuation of collaterals and estimates of expected
future cash-flows;

- evaluating the appropriateness of collective
provisioning models, and review of the assumptions,
management estimates and parameters applied,
including comparison with historical data, and
recalculation of the impairment charge with the
involvement of our experts;

- reviewing subsequent events (sold receivables), and
analysing of the possible effect on the year audited;

- evaluating the impairment triggers related to the non-
impaired portfolio.

- assessing the requirement for additional allowances
considering the Bank’s ECL model, particularly in light
of the extraordinary volatility in economic scenarios
caused by the current COVID-19 pandemic and
government responses.




Other Information: The Business Report and the Corporate Governance Report

Other information comprises the information included in the Corporate Governance Report and the
business report of the Company for 2020, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. Management is responsible for the other information and for the preparation of the business
report in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Accounting Act and other regulations. Our opinion
on the financial statements provided in the section of our independent auditor’s report entitled "Opinion”
does not apply to the other information.

Our responsibility in connection with our audit of the financial statements is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Furthermore, in accordance with the Accounting Act, our responsibilities regarding the business report also
include reviewing the business report to assess whether the business report was prepared in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Accounting Act and other regulations, if any, including the assessment
whether the business report complies with the requirements of Section 95/B. (2) €) and f) of the Accounting
Act, and to express an opinion on the above and on whether the business report is consistent with the
financial statements. Furthermore, in accordance with the Accounting Act we shall make a statement
whether the information referred to in Section 95/B. (2) a)-d), g) and h) has been provided in the business
report.

In our opinion, the business report of the Company for 2020 corresponds to the financial statements of the
Company for 2020 and the relevant provisions of the Accounting Act in all material respects. The
information referred to in Section 95/B. (2) a)-d), g) and h) of the Accounting Act has been provided.

As the Company is not subject to additional requirements under any other regulation in connection with the
business report, we have not formulated an opinion on this matter.

In addition to the above, based on the information obtained about the Company and its environment, we
must report on whether we became aware of any material misstatements in the other information and, if so,
on the nature of such material misstatements. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

The Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives during the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue, on the basis of

the above, an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
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but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Hungarian National Standards on
Auditing and the effective Hungarian laws and other regulations on audits will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error, and they are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Hungarian National Standards on Auditing and the effective
Hungarian laws and other regulations on audits, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.



e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify the opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

¢ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in the
Company's internal control that we identify during the audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.



Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In compliance with Article 10 (2) of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and the
Council, we provide the following information in our independent auditor’s report, which is required in
addition to the requirements of International Standards on Auditing:

Appointment of the Auditor and the Period of Engagement
We were appointed as the auditors of the Company by the General Meeting of Shareholders on 17 April
2020 and our uninterrupted engagement has lasted for 9 years.

Consistence with the Additional Report to the Audit Committee

We confirm that our audit opinion on the financial statements expressed herein is consistent with the
additional report to the Audit Committee of the Company, which we issued on 30 March 2021 in accordance
with Article 11 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council.

Provision of Non-audit Services

We declare that no prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5 (1) of Regulation (EU) No.
537/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council were provided by us to the Company. In addition,
there are no other non-audit services which were provided by us to the Company and its controlled
undertakings and which have not been disclosed in the business report.

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report are the signatories of
the report.

Budapest, 30 March 2021

Madi-Szabd Zoltan

Delgitte Auditing and Consulting Ltd. Statutory registered auditor
1068 Budapest, Ddzsa Gydrgy ut 84/C. Registration number: 003247
Registration number: 000083
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MKB Bank Nyrt.
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2020

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 294 183 55 388
Loans and advances to banks 8 83 558 62 392
Derivative financial assets 9 23 262 18 193
Securities 10 1174 027 600 894
Loans and advances to customers 11 1106242 923 938
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 38 504 4075
Other assets 12 15 149 14 256
Current income tax assets 1418 455
Deferred tax assets 23 6 707 7718
Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates 13 48 373 46 708
Intangibles, property and equipment 14 39213 38439

Total assets 2792 636

Liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 15 574 825 195 683
Deposits and current accounts 16 1 877 454 1237 260
Derivate financial liabilitics 17 35406 44 263
Other liabilities and provisions . 18 54910 60 983
Issued debt securities 19 2343 1331
Subordinated debt 20 44 724 39 381

Total liabilities 2 589 662 1578 901

Equity
Share capital 21 100 000 100 000
Reserves 22 102 974 93 555

Total equity 202974 193 555

Total liabilities and e quity 2792 636 1 772 456

Budapest, 30 March 2021

g/p./z /
JanosfMyemcsok

Chairp a ) iefExefutive Officer Deputy Chief Executive Officer
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MKB Bank Nyrt.
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31
December 2020

Note 2020 2019
Statement of profit or loss
Interest and similar to interest income 24 50 895 56 927
Interest expense 25 24 988 19 008
Net interest income 25907 37919
Net income from commissions and fees 26 23731 27371
Other operating income / (expense), net 27 6121 11612
Impairment / (Reversal) and provision for losses 28 724 (4 027)
Operating expense 29 41 602 3959
Profit before taxation 6953 41 339
Income tax (income) / expense 30 721 (673)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Revaluation on financial assets measured at FVTOCI 10 3187 (3 281)

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Net income available to ordinary shareholders 6232 42012

Average number of ordinary shares outstanding (thousands) 100 000 100 000
Earnings per Ordinary Share (in HUF) 32
Basic 62 420
Diluted 62 420

Budapest, 30 March 2021

/
V&l
anosAAyvemcsok

Chairman ecutive Officer Deputy Chief Executive Officer
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MKB Bank Nyrt.
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2020

Revaluation on

Share 3 . Retained s8¢ Total
= Share premium ,
capital carnings P as 3 e quity

FYTOCI

At 1 January 2019 100 000 2 41 361 (3 466) 159 624
Dividend - - (4 800) . (4 800)
Profit for the year - - 42012 - 42 012
Other comprehensive ncome for the year - - - (3 281) (3 281)

At 31 December 2019 78 57 193 555
Profit for the year - - 6232 - 6232
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 3187 3187

At 31 December 2020 100 000 21729 84 805 (3 560) 202974

Budapest, 30 March 2021

q

Jang®Nyemcsok
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

6/150



MKB Bank Nyrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Scparate Financial Statements as at 31 December 2020

MKB Bank Nyrt.
Statement of changes in equity based on Hungarian Accounting Law for the year ended

31 December 2020

Share capital Capital reserve Retained eamings  Revaluation reserve Total

Balance at | January 2019 100 000 (3 466) 159 624
Dividend - - (4 800) i -
Profit before tax - - 42012 - 42012
Accumulated other comprehensive mcome - - - (3 281) (3 281)

Balance at 31 December 2019 72 193 555
Profit before tax - - 6232 - 61232
Accumulated other comprehensive income - - - 3187 3187

Balance at 31 December 2020 100 000 2172 84 505 (3 560) 202974

Reconciliation of share capital registered at registry
court and share capital under IFRS as adopted by 31 December 2020 31 December 2019
the EU

Share capital registered at the registry court 100 000 100 000
Instruments recognised as liabilities
¢ capital under IFRS as adopted by the EU 100 000

Schedule of the profit reserves available for
divide nd (million HUF)

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Retained earnings 84 805 78 573
Statutory other reserve 11 448 10 825

Profit reserve available for dividend 67 748

The Board of Directors does not propose to the Shareholders of the Bank to pay dividend.

Budapest, 30 March 2021

Jan yemcsoé

xecutive Officer Deputy Chief Executive Officer
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MKB Bank Nyrt.
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2020
Note 2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/ (Loss) before taxation 6953 41 339

Adyjustments for:
Depreciation, amortisation and imparment 14,31 4162 4109
Impairment / (Reversal of impairment) on other assets 12 (29) 1181
(Reversal of provisions for) / Recognise provisions on off-BS items and settlement for customers 18, 33 480 (511)
Reversal of impairment on loans and advances 811 (782) (23 652)
Reversal of impairment on non-current assets held for sale 338 (6 371) (194)
Imparment / (Reversal of impairment) on securities and associates 10, 13 19 (1 608)
Other IFRS adjustment on securities 10 2716 (483)
Deferred tax movement 30 1011 (1.947)
Net interest mcome 24,25 (24 80T) (37 634)
Dividends from shares and other non-fixed income securities (223) (167)
Revaluation of ssued securities 19,20 - (92)
Revaluation and other result on securities measured at FVTOCI Change in Equity 3187 (3 281)
Foreign Exchange movement 1279 977

Cash flows from operating activities (12 405) (21 963)
Change in loans and advances to banks 8 (21 186) 1213
Change m loans and advances to customers 11, 34, 35, 37 (181 502) (7137)
Change in derivative assels 9 (5 069) (279)
Change in other assets 12 (864) 1 081
Change in amounts due to banks (short term) 15 4444 (32017)
Change in current and deposit accounts 16 640 194 (143 578)
Change in other habilities and provisions (without provision charge of the year) 18, 31 (6 553) 22 786
Change in dernvative liabilities 17 (8 85T) 12 655
Interest recemved 24 50 468 58 207
Interest paid . 15 (25 661) (20 573)
Income tax 30 (1 684) 218

443730 (107 424)

Net cash (used in)/ generated operating activities 431 325 (129 387)

Cash flow from investing activities
Inerease of reserves of group companies 13 (2 696) (2212)
Disposals of group companies 13 1 098 103
Purchase and disposals of PPEs and intangible assets 14,31 (4 936) (20 355)
Purchase of securities 10 (1048 714) (750 421)
Disposals of securities 10 473 002 923 187
Change in non-current assets held for sale and discontmued operations 38 9942 357

Net cash (used in)/ generated by investing activities (572 304) 150 659

Cash flow from financing activities
Increase in issued securities 19 2343 1116
Decrease i issued securities 19 (1331) (5 389)
Increase in subordinated hiabilities 20 19248 10 524
Decrease in subordinated liabilitic s 20 (15012) -
Change in amounts due to banks (Borrowings) 15 374 698 13 547
Dividends paid Change in equity - (4 B00)

Net cash generated by financing activites 379 946 14 998

Netincrease of cash and cash equivalents 238 967

Cash reserves at 1 January 55 388 19 240
FX change on cash reserve (172) (122)

Cash reserves at the end of period 294 183 55388

Budapest, 30 March 2021

/[

Jano yemcsol/

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
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Notes to the Separate Financial Statements

(from page 9 to page 107)

1. General information

MKB Bank Nyrt. (former MKB Bank Zrt., hereinaftefMKB” or “MKB Bank” or “the
Bank”) is a commercial bank registered in Hungaryd operating under the effective laws of
Hungary, particularly under Act CCXXXVIl of 2013 oaredit institutions and financial
enterprises.

The separate financial statements of the Bank sxpaped for the year ended 31 December
2020.

From 30 May 2019 MKB pursues its activity as a pubinited company, the shares of MKB

Bank were added to the product list of the Budaf¢atk Exchange (hereinafter: BSE), by
which the shares of MKB were admitted to the BSE.30 May 2019 the type of operation of
the Bank changed and as of that date it functiena public limited company. The company
name changed to MKB Bank Nyrt., effective from 3@yM2019. The change of form of

operation and the related name change were regjiskgr the court of registration on 30 May
2019. The first trading day of the ordinary shasEMKB Bank admitted to BSE was 17 June
2019 in the Standard category of the equity sedfdSE.

On 30 October 2020, the Bank has sold all of i@resh representing 33.33% ownership in
Magyar Bankholding Zrt. to its shareholders.

Magyar Bankholding Zrt. commenced its effective rapien as a holding company on 15
December 2020, after the bank shares of the keyersnvof Budapest Bank Zrt., MKB Bank
Nyrt. and MTB Zrt. were transferred to the jointlding company in possession of the
approval of National Bank of Hungary (hereinaftédBH). The owners transferred their shares
to Magyar Bankholding Zrt. as a result the sedangkest banking group in Hungary has been
established, with the Hungarian State owning 30.38Ptthe shares through Corvinus
Nemzetkozi Befektetési Zrt., the previous directnevs of MKB acquiring 31.96% of the
shares and the previous direct owners of MTB aowi87.69% of the shares. All required
approval has been obtained for these changes. diofisant change is expected in the
strategy of the Bank.

Following the contribution, the financial holdin@rapany will perform strategic decision-
making, prudential control and group managementtfans over the three banking groups, as
well as plan and manage the merger process thehisps the operation of the banks. The
detailed merger plan and the business strategybeilestablished in 2021. Budapest Bank,
MKB Bank and MTB will preserve their individual lagstatus, and will operate as separate
brands until the merger. After the contributionkind the synergistic of the intercompany
transactions will be immediately utilize.

The shareholder structure of MKB Bank is the foilogvas of 31 December 2020:

11

Name of the shareholders of MKB Bank Nyrt.

Number of shares Total face value of Ownership share
(pieces) shares (HUF) (%)

Magyar Bankholding Zrt. 97 185 008 97 185 008 000 97.19%

Free float ratio: 2.81%
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Magyar Bankholding Zrt. has a 97.19% direct owngrsimterest in MKB Bank. The
ownership structure of Magyar Bankholding Zrt. is:

1.2

Name of the shareholders of Magyar Bankholding Zrt.

Name of the shareholder QURE SlE

(%)
Corvinus Nemzetkozi Befektetési Zrt. 30.35%
METIS Magantkealap 11.51%
Blue Robin Investments S.C.A. 10.82%
RKOFIN Befektetési és Vagyonkegedft. 4.48%
EIRENE Magarikealap 3.29%
Pantherinae Pénzlgyi Zrt. 1.02%
PRIME FINANCE Future Zrt. 0.84%
Magyar Takarék Befektetési és Vagyongazdalkodds 37.69¥%

These financial statements are prepared for gepergloses as defined in IAS 1; they are
prepared for the purposes of users who may noestdbe MKB group to prepare customised
reports to suit their specific information needswyAspecific information needs beyond these
financial statements may be satisfied with the lstxchange flash report which is prepared
for special purposes for the same period basetahkey figures of these financial statements.
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2.

Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards

The financial statements of the Bank have beengpeebin accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter: “IFR$s’adopted by the EU.

IFRSs comprise accounting standards issued bynteenhtional Accounting Standards Board
(hereinafter: “IASB”) and its predecessor body amdrpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (hexfter: “IFRIC”) and its predecessor

body.

These financial statements are presented in Hurg&orint (“HUF"), rounded to the nearest
million, except if indicated otherwise. The finaalcstatements are authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 30 March 2021.

Since 1 January 2018, MKB has been applying theSH-Rdopted by the EU in its
bookkeeping as well as the preparation of its sgpdinancial statements.

The 2020 figures in these financial statements haeen compiled on the basis of the
standards effective from 1 January 2020.

Basis of measurement

The separate financial statements have been preparénitial recognition at fair value as
inceptive carrying amount.

The Bank classifies subsequent measurements iatoltbwing categories:
» derivative financial instruments are measurediawtdue
« financial instruments at fair value through prafit loss are measured at fair value
(hereinafter: “FVTPL")
e financial assets measured at fair value througherotbomprehensive income
(hereinafter: “FVTOCI")
« other financial instruments are measured at aneartest (hereinafter: “AC”).

The separate financial statements have been prepased on going concern assumption.

The preparation of financial statements requiresagament to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of actng policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expense.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewedaro on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the peniaghich the estimate is revised and in any
future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant area$ estimation uncertainty and critical

judgements in applying accounting policies thatehtine most significant effect on the amount
recognised in the financial statements are destiibdlote 34.
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4.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Accounting policies are the specific principlessés conventions, rules and practices adopted
by the Bank in preparing and presenting the sepdmancial statements. The accounting
policies set out below have been applied consigtémtall periods presented in these separate
financial statements.

To ensure data consistency the Bank made reckzgsin in supplementary notes in some
relevant cases.

a) Financial statement presentation

These separate financial statements include thmuats of MKB Bank Nyrt. The presentation
and functional currency of the Bank was determimeéiungarian Forint (“HUF").

b) Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled enities and associates

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled ie@$ and associates are measured at
amortised cost by the Bank.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the MKB Bagontrol exists when the Bank is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns freninitolvement with the subsidiary and has the
ability to affect those returns through its powesteinthe subsidiary. In assessing control,
substantive potential voting rights are also takém account.

Where the Bank is a party to a contractual arramgemhereby, the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the ssét of the arrangement, the Bank classifies
its interest in the venture as a joint venture.

MKB classifies investments in entities over whithhas significant influence, and that are
neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures, as astexigFor the purpose of determining this
classification, control is considered to be the powo govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits fiitgractivities.

c) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetaretaswithout physical substance held for
supply of services, or for administration purposes.

Intangible assets that have a finite useful life measured initially at costs and subsequently
carried at costs less any accumulated amortisaimhany accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets are amortised over their estionaseful lives not exceeding 15 years from

the date when the asset is available for use, eqgptiie straight-line method.

Intangible assets that have an indefinite usefe) br are not yet ready for use, are tested for
impairment annually. An intangible asset is subjean impairment review if there are events
or changes in circumstances which indicate that#ng/ing amount may not be recoverable.

Expenditure on internally developed intangible a¢seftware) is recognised as an asset when
the Bank is able to demonstrate its intention dvitityato complete the development and use

the software in a manner that will generate furgenomic benefits, and can reliably measure
the costs to complete the development. The cagsthicosts of internally developed software

include all costs directly attributable to develapithe software, and are amortised over its
useful life.
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Subsequent expenditure related on software assetapitalised only when it increases the
future economic benefits embodied in the specifssea to which it relates. All other
expenditure is expensed as incurred.

d) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property and equipment including leaselmigrovements and investment properties
are measured initially at cost, including transacticost, then subsequently cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attable to the acquisition of the asset. When
parts of an item of property or equipment haveedéht useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property gagpment.

When parts of an item of property or equipment hdifferent useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items (major components) of prpperd equipment.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant agdigment are as follows:
» components of freehold buildings are depreciatest mmaximum 100 years,
* equipment, fixtures and fittings (including equipmen operating leases where MKB
is the lessor) are depreciated over 5-10 yearanaMtmum over 20 years.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment aiduided in “Operating expense” line in
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Compreherisiseme.

Property, plant and equipment is subject to an impnt review if there are events or
changes in circumstances which indicate that theyiog amount may not be recoverable.

Net gains and losses on disposal of property angheeent are recognised in “Other operating
income / (expense), net”, in the year of disposal.

e) Investment property
Investment properties are held by the Bank to eamtals and for capital appreciation.

The Bank uses the cost model for investment prgpeaxcording to which the property is
accounted in the Bank's books at the purchasesandghen depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of investment propediesas follows:
» components of buildings are depreciated over 25y&ads
* connecting equipment are depreciated over 20 years

Depreciation of investment property is included@ther operating income / (expense), net”
line in Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Coshensive Income.

The fair value of the investment properties shall dupervised yearly by an independent

appraiser. Should the fair value be much lower tthencarrying amount, impairment loss
shall be recognized through profit or losses.
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f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and cairtgeand, unrestricted balances held with
central bank and highly liquid financial assetshwiriginal maturities of less than three

months, which are subject to insignificant riskcbinges in their fair value, and are used by
the Bank in the management of its short-term comenitts.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amod@sstdn the statement of financial position.
g) Initial recognition and measurement of Financial Irstruments

Outbound loans and claims, and debt securitiesegagnized by the Bank on settlement date.
All other debt securities are recognized when tlaalkBcommits itself either acquiring the
asset, or selling it (trade date accounting).

All financial instruments measured at fair valueirdtial recognition. The fair value of a
financial instrument at initial recognition is naahly the transaction price (the fair value of the
consideration given or received).

At initial recognition, all financial instrumenthdt were measured at amortised cost, are
recognized at a modified fair value by the Banke Tinodified fair value includes all
transaction costs which are directly attributaldethte issuance and acquisition of financial
instruments.

Financial instruments measured at fair value thingoifit or loss are recognized at their fair
value by the Bank. All related transaction costuimed at their inception, issuance, and / or
purchase are accounted as expense through Prafitssr If accounts payables do not contain
significant financing component, they are recogmiattransaction price by the Bank.

The Bank's financial assets are measured at aetsst if it is consistent with the business
model and meet the criteria of the SPPI test.

Amortised cost is the amount of a financial assefimancial liability at initial recognition,
reduced by principal repayments, increased or dsetk by the difference between the
original amount and amount at maturity cumulativeetization calculated using an effective
interest rate method and in case of financial ass#justed by any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that eyadigcounts the estimated future cash payments
or receipts through the expected life of the finahasset or financial liability to the

» gross carrying amount of the financial asset, or

» amortised cost of the financial liability.

However, in those cases when it is not possiblecliably estimate the cash flows or the
remaining life of a financial instrument (or groapfinancial instruments), the Bank uses the
contractual cash flows over the full contractuairef the financial instrument (or group of

financial instruments).

In case of purchased or originated credit-impaifiedncial assets (POCI) credit-adjusted

effective interest rate should be used. The caajitsted effective interest rate (CAEIR) is the

rate that exactly discounts the estimated expdatede cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the amedisost of a financial asset.

The effective interest rate method is the methce u® measure the amortised cost of the

Bank's financial assets or financial liabilitiesdaihe method used to allocate and recognises
interest income and interest expense in a giveiogher
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Interest income and interest expense should bendietied using the effective interest rate
method and then recognized in the Profit or Loatestent.

Simplified approach for trade receivables, contracassets and lease receivables

In case of future cash flows of financial instrungsecannot be estimated reliably due to the
specific features of the product, furthermore thatactual cash flows are not available, the
effective interest rate of the instrument cannotéermined.

When interests, commissions and other items agfed to such transactions these are
accounted through profit or loss for using a sifigadi method (ie the effective interest rate is
the same as the nominal interest rate).

h) Classification and subsequent measurement of Finaiat Instruments

IFRS 9 standard contains three main categoriesassity and measure the financial assets:
amortised cost (AC), fair value through other coamgnsive income (FVTOCI) and fair value
through Profit and Loss (FVTPL).

The Bank’s business model is determined at a inatlreflects how groups of financial assets
are managed together to achieve a particular besiolgjective. The business model does not
depend on management's intentions for an indivithettument. Accordingly, this condition
is not an instrument-by-instrument approach tosifi@stion and should be determined on a
higher level of aggregation. The Bank uses multipleiness models to manage its financial
instruments.

The following business model categories have bemeldped in accordance with IFRS 9
standard:

¢ Held to Collect (HTC): an instrument is held foethollection of contractual cash
flows with which the Bank aims to realize long-ternterest income. There is no
requirement to hold to maturity, a sale is perrdittieie to increased credit risk. Sales
could be also consistent with the business modéhef credit concentration risks
change or if close to maturity.

e Both Held to Collect and For Sale (HTCS): an instent that is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows and for théesaf financial assets at the same
time. The purpose of the inception or purchase isotlect contractual cash flows, as
well as to realize profit from the increase in thi value and minimize loss from the
decrease in the fair value in medium or long tedmmpared to the HTC sales occur
more frequently and are higher in value.

e Other trading business model (TRADING): mainly tradfinancial instruments that
are purchased for short-term gain.

The listing in the business model reflects the etqi®ns of the Bank, not just the intent, but
also the ability. The classification is not basedscenarios that are not reasonably expected
(‘worst case' or 'stress case' scenario). If thikkBalls a particular portfolio or financial asset
in a ‘stress case’ scenario, it does not affecetlsduation of the business model.

Classification not only depends on the businessembdt also on the cash flow related

characteristics associated with the financial uregnt. The Bank has to examine the cash
flows associated with the financial instrument gaigling those debt instruments that will be
measured at amortised cost or fair value througkeratomprehensive income - whether they
comply with the requirements of the principal anterest definitions according to IFRS 9

(SPPI/ Cash Flow Test).
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By Cash Flow Test the Bank examines whether th&-actual cash flows are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amouatstanding.

Contractual cash flows that are solely paymentgrofcipal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding are consistent with a basicidgnarrangement. In a basic lending
arrangement, consideration for the time value ofi@yoand credit risk are typically the most
significant elements of interest. However, in sacharrangement, interest can also include
consideration for other basic lending risks (foamyple, liquidity risk) and costs (for example,
administrative costs) associated with holding tharfcial asset for a particular period of time.
In addition, interest can include a profit marghmtt is consistent with a basic lending
arrangement. However, contractual terms that initedexposure to risks or volatility in the
contractual cash flows that is unrelated to a bksiding arrangement, such as exposure to
changes in equity prices or commodity prices, dbgine rise to contractual cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest oa ghrincipal amount outstanding. An
originated or a purchased financial asset can bas& lending arrangement irrespective of
whether it is a loan in its legal form.

The Bank shall measure a financial asset at aradrtisst if both of the following conditions
are met:
» the financial asset is held within a business madedse objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flanms,
» the financial asset’'s contractual cash flows arelsgayments of principal and
interest.

The Bank shall measure a debt instrument at féirevilarough other comprehensive income if
both of the following conditions are met:
« the financial asset is held within a business madwlse objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling fioahassets, and
< the financial asset's contractual cash flows arkelggayments of principal and
interest.

The Bank is able to make an irrevocably electionneasure the investments in equity
instruments, which are not held for trading atir‘fealue through other comprehensive
income” category at initial recognition, in othease these financial assets should be
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All other financial assets are classified by thenlBas the fair value through profit or loss
category.

1) Classification and subsequent measurement of finara liabilities

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities intwe following categories:
e« Mandatory FVTPL measurement (FVTPL category) measent if liabilities are
held for trading,
« FVTPL option — based on the decision of entityratial recognition (if qualifying
criteria are met)
* Amortised cost — other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities not held for trading are iaity measured at fair value less transaction cost

by the Bank. These liabilities are subsequentlysuesd at amortised cost calculated by using
the effective interest method.
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j) Fair Value Option (FVO)

At initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocablycognize a financial asset or liability at fair
value through profit or loss if it eliminates orgsificantly decreases any valuation or
recognition inconsistencies that would otherwisecharisen because of the valuation of assets
and liabilities or the profits or losses generairdhem are shown on different bases.

The financial liabilities are measured at fair \veathirough Profit or Loss at initial recognition
by the Bank, the change in fair value at the suliseigmeasurement should be recognised as

the following:
» changes related to own credit risk is measuredutfiramther comprehensive income
(OCl),

» all other changes in fair value is measured thrdeigifit or Loss.
k) Determination and recognition of the Expected CrediLoss

During classification of the Bank’s financial ingtnents the primary collateral is determined
as the ability and intention of the client to p&xcept for those transactions that are covered
by collateral which is independent of the finaneiat legal position of the client accordingly
the return can be unequivocally ensured.

The Bank assigns exposures at each reporting pefimthis case monthly — during which the
exposures are allocated to the segments and wothalled ‘stages’ (stage 1, stage 2, stage 3
and / or POCI) in accordance with the principledS 9 standard.

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whethareldit risk of the financial asset has
increased significantly since the initial recogoniti

The Bank recognises lifetime expected credit lossfl financial instruments when the credit
risk has increased significantly compared to theditrrisk at acquisition or origination —
regardless whether assessed on an individual tectiok basis - considering all reasonable
and supportable information, including that whistiareseeable.

When making the assessment, the Bank evaluatehdamges in the risk of a default occurring
over the expected life of the financial instrumetdnsidering reasonable and supportable
information, that is available without undue cosetiort which indicate the changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

The Bank determines the significant increase imlitmésk based on the examination of the
following four conditions:
» changes in the clients’ rating after the issuance,
* PD change in the master scale compared to thalinélue,
o default in payment,
» the amount of the client's exposure classifiedtageS2 exceeds a certain proportion
of its gross exposure.

The existence of any of these conditions is asddsgdhe Bank as a significant increase in
the credit risk. If there is no evidence of impamh have to be assigned to Stage 2, the
transaction could be displaced from stage 2 toesiag

Financial assets whose default risk has increaseddh an extent after initial recognition that
there is objective evidence of impairment have ¢oassigned to Stage 3 and a loan loss
allowance has to be recognised by calculating tfegilne Expected Credit Loss (ECL). Bank
defines materiality threshold, exposure that atevibéhat threshold should be considered as a
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small amount (below the limit). The impairment bbse assets which are above the threshold
should be estimated individually.

In order to determine the impairment and allowafoceclasses of clients, the expected credit
loss (ECL) should be calculated according to tHevemt principles of IFRS 9 impairment
model for classes of clients calculated on monitialgis, automatically.

Factors taken into account when determining explextedit loss:
e remaining lifetime in years,
e exposure at default (EaD),
* loss given default (LGD),
e probability of default (PD),
« credit conversion-factor (CCF),
* loss rate of the non-default and default transactio
« discount rate calculated on the remaining lifetime.

The amount of impairment and allowance equals tousrinof expected credit loss.
In Stage 1 the impairment is equal to the 12-Maxbected credit loss.
In Stage 2 and Stage 3 the impairment is equaletdifetime expected credit loss.

The applied risk parameters are determined ondbs lof statistical models for homogeneous
groups and transaction groups. The models areataticat least once a year, and if necessary
they will be revised. Transactions that are recegphiat fair value, the fair value calculation
the credit risk component of the discount factarakulated based on the principles related to
determination of ECL as mentioned above.

The Bank calculates the expected credit loss fer rimaining lifetime, except for the
following financial instruments for which the losscalculated for 12 months:
* debt securities with low credit risk at the repagtdate,
« financial instruments except for lease receivalded account receivables, which
credit risk do not significantly increased compat@chitial recognition.

For account and lease receivables the Bank alwalgsalates lifetime expected credit loss.

Expected credit losses are probability-weightedmeges of credit losses during the life
expectancy of a financial asset. These are assbgdhd Bank as follows:

» financial assets not impaired at the reporting :ddtscounted loss on cash flow
(difference between the contractual cash flowsthadxpected cash flows),

» financial assets impaired at the reporting datéemince between the gross carrying
amount and the estimated present value of theamdlisig amount,

e undrawn loan commitments: present value of theedifice between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the entity if the holafethe loan commitment draws down
the loan and the cash flows that the entity expectsceive if the loan is drawn down,

» financial guarantee contracts: expected paymentshéo holder, reduced by the
amounts that are expected to be recovered.

If the credit risk of the financial instrument hawreased significantly since its initial

recognition until the reporting date, the Bank igruses the loss on the asset at an amount of
lifetime expected credit losses.
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If the credit risk of the financial instrument hast significantly increased since the initial
recognition until the reporting date, the Bank gatiees loss on the asset at the same amount
of the 12-month expected credit loss.

The impairment / expected credit loss calculated1f®» months is the part of the lifetime
expected loss results from potential default evedittsin 12 months of the reporting date.

The Bank recognises loss for the expected cresd ém the following financial instruments
not measured at fair value through Profit or Loss:

* debtinstruments,

* lease receivables,

e accounts receivables,

» financial guarantees, and

* loan commitments.

The expected credit loss should be recognisedéBémk as the following:

» deducted amount from the gross carrying value (impt) — in case of financial
assets measured at amortised cost,

» provision — in case of financial guarantees andh loammitments, if the financial
instrument includes both a loan and an undrawn copts and the Bank is unable to
distinguish the expected credit loss calculated tfer loan and for the undrawn
components, the Bank will therefore determine thgpairment loss on the two
components together. To the extent that the cordbéxg@ected credit losses exceed
the gross carrying amount of the financial as$et,expected credit losses should be
recognised as a provision.

* in case of financial assets measured at fair ligaigh other comprehensive income
(OCI), the impairment loss is not recognized in financial statement as part of the
assets’ fair value. The recognised impairment nmeslifthe cumulative other
comprehensive income.

When recognising the change in the credit risk, Blamk reviews the Stage classification
based on the clients' risk characteristics (inaslbect the same, hypothetical, credit risk
parameters of a transaction measured at amortisstl are applied) and assigns the
corresponding risk parameters to the transactiomgluhe valuation. Accordingly, the risk

parameters are part of fair valuation and the changcredit risk occurs by isolating and

separately recording the effects of these paraseter

For purchased or originated credit-impaired finaheissets at the reporting date the Bank
recognises the accumulated changes in the lifegw@ected credit loss since the initial
recognition. In the Bank's practice, typically fardenominated receivables appear as
purchased or originated credit-impaired financtsleds.

The Bank assesses provision for contingent ligdwlit(i.e. contracted but undrawn loan
commitments, issued financial guarantees, letteradits) as follows:
* in the case of clients / debtors subject to indigidvaluation, the Bank determines the
amount of provision individually,
* in other case the Bank calculates provision basati@ EAD corrected by CCF.

For transactions accounted as commitments showsgydn the reporting date, the calculated
provision is the negative difference between the ¥alue and the gross carrying amount
based on the valuation method.

Impairment and provision are based on the amoulatssfcalculated as above.
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[) Determination of fair value

All financial instruments are recognised initialgt fair value. In the normal course of

business, the fair value of a financial instrumemtinitial recognition is the transaction price

(that is, the fair value of the consideration givenreceived). In certain circumstances,
however, the initial fair value will be based ohert observable current market transactions in
the same instrument, or on a valuation techniquesehvariables include only data from

observable markets, such as interest rate yieldesuoption volatilities and currency rates.

When such evidence exists, the Bank recogniseadingr gain or loss on inception of the

financial instrument.

When unavailable market data have a significantaichpon the valuation of financial
instruments, the entire initial difference in fa&lue indicated by the valuation model from the
transaction price is not recognised immediatelthastatement of comprehensive income but
is recognised over the life of the transaction onappropriate basis, or when the inputs
become observable, or the transaction matures @dosed out, or when the Bank enters into
an offsetting transaction.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair valudsfinancial instruments measured at fair
value that are quoted in active markets are basdiicoprices for assets held and offer prices
for liabilities issued. When independent pricesravkavailable, fair values are determined by
using valuation techniques which refer to obsemvabarket data. These include comparison
with similar instruments where market observablegs exist, discounted cash flow analysis,
option pricing models and other valuation technggoemmonly used by market participants.
For financial instruments, fair values may be dateed in whole or in part using valuation
techniques based on assumptions that are not sadpby prices from current market
transactions or observable market data.

The inputs used by the valuation techniques foerd@hing fair values are classified by the
fair value level hierarchy as follows:

e level 1: quoted market price in an active marketio identical instrument
e level 2: valuation technigues based on observaiplats
e level 3: valuation technigues using significant lservable inputs

Transfer from level 1 to level 2 of fair value faechy may occur when prices on active
market are no longer available. This is the casermthe active market cease to be exists, or
there are no publicly available quotations, howesleservable inputs are still available for
valuation purposes on the instrument under question

Factors such as bid-offer spread, credit profilé eamodel uncertainty are taken into account,
as appropriate, when fair values are calculatedhgusialuation techniques. Valuation
techniques incorporate assumptions that other rhaplketicipants would use in their
valuations, including assumptions about interets y&ld curves, exchange rates, volatilities,
and prepayment and default rates. Where a portbblimancial instruments has quoted prices
in an active market, the fair value of the instratseare calculated as the product of the
number of units and quoted price and no block dist®are made.

If the fair value of a financial asset measuredaat value through profit or loss becomes
negative, it is recorded as a financial liabilitytiliits fair value becomes positive, at which
time it is recorded as a financial asset.

The fair values of financial liabilities are measdirusing quoted market prices, where

available, or using valuation techniques. These ¥ailues include market participants’
assessments of the appropriate credit spread tp pihe Bank’s liabilities.
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Yes

m) Derecognition of Financial Assets

The following decision tree illustrates the prirlegof derecognition of financial instruments
by the Bank:

The Bank determines whether these principles applia
part of financial assets (or a part of a groupimilar
financial assets) in its entirety.

4 2\
Has the right to the cash flows from the finaneisdet Yes | The asset should be
expired? » derecognized
g J
No
A 4
4 N\
Has the Bank transferred the contractual righteteive
cash flows of the financial ass

*No

( )
Has the Bank assumed an obligation to pay theftash No
from the financial asset meets the conditions efrtext .| Continue to recognize the
paragraph? 7| asset
. J
Yes
\4
e N\ Yes
> Has the Bank transferred substantially all risks an The asset should be
rewards derecognized
(N S/
No
¢ Yes
( ) »| Continue to recognize the

Has the Bank retained substantially all risks and?

No
¢ No

[ Has theBank retained control of the financial ass ]—P The asset should be
derecognized

Yes

asset

v
[ The Bank shall continue to recognize the finanasset ]

to the extent of its continuing involvement

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when #@atisé contractual rights to receive the

cash flows of a financial asset (the ‘original &$ser retains the contractual rights to receive

the cash flows of a financial asset, but assumesn&ractual obligation to pay those cash

flows to one or more recipients (the ‘eventual pamits’), the Bank treats the transaction as a
transfer of a financial asset if, and only if, @llthe following three conditions are met:

* The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to tlem®al recipients unless it collects
equivalent amounts from the original asset. Shariitadvances by the entity with the
right of full recovery of the amount lent plus aced interest at market rates do not
violate this condition.

* The Bank is prohibited by the terms of the transfamtract from selling or pledging
the original asset other than as security to tleneal recipients for the obligation to
pay them cash flows.

« The Bank has an obligation to remit any cash flatvsollects on behalf of the
eventual recipients without material delay. In &iddi, the Bank is not entitled to
reinvest such cash flows, except for investmentsash or cash equivalents during the
short settlement period from the collection datéhi date of required remittance to
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the eventual recipients, and interest earned oh swestments is passed to the
eventual recipients.

When the Bank transfers a financial asset, it shadluate the extent to which it retains the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financiakass

The Bank examines the following before derecognitio

* if the Bank transfers substantially all the risksdarewards of ownership of the
financial asset, the Bank shall derecognize thenfiral asset and recognize separately
as assets or liabilities any rights and obligatiorested or retained in the transfer,

» if the Bank retains substantially all the risks aedards of ownership of the financial
asset, the Bank shall continue to recognize ttanfiial asset,

» if the Bank neither transfers nor retains subsa#igtiall the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset, the Bank shatemeine whether it has retained
control of the financial asset. In this case:

o if the Bank has not retained control, it shall degnize the financial asset and
recognize separately as assets or liabilities ayits and obligations created or
retained in the transfer,

o if the Bank has retained control, it shall continogecognize the financial asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement in thedintial asset.

The extent of the Bank's continuing involvementhie transferred asset is the extent to which
the Bank is exposed to changes in the value dfémsferred asset.

The transfer of risks and rewards is evaluateddmparing the Bank’s exposure, before and
after the transfer, with the variability in the amnts and timing of the net cash flows of the
transferred asset. The computation and compariomade using the current market interest
rate as discount rate. All reasonably possibleatdity in net cash flows is considered, with
greater weight being given to those outcomes tieatrere likely to occur.

The Bank has retained substantially all the risid )@wards of ownership of a financial asset
if its exposure to the variability in the presemtiuve of the future net cash flows from the
financial asset does not change significantly esssalt of the transfer.

An entity has transferred substantially all thé&sisnd rewards of ownership of a financial
asset if its exposure to such variability is noden significant in relation to the total
variability in the present value of the future nash flows associated with the financial asset.

Asset transfers holding all or substantially alltieé risks and rewards could be for example
repo transactions (for repo transactions, the Barsiders whether the risks and rewards
incurred in the transaction are substantially ti@med or not).

Derecognition due to significant changes in contragal cash flows of financial
liabilities

The terms are substantially different if under nlegv terms the present value discounted at the
original effective interest rate of the cash flowmcluding fees received and paid — is at least
10% different from the discounted present valughef remaining cash flows of the original
financial asset. If the exchange of debt instrum@ntthe modification of the terms is treated
as derecognition, the Bank will recognize any costiees incurred as a gain or loss related to
the termination of the asset. If the exchange odifitation is not accounted for as
derecognition, the costs or fees incurred will mMptlie carrying amount of the asset and will
be amortised over the remaining maturity of the ifiredi loan.
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The Bank considers it a significant change if tbatactual currency is modified, or if the
contractual interest rate is changed from vari&bfe, or inversely.

Write-off of financial assets under legal proceedig

Loans which are under legal proceeding (bankrupigyidation and final proceedings) and in
case of enforcement collateral transactions:

» the Bank’s contractual right to receive cash fldwmsn the financial asset does not

expire,

» the Bank did not transfer the right of collectiragh flows from the financial asset,

» the Bank did not assume any obligation to pay &shdlows from the financial asset,
therefore the Bank does not derecognize such itatiely from its books, but may partially
derecognize them.

When the Bank can reasonably not expect to recpeer of the financial asset while
maintaining the legal claim it is considered asHdigl recognition. In such cases, the write-off
reduces gross carrying amount of the financialtasse

After the legal waiver of the claim, the Bank masitevdown the total gross carrying amount
of the financial asset if it is not able to be nem@d and void according to the relevant internal
rules (in this case there is no legal claim).

n) Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Bank removes a financial liability (or a paftacfinancial liability) from its statement of
financial position when, and only when, it is egiilshed — when the obligation specified in
the contract is fulfilled or cancelled or expires.

Exchange between an existing borrower and lendettett instruments with substantially
different terms shall be accounted for as an eutsignent of the original financial liability
and the recognition of a new financial liability.

Similarly, a substantial modification of the terofsan existing financial liability or a part of it
(whether or not attributable to the financial ditfity of the debtor) shall be accounted for as
an extinguishment of the original financial liabjliand the recognition of a new financial
liability.

The terms are substantially different if under tiegv terms the present value discounted at the
original effective interest rate of the cash flowscluding fees received and paid — is at least
10% different from the discounted present valu¢hef remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. If the exchange of debt instnents or the modification of the terms is
treated as cancellation, the Bank will recognizg emsts or fees incurred as a gain or loss
related to the termination of the liability. If texchange or modification is not accounted for
as cancellation, the costs or fees incurred wiltlifyothe current amount of the liability and
will be depreciated over the remaining maturityhe modified loan.
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0) Financial guarantees

The Bank does not recognise the financial guaranésecontingent items in the Financial
Statement because this could cause recognitionieaome or expense which may not being
realisable.

In case when the realisation of income or expesssubstantially sure, the asset does not
considered as contingent item and it should begrised in the Financial Statement items
assessed permanently in order to the Bank posthihages up the Financial Statement in
time.

Insofar the occurrence of economic benefits inflowoutflow being substantially sure, the
relating income or expense should be accountedaingeriod wherein the probability of the
occurrence changed.

The Bank considers the occurrence of economic kieriaflow or outflow as substantially
sure when the Client written inform the Bank of ihgention to draw on guarantee.

The Bank subsequently recognises the contractsnandial guarantee at the higher of the
amount of the accounted loss and the amount igitietognised less cumulative income.

p) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinuedperations

Financial instruments that meet the IFRS 5 standdteria’s are recognized as held for sale
by the Bank. The Bank classifies a non-currenttaasséneld for sale, if its carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale trarisan, rather than through continuing use.

A disposal group is a group of assets that arend@e to be disposed by sale or in another
way, collectively, as a single group, in a singtansaction and the liabilities directly
attributable to those assets that are transfeugdgithe transaction.

To meet the criteria for classification as helddale:

* the asset (or disposal group) must be availableifonediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual emstomary for sales of such assets
(or disposal groups) and its sale must be hightypable,

» for the sale to be highly probable, the appropriateel of management must be
committed to a plan to sell the asset (or dispgealip), and an active programme to
locate a buyer and complete the plan must have ibégted,

» the plan or decision to sell must be approved coatance with the relevant rules of
the Bank in order for the sale to be consideredighly probable and it is also
necessary to include it in the report,

» the asset (or disposal group) must be actively etackfor sale at a price that is
reasonable in relation to its current fair value tbe Bank advertise it at the
appropriate forum,

» the sale should be expected to qualify for recogmias a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification,

» actions required to complete the plan should inditiaat it is unlikely that significant
changes to the plan will be made or that the plidirber withdrawn.

Assets held for sale or disposal groups shouldebegnized separately in the statement of
financial position.

A disposal group classified as held for sale maglifyufor the definition of the discontinued
operations.
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Discontinued operations are a part of the Bank llaatbeen disposed of or classified as held
for sale and embody a distinct, major industry @wgyaphical area of activity and are part of a
coordinated plan for disposing a separate busimegsographical area of activity.

The result of the discontinued operation and thesgar losses at sale should be recognized in
a separate line in the Statement of Profit or Laxsd Other Comprehensive Income by the
Bank.

The Bank measures a non-current asset (or disgosap) classified as held for sale at the
lower of its carrying amount or fair value lesstdossell.

If the fair value less cost to sell is less thaa thrrying amount of the non-current assets or
assets or liabilities part of the disposal grouphat date of classification as held for sale an
impairment loss shall be recognized.

Fair value less cost to sell must be re-determatexhch reporting date and, if higher than the
carrying amount, the impairment loss should bemnsag up to the amount of impairment loss
recognized previously.

Please find further details on non-current finaheissets and liabilities held for sale in
Note 38.

q) Financial assets and liabilities held for trading

Treasury bills, debt securities, equity shareschassified as held for trading if they have been
acquired principally for the purpose of selling m@purchasing in the near term. These
financial assets or financial liabilities are rexizgd on trade date, when the Bank enters into
contractual arrangements with counterparties tahage or sell securities, and are normally
derecognised when either sold (assets) or extihgdifliabilities). Measurement is initially at
fair value, with transaction costs recognized ia Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income. Subsequently, their fair eslare remeasured, and all gains and
losses from changes therein should be recognistéeiBtatement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income in “Other operating inconexpénse), net” as they arise.

Interest earned on trading debt securities is tefdas interest revenue among the interest and
similar to interest income when it becomes due. @ihedends earned on trading equity
instruments are disclosed separately among theesitand similar to interest income when
received. Interest payable on financial liabilitesquired for trading purposes is reported as
interest expense.

Structured Bonds

MKB issues structured bonds for its retail andifosbnal clients since 2008. The Bank
eliminated its interest and foreign currency risisiag from the above mentioned options by
entering into offsetting option transactions. Tam@hate valuation inconsistencies, these
structured bonds are designated at fair value dfitpor loss in their entirety and as a
consequence the embedded derivatives are not seghara

The fair value designation, once made, is irreviedbesignated financial assets and financial
liabilities are recognised when the Bank enter® itlie contractual provisions of the
arrangements with counterparties, which is generah trade date, and are normally
derecognised when sold (assets) or extinguishedilties). Measurement is initially at fair
value, with transaction costs taken directly to Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
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Comprehensive Income. Subsequently, the fair vadwesremeasured, and gains and losses
from changes therein are recognised in “Interedtsamilar to interest income”.

r) Securities

Investments in securities are classified as asslet for liquidity purposes if there was a
decision made previously about possible disposahse of the changes in market conditions
or the securities have not been classified into dhieer categories. By these assets the
objective is to achieve both collecting contractaakh flows and selling financial assets.
Financial investments are recognised on trade aaten the Bank enters into contractual
arrangements with counterparties to purchase siesyrand are derecognised when either the
securities are sold or the borrowers repay thdigations.

The liquid securities are initially measured ar fealue modified by direct and incremental
transaction costs. They are subsequently remeasurédr value, and changes therein are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Reldtirigese assets impairment loss should be
accounted in Statement of Profit or Loss. Whendleeurities are sold, cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in other compreherisn@me are recognised in the Statement
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive IncoméGther operating income / (expense),
net”.

s) Derivatives

Derivatives are recognised initially, and are sgbsatly remeasured, at fair value. Fair values
of exchange-traded derivatives are obtained fromteglimarket prices. Fair values of over-
the-counter derivatives are obtained using valaaterhniques, including discounted cash
flow models and option pricing models.

Derivatives may be embedded in other financial asthcontract is financial asset, then
embedded derivative is not separated accordinget¢éRRS 9 standard.

Derivatives are classified as assets when theivédie is positive or as liabilities when their
fair value is negative. Derivative assets and liids arising from different transactions are
only offset if the transactions are with the samenterparty, a legal right of offset exists, and
the parties intend to settle the cash flows ontdasis.

t) Leases

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 16, Baek, as lessee, introduces a single
model to recognise right-of-use asset and leagdityaon balance sheet. In this case, the
Bank presents separately the interest expensaddease liability and the depreciation charge
for the right-of-use asset. In some cases (e.g where is a change in the lease term or in
future lease payments arising from a change imdex or rate) the Bank as lessee remeasures
the lease liability.

At the commencement date, the Bank assesses whathdessee is reasonably certain to
exercise an option to extend or not to exercisem@tion to terminate the lease. The Bank
considers all relevant facts and circumstancesdfegte an economic incentive for the lessee
to exercise, or not to exercise, the option.

The Bank recognises the right-of-use asset antk#se liability as at the commencement date
of the lease. The right-of-use asset is initiallgasured at cost, which includes the initial
amount of the lease liability, adjusted for leasayrpents incurred on or before the

commencement date, increased initial direct costs apsts for dismantling, removing and

restoring the underlying asset and for site restorand less any leasing incentives.
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The Bank, as lessor, classifies its leasing cotg#tras finance or operating leases based on
decision tree according to the requirements ofstaadard. Initially, the Bank recognises the
lease liability at the present value of the leaagnpents outstanding at the commencement
date, discounted at the implicit interest rate ted tease. On subsequent measurement, the
Bank recognises depreciation on the right-of-usetafom the commencement date to the
end of the useful life of the underlying asset.

After the commencement date of the lease termB#rk depreciates the asset on a straight-
line basis, from the commencement date to theezarfithe useful life or the end of the lease
term.

After the commencement date, the Bank measurekéise liability at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. The Bank ubesré¢vised interest rate at the date of the
revaluation as the revised discount rate. In cehtthe Bank reassesses the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments if futuasdepayments are changed due to changes in
an index or rate.

Presentation in the financial statements

During the lease term, the Bank recognises leagmqats for short-term leases and low value
leases as an expense in Statement of Profit ordrm$©ther Comprehensive Income.

The right-of-use assets are included in “Intangiplproperty and equipment” and lease
liabilities in “Other liabilities and provisionshithe Statement of Financial Position.

After the commencement date the Bank recognisesethted costs in Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, if these atreecognised as part of the cost of the
right-of-use asset. Interest on lease liabilitiss imcluded in “Interest expense”. The
depreciation of a right-of-use asset is recognasetOperating expense”.

The Bank classifies the right-of-use assets arifiom operating leases that are leased or
subleased in the Statement of Financial Positioneligrence to the nature of the underlying
asset.

u) Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinatelbilities

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinabdlities are the Bank’'s sources of debt
funding.

When the Bank sells a financial asset and simubiaslg enters into a “repo” or “stock
lending” agreement to repurchase the asset (onitasiasset) at a fixed price on a future date,
the arrangement is accounted for as a deposit,tleadunderlying asset continues to be
recognised in the Bank’s financial statements.

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordingbiities are initially measured at fair value

plus transaction costs, and subsequently measutrtheéia amortised cost using the effective
interest method, except for the items which atahrecognition are designated by the Bank to
fair value through profit or loss category.
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v) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a pasent, the Bank has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated béliaand it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle thégatiion.

Contingent liabilities, which include certain guatees, are possible obligations that arise
from past events whose existence will be confirnoedy by the occurrence, or non-
occurrence, of one or more uncertain future eveatsvholly within the control of the Bank,
and present obligation that arises from past evbatsis not recognised, because it is not
probable that an outflow of resources embodyinghenoc benefits will be require to settle
the obligation, or the amount of the obligationmatrbe measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in theaficial statements but are disclosed in the
additional notes.

w) Income tax
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

By accounting treatment for current and future meotax, the Bank recognises the tax
consequences of the future recovery / settlemethieotarrying amount of assets, liabilities,
transactions and other events of the current petatl are recognised in the statement of
financial position.

The Bank applies the corporate income tax as indame

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable enakable profit for the year, calculated using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by thte af the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previoasse

Deferred tax is measured at tax rates that areceegheto be applied to the temporary
differences when they reverse, based on laws that heen enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided using the financial positimethod, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of asaetk liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes
Deferred tax is not recognised for the followinmpmorary differences:
» the initial recognition of goodwiill,
» the initial recognition of assets or liabilities & transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accountingtaxable profit, and
» differences relating to investments in subsidiateethe extent that they probably will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax asset is recognised only to the exbettit is probable that future taxable profits

will be available against which the asset can llesed. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and are reducéuktextent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset wtmy arise in the same entity and relate to

income taxes levied by the same taxation authoaitgl, when a legal right to offset exists in
the entity.
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Deferred tax relating to fair value re-measurenwrfinancial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income, which are @thgy credited directly to equity, is also
credited or charged directly to equity.

X) Interest and similar to interest income and expense

Interest income and expense typically relating & uhe effective interest method is
recognised in “Interest and similar to interesbime” and “Interest expense” in the Statement
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

y) Netincome from commissions and fees

Fee and commission income is accounted for aswello
* income earned on the execution of a significanisaptcognised as revenue when the
act is completed (for example the arrangementHeracquisition of shares or other
securities) and
* income earned from the provision of services i®gadsed as revenue as the services
are provided (for example asset management anttsdees).

z) Other operating income / (expense), net

“Other operating income / (expense), net” comprgains less losses related to trading and
investment assets and liabilities, and includegedlised and unrealised fair value changes
and foreign exchange differences.

aa)Dividends

Dividend income is recognised when the right teehee income is established. Usually this is
the ex-dividend date for equity securities.

bb) Segment reporting

MKB formed its reporting segments in line with IFBSOperating Segments”. An operating
segment is a component of the Bank that engadagsiness activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, and whose operasaldsrare regularly reviewed by the Bank's
chief operating decision maker to make decisionsutilbesources to be allocated to the
segment and to assess its performance; furtherfoorehich discrete financial information is
available. The Bank determines operating segmentsaure of the business (business
segment) or geographically (geographical segment).

Segment revenue, segment expense, segment assetsganent liabilities are determined as
those that are directly attributable or can becalled to a segment on a reasonable basis,
including factors such as the nature of items, ¢beducted activities and the relative
autonomy of the unit. The Bank allocates segmerdgmee and segment expense through an
inter-segment pricing process. These allocatioescanducted on arm’s length terms and
conditions. Please find further details on segmeporting in Note 37.

The Bank does not have any foreign segments.
cc) Foreign currencies
Items included in the financial statements of eatthe Bank's entities are measured using

the currency of the primary economic environmentwhich the entity operates (‘the
functional currency’).
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Transactions in foreign currencies are translatedhé respective functional currencies of
Bank entities at exchange rates at the dates dfdheactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the end ofréporting period are retranslated to the
functional currency at the exchange rate at th&d.dBhe foreign currency gain or loss on
monetary items is the difference between amortisest in the functional currency at the
beginning of the period, adjusted for effectiveenest and payments during the period, and the
amortised cost in foreign currency translated atetkchange rate at the end of the period.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominatddrigign currencies that are measured at fair
value are retranslated to the functional currericth@ exchange rate at the date that the fair
value was determined. Foreign currency differerazésng on retranslation are recognised in
profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations|uding goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition and equity put options, mamslated to HUF at exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period. The income and expafdereign operations are translated to
HUF at exchange rates at the dates of the transactioreign currency differences are
recognised directly in equity, in the Currency slation reserve. When a foreign operation is
disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant ambumthe foreign currency translation reserve is
transferred to profit or loss.

dd) Share capital

Shares are classified as share capital when there ¢ontractual obligation to deliver cash or
other financial assets to the holders. Incremeowats directly attributable to the issue of
equity instruments are presented in equity as ac®h from the proceeds, net of tax.

ee)Treasury shares

The cost of the Bank’s repurchased equity instrum¢itreasury shares') is deducted from
equity. Gain or loss is not recognised on the msehsale, issue, or cancellation of treasury
shares. Treasury shares may be acquired and heliebgntity or by other members of the

consolidated Group. Consideration paid or receisedcognised directly in equity.

ff) Earnings per share

The Bank presents basic and diluted earnings pmesfePS) data for its ordinary shares.
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit osd attributable to ordinary shareholders of
the Bank by the weighted average number of ordishgres outstanding during the period.
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the prafitoss attributable to ordinary shareholders
and the weighted average number of ordinary starestanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. For further informatigmout basic and diluted EPS, please see
Note 32.

gg) The effect of adopting new and revised InternationlaFinancial Reporting
Standards effective from 1 January 2020

The following amendments to the existing standadd new interpretation issued by the
IASB and adopted by the EU are effective for therent reporting period:

* Amendments to References to the Conceptual Frameworin IFRS Standards —

adopted by EU on 29 November 2019 (effective faruah periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020),
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* Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Staments” and IAS 8
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimags and Errors” - Definition of
Material — adopted by EU on 29 November 2019 (éffedor annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020),

* Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, IAS 3 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”, IFRS 7 “Financial Insruments: Disclosures” —
Interest rate Benchmark Reform - adopted by EUdahuary 2020 (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020),

* Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases™ Covid 19-Related Rent Concessions adopteUy
on 9 October 2020 (effective for annual periodsiti@gg on or after 1 June 2020),

« Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations™> adopted by EU on 21 April 2020
(effective for annual periods beginning on or aftelanuary 2020).

The adoption of these amendments to the existingdsrds has not led to any material
changes in the Bank’s financial statements.

hh) New and revised Standards and Interpretations issd by IASB and adopted
by the EU but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financialtesteents, there are new standards,
amendments to the existing standards nor inteeta which are issued by IASB and
adopted by the EU and which are not yet effective:

* Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IRS 16 “Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase &adopted by EU on 13 January 2021 (effective foruahn
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021)

* Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” deferralof IFRS 9 adopted by EU on
15 December 2020 (effective for annual periodsio@gg on or after 1 January 2021)

The Bank does not adopt these new standards ancdameets to existing standards before
their effective date. The Bank anticipates that #doption of these new standards,
amendments to the existing standards and new ietatipns will have no material impact on
the financial statements of the Bank in the peabuhitial application.

i) Standards and Interpretations issued by IASB but nbyet adopted by the EU

At present, IFRS as adopted by the EU do not saamifly differ from regulations adopted by

the International Accounting Standards Board (IA8B3ept for the following new standards,

amendments to the existing standards and new ietatjpn, which were not endorsed for use
in EU as at 29 April 2021

 IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” including amendmentsto IFRS 17 (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 023

« Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”; IAS & “Property, Plant and
Equipment”; IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’-
Annual Improvements (effective fog annual periogsyibning on or after 1 January
2022),
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« Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Staments” - Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (effectiver Bmnual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023),

e Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statments” and IAS 28
“Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’- Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Merand further amendments (effective
date deferred indefinitely until the research prbjen the equity method has been
concluded).

The Bank anticipates that the adoption of these s&ndards, amendments to the existing

standards and new interpretations will have no natenpact on the financial statements of
the Bank in the period of initial application.

5. Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled enties and associates

Entities included in MKB Group of consolidation atieir activities are as follows:

51
2020
Company R rc.e TEGR G (B “_:e nlgge G . Coniflyy _Of Brief description of activities
equity owned voting rights  incorporation
Euro - Immat Uzemeltetési Kft. 100.00% 100.00% Hungaryintangible assets, license maintenance
MKB-Euroleasing Autélizing Szolgattaté Zrt. 100.00% 00100% Hungary  Car and consumer finance activitégrdinance activities
MKB Bank MRP Szervezet 100.00% 0.00% Hungary  Speciglgse entity for the Employee Share Program
MKB Uzemeltetési Kit. 100.00% 100.00% Hungary Property operation and mainiss
Retail Prod Zrt. 100.00% 100.00% Hungary  Car and consumer financeitiestiv
MKB-Pannénia AlapkezélZrt. 49.00% 49.00% Hungary Investment fund manage metivity
MKB Digital Szolgaltaté Zrt. 100.00% 100.00% Hungary  d@&rvices
2019
Company 3 rc.entage o (B “_:e nlgge G " Gty gf Brief description of activities
equity owned voting rights  incorporation
Euro - Immat Uzemeltetési Kft. 100.00% 100.00% Hungaryintangible assets, license maintenance
Exter-AdéssagkezgKft. 100.00% 100.00% Hungary  Collecting receivables
Extercom Vagyonkez&Kft. 100.00% 100.00% Hungary Property investments
MKB-Euroleasing Autdlizing Szolgattaté Zrt. 100.00% 00100% Hungary  Car and consumer finance activitihgrdinance activities
MKB Bank MRP Szervezet 100.00% 0.00% Hungary Specigigae entity for the Employee Share Program
MKB Nyugdijpénztart és Egészségpénztart Kiszolgdlo 100.00% 100.00% Hungary  Other financial services
MKB Uzemeltetési Kit. 100.00% 100.00% Hungary Property operation and mainiss
Retail Prod Zrt. 100.00% 100.00% Hungary  Car and consumer financeitiestiv
MKB-Pannénia AlapkezélZrt. 49.00% 49.00% Hungary Investment fund manage metivity
MKB Digital Szolgaftaté Zrt. 100.00% 100.00% Hungary  d@&rvices
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6.

Risk management

a) Introduction and overview

All the Bank’s activities involve a certain degreé risk assumption. The measurement,
evaluation, acceptance and management of these aigkintegral parts of the Bank’s daily
operative activity.

Risk management is an integral part of the Banksrations and a crucial component of its
business and overall financial performance. The MBa@hk's risk management framework

has been designed to support the continuous momwtoof the changes of the risk

environment and is supported by the strong comnmtrteea prudent risk management culture
both on the strategy and business line levels.

The main principles and priorities of the Bank’skrimanagement function include the
ultimate oversight by the Board of Directors (thmpmval of the Supervisory Board is also
required for some specifically defined risk deaisiy the importance of independent review
of all risk-taking activities separately from buss#s lines, and the proper evaluation,
diversification, limitation, monitoring and reparg of all risks. Decisions in respect of major
risk principles are approved at group level, anel iamplemented individually by the own

decision making boards of the Bank members.

The effective communication on risk and risk apgpetthe on-going initiatives to better
identify, measure, monitor and manage risks, theévement of efficiency, user-friendliness
and awareness of key risk processes and praciodshe employment of highly-skilled staff
are the bases of running an effective risk managefnaction in the Bank.

The Bank has exposure to the following risks tylbydaom its use of financial instruments:

» credit risk:
The risk of lending comprises the potential riskhe business partner failing to fulfil
its payment obligations or failing to do so on tiaewell as the risk of the value of
the receivable diminishing because the businesmgr&s credit rating decreases.
Risks originated from loans or other loan type camments extended to associated
enterprises are also included in the Bank’s cmgktmanaging mechanism.

e country risk:
The country risk generally refers to a potentiakltriggered by economic, political or
other event which takes place in the particularmtguand cannot be controlled by
MKB, as creditor or investor. As a result of suelem(s), the obligor cannot fulfil its
obligation in time or at all, or the Bank is unaltte enforce its rights against the
obligor. The components of the country risk aregfar risk, sovereign risk and
collective debtor risk.

e participations risk:
The participations risk is defined as the risktedao the following events:

0 potential losses from providing equity / equitytimsents or subordinated loan
capital. This involves potential losses realisedrduthe sale of participation or
loss occurring as a result of a participation’sksaptcy, the (partial) write-off
of the participations (also including write-off detl on business or company
value or goodwill value), i.e. loss suffered on boek value of the investment

0 potential losses from a possible commitment / lighextended in addition to
equity investment (i.e. profit / loss transfer agments), letters of comfort,
capital contribution commitments, additional furgliobligations)
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o0 potential losses originating from other risks assed with the participation
such as reputation risk, operational risk, exchaatgerisk.

* market risk (including foreign exchange and interage risks):
Market price risk comprises potential losses frdrarges in market prices in both the
trading and banking books.

* liquidity risk:
MKB defines liquidity as the ability to serve itsyment obligations entirely as they
fall due and to fund new business at all times eouthhaving to accept unplanned
liquidation losses on the asset side or increasfimancing rates on the funding side.

* operational risk:
Operational risk means the risk of loss resultirgrf inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from externateev@perational risk includes legal
risk, conduct risk, reputational risk, modellingski and information and
communication technology (ICT) risk. Operationakrdoes not include business and
strategic risks.

* legal risk:
Legal risk is the risk of losses due to the noneoksnce of the scope set by legal
provisions and jurisdiction caused by ignorancek laf diligence in applying law, a
delay in reacting to changes in legal frameworkdithons, unexpected or ex post
facto changes in legal framework respectively coditverse legal judgements from
the Bank’s side.

» conduct risk:
The conduct risk is classified among the operatios&s and reflects any risk in the
supply of financial services originated from andequate supply of services or
deliberately exhibited impermissible conduct. Timsludes risks arising from fraud
and unfair, unethical or aggressive trading prastitarmful to consumers.reputational
risk:
Reputational risk is defined as risks have indireffect on liquidity, capital or
profitability based on unfavourable consumer, panthip, shareholder, investor or
official sentiment, which is cancelled from the Raexpected assessment level.

* model risk:
Model is the risk of loss resulting from decisiobhased on using insufficiently
accurate models. Mistakes in models are not neglgssa not primarily occur from
negligence instead limitations of knowledge, nadweggh data, or changes that cannot
be read from past data: simply the fact that thdetsare never perfect.

* information and communication technology (ICT) risk
ICT risk means the current or prospective riskoskkes due to the inappropriateness or
failure of the hardware and software of technicafrastructures, which can
compromise the availability, integrity, accesstgiliand security of such
infrastructures and of data. ICT risk also includsks occur from outsourcing of ICT
relevant systems.

» real estate risk:
Real estate risk covers potential losses that coeddilt from fluctuations in the
market value of real estate owned by MKB Bank. Resthte risks arising from
collateral provided for real estate loans are cedv@mder credit risk.
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» strategic risk:
Strategic risk is defined as the negative impactcapital and income of business
policy decisions, deficient or unsatisfactory impkntation of decisions, or slow
adjustment to changes in the economic environment.

* Dbusiness risk:
Business risk is defined as unexpected changebeiretonomic environment that
cause negative changes in business volume or nsaagthare not attributable to other
types of risk. It quantifies the difference betweglanned and actual costs and
income.

Below information is presented about the Bank’'sosxpe to each of the above risks, the
Bank’s objectives, policies and processes for naagw@and managing risk, and the Bank’s
management of capital.

b) Risk management governance

The Bank's Risk Strategy was set up in consistenttethe Business Strategy, the Business
Strategy of the Magyar Bankholding Zrt. and theutaions of the NBH. The tasks
incorporated in the Risk Strategy aiming at ensardalanced risk/return relationship,
development of a disciplined and constructive adrgnvironment, defining the Bank’s risk
assumption willingness, risk appetite and the ongability of the Bank to manage its risks
and the maintenance of its funds to cover risk sxpes in long-term. This will also ensure the
capital preservation and guarantee the solventyeoBank at any time.
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Committees Key responsibilities

Supervisory Board

- Control on the highest level of the harmonized and prudestaijpn of the Bank and the credit
institutions, financial enterprises and investneampanies under its controling influence;
Management of the company and steering of the coytpaternal audit organization;

Analysis of the regular and ad-hoc reports prephyetie Board of Directors.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Supervisory Board in agdihe financial reporting system, in the
selection of the auditor and in faciltating thep8tvisory Board's co-operation with the auditor.

Risk and NPL Committee

In the frame of continuous monitoring of MKB Bank's strategyyd risk taking appetite, previously
comments the risk taking strategy, the remuneration peliny the quarterly risk reports. Approves the
NPL Strategy of the subject year, incl. the related impletasion plan and monitors the changes
experienced in the proportion of excessively narigoming loans and the NPL Strategy.

Board of Directors

As the company's operative managing body, it carries outagement related tasks and ensures the
keeping of the company's business books in conggliavith the regulations;

Tasks related to the shares and dividend;

Tasks related to the company's organization anpesobactivities;

Tasks related to the strategic plannig (compilation of thsifess policy and financial plan and approval
of the risk taking strategy);

- Approves the policies related to risk assumptions;

Evaluation of the regular and ad-hoc risk reports.

Managing Committee

This is the highest level decision preparation and decisiaking body working under the control of the
Board of Directors;

The Managing Committee makes decisions regarding issugsnefral and strategic nature submittecl for
its perusal and issues related to the Group's operation,ctimpany's organization, the control,
management and development of HR policies, business issleted to risk taking, furthermore,
negotiates issues related to compliance and manegéring and the respective supervision tasks.

Credit Committee

The Bank's permanent body with the highest delegated deaisaking authority under the Board of
Directors;

"It is authorized to make case-by-case decisions on credliterding to the Risk Decision Competence
Regulation, except for customers handled by therRetsring and Debt Management Directorate.

Restructuring and Debt
Management Committee

- Organizatiol with the highes leve decisior makin¢ authority regardini the customer handle« by the

Restructurina and Debt Manaaement Comm
- Decision making competence for credit decisions on dedingiag under the Committee's control,

according to the provisions specified in the RigicBion Competence Regulations;
Authority regarding decision making in terms of debt-teetsand debt-to-equity conversions, as it is
determined in the Risk Decision Competence Reguokti

ALCO

Responsible for the asset and liability management and greagement of the Group's liquidity, funding,
capital adequacy and market risks;

Responsible for the development, in principle, of poliaiegarding the liquidity risks, interest rate risks,
exchange risks (foreign exchange and securities), cagitatjuacy risk and the submission of such
policies to the Board of Directors at MKBand Grdexel, including:

= measurement guidelines and limit system for ti@ve mentioned risks;

= competence and decision-making mechanism;

= guideline for managing limit excess.

Investment, Operation and
Project Priorization
Committee

The Committee is responsible for controling the bank'sraleost structure and revenues; supervises
adherence to the limits specified in the annual investmedtcast plans; continuously monitors recent
changes in the OPEX and CAPEX limits and analyzes the effeatie by such changes on the business
plan.

Decision making body having competence regarding developmequirements and programs connected
with issues like IT development efforts and projects andeotinitiatives, investments and cost
requirements or the allocation of related resources. &sponsible for ensuring coordination of the Bank
Group's strategic goals and for determining the order afrifyriin the entire portfolio of projects and
developments.

Develops and adopts the Bank's product development pesessociated with the pricing principles;, in
accordance with the Bank's business model and risk managestnategy; controls the profitability of
the current assortment of products and services.

Ethical Committee

- The Committee is responsible for supporting achievememoafpliance with the basic principles and
expected patterns of behavior stipulated in the Bank'sc&thCode, discusses cases of ethical
imperfections and infringements of extreme significandtctvcan impose potential danger to the Bank's
operation and goodwil.

Intrernal Protection Lines
Committee

The Committee is responsible for the integration of comoatiitn among the various protection lines
and for making them regular and systemic features, and éonthrovement or, in case, establishment of
the communication channels.

By exerting preventive and proactive activities, it ensuria respect of the MKB Group, timely and
successful identification and management (or enforceofenainagement) of any risk which can lead to
any legal non-compliance or to investigations conducteettgrnal authorities or to the adoption by the
supervisory authorities of resolutions condemning thel&aoperations. In case, the Committee ensures
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c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a caster or a counterparty fails to meet an
obligation under a contract. It arises principdhigm the Bank’s lending, trade finance and
leasing business, but also from certain off-balapaelucts such as guarantees, and from
assets held in the form of debt securities.

For risk management reporting purposes, the Bankiders and consolidates all elements of
credit risk exposure (such as individual obligofadét risk, country and sector risk).

Credit risk management

The Bank has standards, policies and proceduresated to the effective monitoring and
managing risk from lending (including debt secasji activities. The risk management of the
MKB Bank controls and manages credit risks at tagindards, in a centralised manner. Its
responsibilities include:

Formulating the Bank’'s credit policy in consultatiovith business units by
establishing credit approval policies, standardsjtd and guidelines that define,
quantify, and monitor credit risk.

Establishing the authorisation structure for thegrapal and renewal of credit
facilities. In order to establish an adequate ¢rddcision-making system in which
decisions are made on time, the limit amounts stabéished differently according to
the customer segment, the customer quality andtiseess line, for the delegated
credit decision authorities and the boards andviddal decision-makers of the
Business and Risk Units.

Monitoring the performance and management of ratadl wholesale portfolios across
the Bank.

Supervising the management of exposures to debtiBes by establishing controls
in respect of securities held for trading purposes.

Establishing and maintaining the Bank’'s concerdratiisk management policies
ensuring that the concentration of exposure doésxeeed the limits stated in the
internal and regulatory limit systems and concéiunarisks are effectively managed
without any need for additional capital requirensahpossible.

Developing and maintaining the Bank’s risk assesgragstems in order to categorise
the exposures according to the degree of the fifkancial loss faced and to manage
the existing risks adequately. The purpose of tkdit(deal) classification system is
to define when impairment may be required agaipstific credit exposures. The risk
categorisation system consists of several gradéshwéflect sufficiently the varying
degrees of risk of default and the availability adllateral or other credit risk
mitigation options with regard to a specific exp@su

Providing position statements, guidance and prafeaksupport to the business units
of the Bank members in credit risk management.

The control systems applied by the Bank enabl®midrol and monitor exposures by customer
and retail product segment.
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In order to comply with the prudential requiremem#KB Bank developed and operates its
borrower group forming concept. As part of thag Horrower group-level monitoring concept
is to be highlighted. According to the processes,domplete risk assumption process must be
executed at the level of borrower groups: in theecaf the individual groups the limit
proposal and monitoring process for each individiraup members takes place at the same
time based on the collective analysis and congiideraf risks.

With regards to the management of concentratides risIKB Bank implemented the global
concept of concentration risk limits. As part oé tboncept, the Bank set up bank and sector
level KPI's (key performance indicator) set and darct limits, in order to restrain the
assumption of further risks arising from the cheastics / risks rooted in different sectors
and the assumption of risks of products represetitigh or special risk. Aiming at avoid high
risk concentration within the portfolio, the cont@tion risk limit value has been established
for the total bank portfolio, with the stipulatiothat the limits of the individual
customers / customer groups may exceed this taedeé only in extraordinary and justified
cases, based exclusively on the strategic guidelipproved by the relevant Committee.

The tables required by CRR, but not presented ig Nlote are available in the Disclosure
according to Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 prepdmngdlKB Bank, available on our website
www.mkb.hu.

The table below shows the Bank’s maximum exposuddit risk at the end of the reporting
period:

6.1

Cash and cas! Loans and Loans and Derivative OFF B/S

exposures

31 December 2020 advances to advances to  Securities financial

equivalents
q banks customers assets

Individually impaired

Non-default - - - - - -

Default - - 11532 - - 829
Total individually impaired gross amount - - 11532 - - 829
Total individually impaired allowance for impairnten - - (9 162) - - (381)
Total individually impaired carrying amount - - 2370 - - 448

Collectively impaired

Non-default 271557 82 657 846 812 550 105 - 326 604

Default - 14 556 - - 487
Total collectively impaired gross amount 271557 82 657 861 368 550 105 - 327 091
Total collectively impaired allowance for impairnten (34 (40) (30 254) (168) - (1753)
Total collectively impaired carrying amount 271 523 82 617 831 114 549 937 - 325 338
Past due but not impaired

Non-default - - 280

Default - - 23
Total past due but not impaired carrying amount - - 303
Neither past due nor impaired

Non-default 22 660 941 271517 - - 94 048

Default - - - - - -
Total neither past due nor impaired carrying amount 22 660 941 271517 - - 94 048
Total assets measured at fair value - - 938 624 090 23 262
Other contingent liablities
Gross amount of other contingent liablities - - - - - 3291
Provision for other contingent liablities - - - - - (426)
Total gross amount 294 217 83 598 1145658 1174195 23 262 425 259
Total allowance for impairment (34) (40) (39 416) (168) - (2 560)
Total carrying amount 294 183 83 558 1106 242 1174 027 23 262 422 699
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Cash and cast

31 December 2019 .
equivalents

Individually impaired
Non-default
Default
Total individually impaired gross amount
Total individually impaired allowance for impairnten

Loans and
advances to
banks

Loans and
advances to
customers

17 769
17 769
(15 226)

Derivative
financial
assets

OFF B/S
exposures

Securities

361
361
(216)

Total individually impaired carrying amount

2543

145

Collectively impaired
Non-default
Default
Total collectively impaired gross amount
Total collectively impaired allowance for impairnten

3269

3269

60 648

60 648
(20)

746 696

19 337
766 033
(24 992)

289 526
335
289 861
(1 245)

286 468

286 468
(82)

Total collectively impaired carrying amount 3269

60 628

741 041

286 386 288 616

Past due but not impaired
Non-default
Default

411

Total past due but not impaired carrying amount

439

Neither past due nor impaired
Non-default
Default

52119

1764

178 557
35

74 826

Total neither past due nor impaired carrying amount 52119

1764

178 592

74 886

Total assets measured at fair value

1323

314 508 18 193

Other contingent liablities
Gross amount of other contingent liablities
Provision for other contingent liablities

789
(619)

Total gross amount 62 412 964 156 600 976 18 193 365 897

Total allowance for impairment (20) (40 218) (82) (2 080)

Total carrying amount 55 388 62 392 923 938 600 894 18 193 363 81

55 388

The effect of pandemic on the Credit risk manageren

Because of the general payment moratorium the reydtees not calculate delays, thus status
was frozen by the Bank on March 18. Except forntiewho voluntarily undertake the
payment during the moratorium period, where traddi credit behaviour can be measured.

For customers in the moratorium, the Bank usesratre solutions that can be used to track
changes in credit risk:
For retail customers:

» For customers with primary banking relationshipge Bank monitors the changes in
income credits. It can help in the estimation & thtio of future default in the terms
of customer and product group.

* The Bank has a risk model based on CRM data whiclade account and credit card
history that allows the Bank to revise the cliemesing on a monthly basis without
credit behaviour information. To do this, databaaes available monthly, and the
Bank can examine the evolution of customer-levighga. In addition for covering the
potential stage 2 transactions management oveayracognized.

For corporate customers:

» The Bank continues to determine the extent of impamt based on the rating grades
and monitoring results. For the rating, the Bargniified the industries under stress.
And the standard monitoring activity has been ceaten by sector and individual
customer level categorization based on the estaatsis impact.

* Changes in the risks include in the potential ¢ffexf pandemic are measured at
individual level for each customer, which is refkt in the rating and also in the
monitoring process.

* Where identified risks require a unique plan ofacwill be applied.

In addition to the above, the Bank also updatedrthero parameters for the whole portfolio. .

The Bank applies the most recent parameters frenMiNB Inflation Report, and above that
management overlay is added based on internas giezameters.
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In summary, the Bank's current modelling methodpltg capable of creating a new risk

measure on the basis of the above informationlidiva to create well-defined customer

profiles for customer management. The managemesiiays were constituted by the Bank

because of the uncertainty arisen from the cupantemic situation, the expected regulatory
expectations and the future variability of the emoit climate.

The net exposure of Bank's customers under mouatowas as follows (percentage of the
portfolio is based on the total amount of the Bamiet exposure):

6.1.1
Outstanding .
31 December 2020 Number of loans % of portfolio
balance
Core business
Wholesale
Refinanced loan 85 17 953 24.19%
Funding for Growth Scheme 625 48 480 31.17%
Factoring - - 0.00%
Overdraft 327 18 835 34.03%
Széchenyi Loans 1292 15 823 36.25%
Other 667 139 257 26.94%
Total Wholesale 2996 240 348 27.91%
Retail
Residential mortgage 13 365 92 822 48.90%
HUF 13 294 92 036 48.71%
Foreign currency 71 786 82,05%
Overdraft 7 392 642 83.05%
Personal loan 4 796 3543 39.76%
Other 1608 25 218 58.46%
Total Retalil 27 161 122 225 49.95%

Total Core business 362 573

Non-core business

CRE - - 0.00%

Total 30 157 362 573 32.789
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The exposure of Bank's customers under moratoriasag follows on 31 December 2020:

6.1.2
- Non-impaired loans Impaired loans 6 L e B
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Retail
Low risk 31625 9 2 184
Medium risk 70 608 7237 1708 98
High risk 4228 5197 - 943 4
Default - - 5721 2188 8
Total Retail 106 461 12 443 5721 4841 294
Wholesale
Low risk 125 428 - -
Medium risk 90 637 1795 272
High risk 2420 25 458 - -
Default - - 9479 - -
Total Wholesale 218 485 27 253 9 479 - 272
Total CRE

*Gross amount of loans measured at FVTPL represthietair value of loans

Non-impaired loans
Stage 1

Impairme nt

Stage 2

Impaired loans
Stage 3

Retail
Low risk - - -
Medium risk 231 - 231
High risk 178 - 143
Default - 3251 1218
Total Retail 409 3251 1592
Wholesale
Low risk - - -
Medium risk 73 - -
High risk 6 540 - -
Default - 7 250 -
Total Wholesale 6613 7 250 -

Total CRE

The modified cash flows of Bank's customers underatorium were as follows:

6.1.3

Financial assets modified during

Gross carrying amount before modification

Loss allowance before modification

period 31 Decelmer 2020

1147 090
(39 416)

Net amortised cost before modification

Net modification gain / (loss)
Impairment gain or loss

1107 674
(2 370)

Net amortised cost after modification 1 105 304
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Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

This disclosure represents the financial instrusénat are set off or that are subject to an
enforceable master netting agreement or similaeeagent, irrespective whether they are set
off or not.

As of 31 December 2020 the Bank had no enforceaalster netting agreement or similar
agreement which should be set off in accordande Mif 32.42.

The below table presents all the amounts that cpolgntially have been subject to an
enforceable master netting agreement or similaeeagent that are recognized financial
instruments. As these agreements and the amouateddo them as financial collateral do
not meet some or all offsetting criteria in IAS 82, the Bank does not apply offsetting to
either of them. This is because the agreementgitdagights for an offset that is enforceable
only in case of default, insolvency or bankrupt€yh® Bank or its counterparties. In addition
the Bank or the counterparties do not intend tdeseh a net basis or realize the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Similar agreements include derivative clearing eagrents, global master repurchase
agreements. Similar financial instruments includewatives, sale and repurchase agreements
and reverse sale and repurchase agreements. BEhastiuments such as loans and deposits
are not disclosed in the tables below unless theyodfset in the statement of financial
position.

The Bank receives and gives collateral in the fofrobash and marketable securities in respect
of following transactions:

» derivatives

» sale and repurchase agreements, reverse salepamdir@se agreements.

Such collateral is subject to standard industryngerincluding an ISDA Credit Support
Annex.

The table below presents the potential effect efrtot implemented offsetting as well.

6.2

31 December 2020

IAS 32.42 similar netting arrangement

I i i 2 Net amount of financial assets|
Recqgmsed ne: Carrying amou_ms Received Carrying amounts + !
carrying amouni  of accompanied collaterals 2 after offsetting/
receivabl. collaterals;

set off [ELITTES similar agreement /collaterals

Sesslcarynd Gross amounts

amount

of offsettin,
before offsetting 9

Offsetting financial assets

debit credit debit credit
Derivatives

Derivate financial assets 10735 - 10735 3018 2418 5436 5299
Receivables concerning repos
Loans and advances to customers 82751 - 82751 - 82751 82751
Financial assets under netting agreements 93 486 - 93 486 3018 85 169 88 187 5 299

IAS 32.42 similar netting arrangement

31 December 2020 . 5 " n "
Gross carrying Recognised ne: Carrying amounts Received Net amount of financial assets
Gross amounts

. ) Carrying amounts + .
" f ri - after offsetting/
amount of offsetting carrying amount!  of accompanied collaterals et Gl g

q PERT before offsetting set off liabilties similar agreement /collaterals
Offsetting financial liabilities g g

debit credit debit credit
Derivatives

Derivate financial liabilties (16 684) - (16 684) 3018 (19 702) (16 684)
Liabilities conceming re pos
Deposit and current accounts 2732 - 2732 - 2732 2732

Financial liabilities under netting agreements
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IAS 32.42 similar netting arrangement

31 December 2019

Gross carrying o aymumsRew_g"iSEd ne: Carrying amounts Received G AT | Net amoun‘t of ﬁnapma\ assets
amount of offsetting carrying amoun!  of accompanied collaterals St collaterals after offsetting/
. . before offsetting set off liabilities similar agreement /collaterals
Offsetting financial assets
debit credit debit credit
Derivatives
Derivate financial assets 63 561 - 63 561 - 568 568 62993
Receivables concerning repos
Loans and advances to customers 29413 - 29413 - - - 29413
Financial assets under netting agre e ments 92 974 - 92 974 - 568 568 92 404

The gross amounts of financial assets and liadsliiresented in the table above measured in
the financial statements on the following bases:

* Financial assets measured at FVTPL — fair value,

« Derivative financial instruments — fair value,

* Loans and advances to customers — amortised ¢edgga collateral — fair value,

» Deposits and current accounts — amortised costgptecollateral — fair value.
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The table below reconciles the Net amount aftesetfing to the related individual line items
of the Statement of Financial position.

6.3

Net amount after

31 December 2020 . e Carrying amount in the Financial assets not in
offsetting / similar . .

e _ ) anreement / statement of financial scope of offsetting
Line item of Statement of Financial g position disclosure
Position collaterals

Derivative financial assets 10 735 23 262 12 527
Loans and advances to customers 82 751 1106 242 1023 491
31 December 2020 Net amount.aft.er Carrying amount in the Financial assets not in
offsetting / similar . .

. ) . anreement / statement of financial scope of offsetting
Line item of Statement of Financial g position disclosure
Position collaterals

Derivative financial liabilties (16 684) 35 406 52 090
Deposits and current accounts 2732 1877 454 1874722

Net amount after

31 December 2019 . . Carrying amount in the Financial assets not in
offsetting / similar . .

e : : agreement / state ment of financial scope of offsetting
Line item of Statement of Financial position disclosure
Position collaterals

Derivative financial assets 31781 18 193 (13 588)
Loans and advances to customers 29413 923 938 894 525
31 December 2019 Net amount.aft.er Carrying amount in the Financial assets not in
offsetting / similar . .

e _ ) t/ statement of financial scope of offsetting
Line item of State ment of Financial agreemen position disclosure
Position collaterals

Derivative financial liabilities - 44 263 44 263
Deposits and current accounts - 1237 260 1237 260

Credit risk classification system

The Bank’s credit risk classification systems anacpsses differentiate exposures in order to
highlight those with greater risk factors and higpetential severity of loss.

For individually significant wholesale financial s&ds, the classifications are reviewed
regularly and amendments, where necessary, arenmgplted at least monthly in terms of
provisions and exposure classification.

Exposures below specific amounts are assessedolteative basis, in relation to which the
credit risk parameters are reviewed at least yearlynore frequently if required, in line with
the changes of the main economic conditions.

The Bank for each balance sheet closing date @8tedhy of the month) evaluates the changes
in the credit risk that have occurred since th&ahrecognition of the financial assets and
allocate the appropriate stage categories.

During the valuation the Bank assesses the changjeeirisk of default over the life of the
financial instrument using all reasonable and stppte information, which is available
without undue cost or effort and without exhausts@arch of information. The Bank
represents lifetime credit losses in the case wbredit risk increased significantly.
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The financial assets are initially in the stageafiegory, and they can be returned from stage 2
or from stage 3 if the necessary conditions aréopaed.

The credit risk of the deals are determined byetktent of change between the initial and the
actual PD level, the duration of the delay, therdlirating and the client handling method. In
case of significant credit risk increase the deateiclassified to stage 2 and lifetime credit
losses are recognised on these financial assets.

If the credit risk of a financial asset increaseshe point that it is considered credit-impaired
(defaulted), the financial asset is transferrestage 3.

In the stage 1, the time horizon is one year, éngtage 2 the lifetime PiT PD’s are estimated.
The stage 3 contains the defaulted customers, wheréD equals to 1. In the stage 2, the one
year PD is transformed to the lifetime PD, basedhenMarkov chain, and Vintage analysis

estimation of transition probabilities and takemoiraccount the macroeconomic forecast,
especially the year-on-year GDP forecasts, in it three years of the estimation horizon.

From the fourth year, the TTC (through-the-cyclB) las been used.

Collective valuation

According to the credit risk characteristics, sani{fhomogeneous) financial assets are subject
to collective valuation. The basis for the formatiof homogeneous groups is the client
segmentation and the credit risk product type.

The collectively allocated impairment and provisimh methodology is applied to all retail
clients, to the wholesale customers in stage lséage 2 and to the wholesale customer in
stage 3 below the client exposure limit.

Determining the collective loss allowance the expecredit loss (ECL) method is applied
according to the IFRS 9.

The expected credit loss is determined on the luddise probability of default (PD), actual
losses realized on non-performing transactionsatttaeal losses realized on non-performing
deals (LGD) and the credit conversion factor (C@Fbability of becoming a balance sheet
item.

The risk parameters are determined based on &altigtodels. The models are validated at
least once a year and reviewed if necessary.

The expected credit loss for financial assets agestl is determined on the basis of a 12-
month expected credit loss. Lifetime expected ¢tridises are recognised on the financial
assets in stage 2 and stage 3.

The purchased or originated credit-impaired (PO@iancial assets at the reporting date
represent the cumulative changes in lifetime credk from the initial recognition. In the
Bank's practice, the loans originally disbursedidreign currency have been converted to
forint, and therefore present as POCI assets. aifpimortgage loans were involved.

In the case of financial assets recorded at faiweyathe Bank calculates the credit risk

component of the discount factor on the basis ef phinciples used in determining the
expected credit loss.
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Individual-based valuation
Financial assets in the stage 3 are assesseddudilyi over the exposure limit level.

In determining the level of allowances on indivilluaignificant financial assets in stage 3,

the Bank applies the scenario-based discountedftaghmethod. The amount and timing of

expected receipts and recoveries, the value ohitesdll and the probability of realization are

considered in estimating the allowance in eacha@@nThe scenario weights are used in the
calculation of the loss allowance.

The credit conversion factor is taken into accaaribss allowance calculation for contingent
liabilities.

In case of financial assets are measured indiviglaalfair value the expected loss calculation
uses the cash-flow scenarios.

Write-off policy

The Bank, in compliance with the stipulations ajderegulations, writes off a loan / security

balance (and any related allowances for impairmesses) when there is documented
evidence that no further recovery can be expedieis. determination is reached on the basis
of a final statement in case of liquidation or upmtablishment that after ceasing the debtor
and/or collateral provider to exist, and/or aftsmng all proceeds from collaterals there is still

unrecovered exposure remaining.

Collateral structure

The Bank applies the basic principle, whereby terds loans primarily in relation to and
based on the customer’s repayment capacity, instéadlying too much on the available
collateral. Depending on the customer’s paying cipand rating, as well as the product
type, unsecured loans may be extended only intlgtriegulated and controlled cases.
Nevertheless, collateral could mitigate the cradk.

The main collateral types are as follows:

* primarily mortgages on residential properties ia tétail sector;

» pledge on business assets, such as real estat®sasid debtors, in the commercial
and industrial sector;

* mortgages on the financed properties in the comaleral estate sector; and

* securities, guarantees,

* money, securities deposited as collateral.

The Bank establishes the coverage ratio requirednidividual exposures and makes its
decisions on the basis of the so-called collateale of the collateral items instead of their
market value. This value is adjusted by consereagéstimation, which assists the prudent
management of occurring risks, taking into consitien the relevant order of accountability
and resolution making during the action. In caseaifaterals of non-performing clients the
Bank applies so-called liquidation value, whichestablished by the revaluation of the
collateral, involving additional costs arising dwgithe forced sale in relatively short period.

Taking into account the EU and Hungarian regulaemyironment and legal practices, and
relying on its own experiences and known Hungagaperiences in the enforcement of the
collateral items, the Bank restricted, as muchassiple (within the limits of the economies of
scale) the rules of acceptability of the varioudlateral items and the calculation of the
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collateral and liquidation values assigned to th&€he regular monitoring and revaluation of
the collateral items securing the individual expesuis an important pillar in the Bank’'s
monitoring system.

The market values determined by the Bank of caliddeheld to the amount of the assets’
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting peniece as follows:

6.4

Loans and & oantees and  Letter of

advances to Undrawn credit

contingencies credit
customers

Cash deposit 9841 13 505 223 364

Debt securities issued by
Central governments - - - -

Companies 62 185 1298 - 809
Mortgage
Building (incl. plot) 168 774 14 634 6 326 17 904
cher (ship, patent, chattel, goods stocl 188 336 41539 8704 25 074
lien on assets over total assets,
Guarantees from
Central governments 177 298 40 143 13384 24 612
Other banks 20 881 12 489 - -
Companies 63 163 16 647 508 31152
Others 13 966 3116 - 4582
Total collateral 704 444 143 371 29 145 104 49

Loans and G pantees and  Letter of

advances to Undrawn credit

contingencies credit

customers
Cash deposit 22 694 10 296 59 843

Debt securities issued by

Central governments 55 - - -

Companies 59 747 411 - 829
Mortgage

Building (incl. plot) 262 346 13271 6 452 17 561

Other (ship, patent, chattel, goods stocl
lien on assets over total assets, 59211 30 109 7 295 16 702

Guarantees from

Central governments 117 241 28 766 12 758 30 489

Other banks 15019 689 - -

Companies 31 247 13254 - 25322
Others 29 288 2913 - 3856
Total collateral 596 848 99 709 26 564 95 602
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Valuation methods
The aim of collateral valuation is to conduct adbig and stable evaluation of value, taking
into consideration the fluctuation of market prices

The basis of the collateral valuation is providgdhe collateral value (reflecting the value
that can be realized on its own, independently ftioencourse of business).

Cash deposits:
In case of bails, if the type of the currency ofntoitments and collaterals is the same, the

amount of bail can be taken into account in 100%.

Securities:
The value of securities equals with the latest ssibde market value. Revaluation is done in
every sixth month.

Mortgage:
In case of real estates the calculation of theatmihl value is done on the basis of individual

evaluation of the real estate on the occasion oép#on, taking into account minimum
correction factors determined by the Bank.

The Bank applies 3 main revaluation methods:
e evaluation by experts involved in the list;
» evaluation by the Bank’s own experts involving valet information provided by the
'list’ experts;
» statistical method mostly in case of residential estates

Guarantees:

In course of definition of collateral value, thepability of non-performance of the guarantee
(depending on the quality of the guarantor), thel@aoutstanding relevant to guarantee and
the empirical value on possibility of calling inarantees are taken into considerations.

The Bank didn’t obtain any assets by taking possessf collateral held as security, or
exercising other credit enhancement options.

The management and processes of such assets datneegulated in the Bank’s Wholesale
and Retail Debt to Asset / Debt to Equity Policy.
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Concentrations

The Bank monitors and analyses the concentrati@neafit risk in term of economic activities
and risk classification.

An analysis on the gross exposures of credit rsicentration in terms of exposure types and
risk classification at the end of the reportingipes is shown below:

6.5

Loans and advances to Loans and advances - Derivative financial OFF B/S
Securities .
banks to customers ESYS exposures
Category | - without country risk 29574 10 103 175 2553 618
Category Il - with low to medium country risk 10 052 2374 1547 418 5820
Category Il - with medium to high country risk 17 173 876 242 5
Total exposure 39 643 12 650 2 598 3213 6 443

Loans and advances to Loans and advances ” Derivative financial OFF B/S
Securities »
banks to customers ESS exposures
Category | - without country risk 20930 9610 240 4007 1066
Category Il - with low to medium country risk 4205 1970 7271 1753 448
Category Il - with medium to high country risk 16 127 - 48 6
Total exposure 25151 11 707 7511 5808 1520

» Category | comprises the EMU countries
» Category Il comprises countries with Moody’s rathgA - Baa3
» Category Il comprises countries with Moody'’s rgtiBal or worse

The Bank classified the total exposure accordingh&internationally used and recognized
NACE Statistical Classifications of Economic Actigs issued by the European Commission.

The following tables show the gross amount and impent of total exposure by NACE
codes and exposure types at the end of the regqgréinods:

6.6

Gross amount

31 December 2020 Cash and cash Loans and advances to Loans and advances Securities Derivative financial OFF B/S
equivalents banks to customers asset:

Administrative and support service activities 397 - - 91
Mining and quarrying 130 - - 149
Construction 60 054 12333 4003 72 166
Manufacturing 103 392 21352 2271 73 326
Human health services and social work activities 3542 - - 1013
Information and communication 31725 8606 13 5084
Real estate activities 36 307 5638 321 8146
Public administration and defence, compulsory $eeiaurity 118 911 1091 150 4166 52729
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 15 402 1312 24 4447
Arts, entertainment and recreation 10 922 - - 11729
Wholesale and retail trade 65 792 - 453 38 968
Education 335 - 2 296
Professional, scientific and technical activities 76 188 2508 74 51 380
Accommodation and food service activities 6731 - - 1658
Transport and storage 35749 - 97 10 014
Electricity, gas, steam, air conditioning and wastepply - - 34 241 525 118 8116
Financial and insurance activities 292 860 83523 253 947 26217 9039 40 217
Other services (include private retail loans) 1357 75 291 893 4554 2681 45 730
Total exposure 294 217 83 598 1145 658 1174 195 23 262 425
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Impairme nt
31 December 2020 Cash and cash Loans and advances to Loans and advances Securities Derivative financial OFF B/S
equivalents banks to customers

Administrative and support service activities - - 34 - - -
Mining and quarrying - - 1 - - 1
Construction - - 6 865 - - 382
Manufacturing - - 6 448 53 - 529
Human health services and social work activities - - 675 - - 11
Information and communication - - 1487 14 - 106
Real estate activities - - 940 27 - 55
Public administration and defence, compulsory $seiaurity - - 173 72 - 25
Agriculture, forestry and fishing - - 164 - - 31
Arts, entertainment and recreation - - 870 - - 4
Wholesale and retail trade - - 2147 - - 207
Education - - 21 - - 3
Professional, scientific and technical activities - - 4 336 - - 106
Accommodation and food service activities - - 218 - - 22
Transport and storage - - 698 - - 126
Electricity, gas, steam, air conditioning and wastepply - - 1304 - - 22
Financial and insurance activities 34 40 1159 2 - 37
Other services (include private retail loans) - - 11 876 - - 893
Impairment 34 40 39 416 168 0 2 54

Gross amount

31 December 2019 Cash and cash Loans and advances to Loans and advances Securiies Derivative financial OFF B/S
eguivalents banks o customers assett

Administrative and support service activities - - 481 - - 101
Mining and quarrying - - 96 - - 97
Construction - - 39723 - 2775 64 016
Manufacturing - - 103 139 8340 407 61 363
Human health services and social work activities - - 3746 - - 487
Information and communication - - 33 267 11 13 3786
Real estate activities - - 21623 - 73 5007
Public administration and defence, compulsory $eeiaurity - - 73824 559 895 3928 38871
Agriculture, forestry and fishing - - 15 075 - 7 4544
Arts, entertainment and recreation - - 1633 - 5 11798
Wholesale and retail trade - - 62 782 - 391 33947
Education - - 360 - 1 374
Professional, scientific and technical activities - - 54 264 1317 16 41877
Accommodation and food service activities - - 4416 - - 2078
Transport and storage - - 35148 - 64 7881
Electricity, gas, steam, air conditioning and wastepply - - 24 969 26 146 12 602
Financial and insurance activities 55 385 62 335 217728 31387 7554 43111
Other services (include private retail loans) 3 7 271882 - 2813 33957
Total exposure 55 388 62 412 964 156 600 976 18 193 365

Impairme nt

31 December Cash and cash Loans and advances to Loans and advances Saauiins Derivative financial OFF B/S
equivalents banks

Administrative and support service activities - - 36 - - -
Mining and quarrying - - 1 - - -
Construction - - 5613 - - 481
Manufacturing - - 11 346 51 - 289
Human heatth services and social work activities - - 1118 - - 1
Information and communication - - 1600 - - 72
Real estate activities - - 350 - - 10
Public administration and defence, compulsory $eeiaurity - - 283 27 - 9
Agricutture, forestry and fishing - - 283 - - 15
Arts, entertainment and recreation - - 59 - - 3
Wholesale and retail trade - - 2137 - - 118
Education - - 22 - - 4
Professional, scientific and technical activities - - 3405 - - 73
Accommodation and food service activities - - 206 - - 4
Transport and storage - - 526 - - 16
Electricity, gas, steam, air conditioning and wastepply - - 999 - - 5
Financial and insurance activities - 20 919 4 - 29
Other services (include private retail loans) - - 11 315 - - 951
Impairme nt - 20 40 218 82 - 20

d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank's cashvitbo may not be adequate to fund operations
and meet commitments on a timely and cost-effediags. This risk arises from mismatches
in the timing of cash flows.

Management of liquidity risk

The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is towras as far as possible, that it will always

have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities hen due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable lossessking damage to the MKB'’s reputation.
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The daily liquidity position is monitored and reguliquidity stress testing is conducted under
a variety of scenarios covering both normal andersmvere market conditions. All liquidity
policies and procedures are subject to approvahéyBoard of Directors following the prior
review and approval by the Asset-Liability Managem@ommittee (hereinafter: “ALCQO”).

Contractual maturity of liabilities

6.7

Carrying Gross nominal upto 1 1 monthto 3 3 monthstol 1yearto5 5 years and

amount inflow/(outflow) month months year YCES over

Non-derivative liabilities

Amounts due to other banks (574 825) (592 138) (19 592) (4 527) (33885) (407 017) (127 117)
Deposits and current accounts (1877454) (1878336) (1660 014) (144 315) (71 217) (2 790) -

Issued debt securities (2343) (2 344) - - (1176) (1 149) (19)
Subordinated debt (44 724) (50 310) (922) - (1397) (47 713) (278)

(2 499 346) (2523128) (1680528)  (148842) (107 675) (458 669) (127 414)

Derivative financial liabilities

Trading: outflow (220 019) (50 442) (20 837) (63207)  (41461)  (44072)
Trading: inflow 198 557 45 819 17 716 55 107 32824 47 091
(35 406) (21 462) (4 623) (3121) (8100)  (8637) 3019

Loan commitments (274 877) (24 097) (21 438) (59453)  (85625) (84 264)

Carrying Gross nominal upto 1 1 monthto3 3 monthstol 1yearto5 5 years and

amount inflow/(outflow) month months year VCES over

Non-derivative liabilities

Amounts due to other banks (195 683) (202 207) (7 666) (6 831) (19 709) (82 838) (85 163)
Deposits and current accounts (1237 260) (1238049) (1140435) (31 278) (43 399) (22 937) -
Issued debt securities (1331) (1331) - - (930) (401) -
Subordinated debt (39 381) (45 702) (763) - (1 264) (33 151) (10 524)
(1 473 655) (1 487 289) (1 148 864) (38 109) (65302) (139327) (95 687)

Derivative financial liabilities

Trading: outflow (368554) (105 162) (119 318) (83017)  (39289)  (21768)
Trading: inflow 320 966 99 565 103 699 46 651 46 960 24 091
(44 263) (47 588) (5 597) (15 619) (36 366) 7671 2323

Loan commitments (242 662) (19 610) (9 861) (87610)  (54577)  (71004)

The above table shows the undiscounted contracasth flows of the Bank’s financial
liabilities and loan commitments based on theirliestr possible date of maturity. The
disclosure for derivatives shows the gross inflavd autflow amount for derivatives (e.g.,
forward exchange contracts and currency swaps).

The Bank’s expected cash flows on these instrumamissignificantly from this analysis. For

example, demand deposits from customers are expéctenaintain a stable or increasing
balance; and loan commitments are not all expetttdge drawn down immediately. Due to
the significant difference between the expectedthadtontractual cash flows, the Bank’s risk
management department use both analyses to madqaigity risk.
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The expected, undiscounted cash flows of the Bdimémcial liabilities were as follows:
Expected maturity of liabilities

6.8

Carrying Gross nominal upto 1 1 monthto 3 3 monthstol 1yearto5 5 years and

amount inflow/(outflow) month months year WCES over

Non-derivative liabilities

Amounts due to other banks (574 825) (592 138) (19 592) (4 527) (33885)  (407017) (127 117)
Deposits and current accounts (1877 454) (1878336) (108 441) (14 630) (5544) (257) (1749 464)
Issued debt securities (2 343) (2344) - (1176) (1 149) (19)
Subordinated debt (44 724) (50 310) (922) - (1397) (47 713) (278)

(2 499 346) (2523 128) (128 955) (19 157) (42 002) (456 136) (1876 878)

Derivative financial liabilities
Trading: outflow (220 019) (50 442) (20 837) (63 207) (41 461) (44 072)
Trading: inflow 198 557 45 819 17 716 55 107 32824 47 091

(35 406) (21 462) (4 623) (3121) (8 100) (8 637) 3019

Loan commitments (54 518) (17 586) (36 932)

Carrying Gross nominal upto 1 1 monthto3 3 monthstol 1yearto5 5 years and

amount inflow/(outflow) month months year VCES over

Non-derivative liabilities

Amounts due to other banks (195 683) (202 207) (7 666) (6 831) (19 709) (82 838) (85 163)
Deposits and current accounts (1237 260) (1238 049) (68 375) (2 445) (2578) (1184) (1163 467)
Issued debt securities (1331) (1331) - (930) (401)
Subordinated debt (39 381) (45 702) (763) - (1264) (33151) (10 524)
(1 473 655) (1487 289) (76 804) (9 276) (24 481) (117 574) (1 259 154)

Derivative financial liabilities

Trading: outflow (368554) (105 162) (119 318) (83017) (39 289) (21 768)
Trading: inflow 320 966 99 565 103 699 46 651 46 960 24 091
(44 263) (47 588) (5 597) (15 619) (36 366) 7671 2323

Loan commitments (53 559) (17 574) (35 148) (837)

The decision of the Management of the Bank, howedsealso based on the liquidity gap (net
position) between contractual expected in- andl@uf, therefore both financial assets and
liabilities are grouped into liquidity buckets.

The following table shows the gross amounts ofrfanal current and non-current assets:

6.9
2020 2019
Uptolyear Overlyear Uptolyear Overlyear
Loans and advances to banks 62 599 20 999 55 648 6 764
measured at AC 62 599 20 999 55 648 6 764
Loans and advances to customers 80 653 1 065 007 86 187 877 969
measured at AC 80 653 1 064 069 86 187 876 646
measured at FVTPL - 938 - 1323
Derivative financial assets 10 358 12 904 2 507 15 686
Securities 8 309 1165 886 5571 595 405
measured at AC - 550 106 - 286 469
measured at FVTPL 6 300 10 622 842 4 058
measured at FVTOCI 2 009 605 158 4729 304 878

The table above represents the gross amounts egpcbe recovered or settled within time
categories. Impairment on loans and advances toroess has an amount of HUF 39,416
million (2019: HUF 40,218 million).
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e) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market ggicsuch as interest rate (interest rate risk),
equity prices (equity risk), and foreign exchangtes (foreign exchange risk) will affect the
Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of fio&h instruments.

Management of market risks

As part of the Risk strategy, the Board of Direstapproves the maximum amount and scope
of market risks incurable by the Bank, ensured byomprehensive limit structure broken
down by relevant portfolios. The main market rigkit is arising from the annual capital
allocation process based on ICAAP requirements.

ALCO is responsible for developing and monitorifige tBank’'s market risk management
policies. ALCO has the overall responsibility fosta&blishing and managing market risk
policies for the Bank, within the framework of intal policies, covering risk management,
assessment of risk and related limits, competemzk decision-making mechanism, and
regulation for breaches of limits, approved by Bward of Directors. The members of the
ALCO are senior executives who have principal denisnaking responsibilities for
businesses throughout the whole Bank. At the ojpsatlevel, market risk is managed by the
Money and Capital Markets Managing Directorate draak-wide basis.

The objective of market risk management is to manaigd control market risk exposures
within acceptable parameters, while optimizingridteirn on risk.

The Bank separates its exposure to market riskdeiwrading and non-trading portfolios.

Trading portfolios include those positions arising from market-makiogstomer business
driven proprietary position-taking and other markedanarket positions as designated.
According to the risk strategy of the Bank therens own account activity (proprietary
trading) with the purpose of short term profit Bngsfrom market changes. Trading activities
include transactions with debt and equity secwtiforeign currencies, and derivative
financial instruments.

Non-trading portfolios include positions that arise from the Bank’s fetaid commercial
banking activity and the interest rate managemdnthe Bank’'s retail and commercial
banking assets and liabilities. The Bank's nonhtigaéctivities encompass all activities other
than accounted for as trading transactions, inofydending, accepting deposits, and issuing
debt instruments.

Exposure to market risks — trading portfolios

The Bank manages exposure to market risk by eshkadj and monitoring various limits on
trading activities. These limits include:

e Product volume limits define maximum aggregate am®wf trading products and
contracts that the Bank may hold at any time.

* FX position limits restrict the long and short pisi for each currency and the total
net amounts of FX positions that can be held inthging and banking books.

* VaR limits: The VaR limit of a trading portfolio ke estimated maximum loss that
will arise on the portfolio over a specified periotitime (holding period) from an
adverse market movement with a specified probgl{itionfidence level). MKB Bank
applies historical and parametric VaR method witda¥ holding period at 99%
confidence level.
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PLA (Potential Loss Amounts) limits define maximamount of loss that the Bank is
willing to assume.

The VaR model used is based mainly on historict.dBaking account of market data from
the previous one year (250 business days in calistofical VaR and and 187 business days
in case of parametric VaR), and observed relatipsshetween different markets and prices,
the model calculates both diversified and undifieditotal VaR, and VaR by risk factors
such as interest rate, equity and currency VaR.

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring kedrrisk, the assumptions on which the
model is based do give rise to some limitationguiting the following:

A 1-day holding period assumes that it is possibldedge or dispose of positions
within that period. This is considered to be aistial assumption in almost all cases
but may not be the case in situations in whichahsrsevere market illiquidity for a
prolonged period.

A 99% confidence level does not reflect losses tieay occur beyond this level. Even
within the model used there is a one percent prbtyathat losses could exceed the
VaR.

VaR is calculated on an end-of-day basis and doeeeflect exposures that may arise
on positions during the trading day.

VAR only covers “normal” market conditions.

The VaR measure is dependent upon the Bank’s posind the volatility of market
prices. The VaR of an unchanged position reducethaf market price volatility
declines and vice versa.

The overall structure of VaR limits is subject &view and approval by ALCO. VaR limits
are allocated to trading portfolios. VaR is meaduom a daily basis. Daily reports of

utilisation of VaR limits are prepared by the BanRisk Unit and regular summaries are
submitted to ALCO.
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A summary of the VaR position of the Bank’s tradpatfolios (i.e. only its trading book) as
at 31 December and during the period is as follows:

6.10

2020 Average Maximum Mlnlmum Stress (15%)
Foreign currency risk 142 131
Interest rate risk 105 279 17 -
Equity risk

Overall market risk of trading book

Credit spread risk of trading book

2019 Average MaX|mum Mlnlmum Stress (15%)
Foreign currency risk 95
Interest rate risk 46 112 14 -
Equity risk 2 3 1 -
Overall market risk of trading book 59 171 16 95
Credit spread risk of trading book 60 150 17 -

Important notes in connection with the table above:

* MKB applies historical and parametric VaR for geth@narket risk:
o0 Historical VaR: (1 day holding period; 99% confiden level, number of
observation: 250 business days)
o Parametric VaR: Risk metrics methodology (1 daydimg period; 99%
confidence level, 0.94 decay factor, number of nlzg®n: 187 business days)
* MKB calculates specific interest rate risk (crexpread risk) separately from general
interest rate risk based on the swap and bond giglk spread.
» Bank calculates VaR only on trading-book position.
* There is no commaodity in MKB position.
» MKB does not have a significant open position froptions therefore there is no
volatility VaR calculation.

A potential adverse 15% change in the FX rates (lpireciation for long position and HUF
depreciation for short position) would cause HUR t8llion losses based on the year-end FX
open position.

Exposure to interest rate risk — non-trading portios

The principal risk to which non-trading portfoliGae exposed is the risk of loss from
fluctuations in the future cash flows of financiabtrument because of a change in market
interest rates.

The management of interest rate risk is supplerdebye monitoring the sensitivity of the
financial assets and liabilities to various staddand non-standard interest rate scenarios.
Standard scenarios that are considered on a moodsig include a 200 basis point parallel
fall or rise in all yield curves worldwide.
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ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with apped limits and is assisted by Risk
Controlling in its monitoring activities. A summaoyf the Bank’s interest rate gap position on
non-trading portfolios is as follows:

At the end of the reporting period the intereskerptofile of the Bank’s interest-bearing
financial instruments was:

6.11

As at 31 December 2020

Fixed rate instruments Gross amount
Financial assets 1183 220
Financial liabilities (933 020)

Net fixed rate instruments 250 200

Denominated in

Variable rate instruments

HUF EUR Other currencies
Financial assets 950 576 1850 254 414 9887 3504
Financial liabilties 1172 498 4082 71 875 6 529)

Net variable rate instruments (221 922) (2 232) (56 928) (61 988) (3 025

As at 31 December 2019

Fixed rate instruments Gross amount

Financial assets 698 132
Financial liabilities (331 467)

Net fixed rate instruments 366 665

Denominated in

Variable rate instruments

EUR Other currencies
Financial assets 718 166 1083 204 795 3068 2300
Financial liabilties 819 717 4178 244 900 68 296 5 097)
Net variable rate instruments (101 551) (3 095) (40 105) (65 228) 279

According to the annual review, MKB revised itseirgst rate risk modelling of sight deposits
in 2020. According to the results mainly the estedalevel of core deposits has changed in
the risk modelling of sight deposits. The estimd&e| of core deposits has increased in case
of HUF and EUR currencies both in retail and whalesbusiness units. In case of USD
currency the estimated level of core deposits haseased in retail and has decreased in
wholesale business units. The Bank has implemehegd the core deposits are divided into
monthly equal amounts during the predicted penockise of HUF, EUR and USD currencies.
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An analysis of the Bank’s sensitivity to an incre&as decrease in market interest rates is as

follows:
6.12
2020 Effect on equity Effect on P/L

HUF

200 bp increase (18 479) 2701

200 bp decrease 30 077 (1183)
CHF

200 bp increase - (30)

200 bp decrease - (20)
EUR

200 bp increase 5549 382

200 bp decrease (943) 1253
usbD

200 bp increase (546) a7

200 bp decrease 299 (358)
Other currencies

200 bp increase 9 24

200 bp decrease @) (32)

2020

in HUF millions

FCY Yield curve stress Yield curve stress Adverse case
+ 200 Bp - 200 Bp

EUR 5549 (943) (943)
uUsD (546) 299 (546)
CHF - - -
GBP 1 (0] @
JPY - - -
Others (18 472) 30 071 (18 485)
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PAONKS) Effect on equity Effect on P/L

HUF

200 bp increase (22 090) (2 681)

200 bp decrease 26 214 (6 085)
CHF

200 bp increase 4 (29)

200 bp decrease - (20)
EUR

200 bp increase 7 833 690

200 bp decrease 9 (1035)
UsD

200 bp increase 2 086 389

200 bp decrease (1819 (1 089)
Other currencies

200 bp increase (11) 91

200 bp decrease 10 (74)

2019

in HUF millions

FCY Yield curve stress Yield curve stress Adverse case
+ 200 Bp - 200 Bp

EUR 7 833 9 9
usD 2 086 (1 819) (1819
CHF 4 - -
GBP 1 @ @
JPY - - -
Others (22 102) 26 225 (22 102)

Total (12 178) 24 396 (23 93

The amount of change, during the period and cuimelgt in the fair value of the financial
liabilities designated as at fair value throughfipiar loss, that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liabilities are the followings:

6.13

Effect of credit risk changes of liabilities measued at Fair

Value Through Profit or Loss

Changes during the reporting period - (134)

Changes cumulatively (since designation of thenfife liabilities’ - 134
Difference between the financial liability's cangiamount and the
amount contractually required to pay at mat -

The amount which reflects on changes in market itiong for these liabilities as changes in
interest rate is estimated as follows:
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» First, computing the liability’s internal rate afturn at the start of the period using the
observed market price of the liability and the iliyds contractual cash flows at the
start of the period. It deducts from this rate eturn the observed (base rate of the
relevant market) interest rate at the start of gbdod, to arrive at an instrument-
specific component of the internal rate of return.

* Next, calculating the present value of the casidlassociated with the liability using
the liability’s contractual cash flows at the erfdle period and a discount rate equal
to the sum of
0 the observed (base rate of the relevant market)ast rate at the end of the period

and
o0 the instrument-specific component of the interraak rof return as determined in
the first point.

» The difference between the observed market pricthefliability at the end of the
period and the amount determined in the second ®the change in fair value that
is not attributable to changes in the observede(lbat® in the relevant market) interest
rate.

Exposure to other market risks — non-trading portites

The Bank is exposed to foreign exchange risk thmoitgy holdings of financial instruments
denominated in foreign currencies. Exchange riskagament aims to reduce the adverse
impact of potential changes in the market valudooéign currency financial instruments
induced by exchange rate fluctuations.

The Bank’s financial position in foreign currencegsthe end of the reporting periods was as

follows:
6.14
In functional In foreign currencies _
) otal
currencies usbD EUR CHF Other
Net assets 2 386 691 46 656 341 599 2108 15582 2792636
Net liabiities 2266 128 84587 424292 5 496 12133 2792636
Net derivative and spot instruments (short) / Ipogition (121139) 37884 83282 3432 (3 459)
Total net currency positions (576) 47) 589 44 (20)
In functional In foreign currencies
currencies uUsD EUR CHF Other
Net assets 1 455 308 13508 299 541 928 3171 1772456
Net liabiities 1304 748 87863 366 680 5643 7522 1772456
Net derivative and spot instruments (short) / Ipogition (150 152) 74 369 67 215 4715 3853
Total net currency positions 408 14 76 - (498)
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f) Encumbered assets

Encumbered assets according to 680/2014/EU Conuonideiplementing Regulation at the
end of the periods were the following:

6.15
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Assets of the reporting institution

Loans on demand 113 113 244 244
Debt securities 495 488 492 153 163 343 153 240
Loans and advances other than loans on demand 0z2 22 132 220 100 154 -

Total encumbered assets 627 821 624 491 263 746

6.16
Non-encumbered
Fair value of collateral Nominal value of collateral
received or own debt received or own debt securitie
securities issued available issued non available for
for encumbrance encumbrance

31 December 2020

Collateral received by the reporting institution

Loans on demand 4291 -
Loans and advances other than loans on demand 83 830 -
Other collateral received - 347 €73

Collateral received and own debt securities issued

31 December 2019

Collateral received by the reporting institution

Loans on demand 648 -
Loans and advances other than loans on demand 31245 -
Other collateral received - 251 036

Collateral received and own debt securities issued 2510

6.17

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Matching Assets, collateral received Matching Assets, collateral received
liabilities, and own liabilities, and own
contingent debt securities issued other contingent debt securities issued othe
liabilities or than covered bonds and ABS liabilities or than covered bonds and ABS|
securities lent encumbered securities lent encumbered

Carrying amount of selected financial liabilities

188 727 627 82 93 34¢ 263 74¢
Derivatives 19 835 48 497 11 442 57 515
Deposits 168 892 579 324 81903 206 231
Repurchase agreements 2732 - - -
Collateralised deposits other than repurchase agnets 166 160 579 324 81903 206 231

188 727 627 821

Total Sources of encumbrance

At the end of 2020 the level of encumbered asseterohined in accordance with the
aforementioned regulation was 21.79%. The totaBafk’'s encumbered assets belonged to
MKB Bank. The main sources and types of encumbravere arising from having corporate
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loans covered by NBH, secured refinancing, fromlatefals of mortgage loans, money
market deposits as well as collateralized derigativansactions and repo transactions,
furthermore the Bank took the opportunity to borromconditional fixed-ratesecured loan
granted by NBH. Encumbrance due to collateral memoent of used clearing systems and
central counterparties was not significant. MKB didt have covered bonds issued or
securitization.

The most significant secured refinancing facilitsre participating in the “Funding for
Growth Scheme” refinancing loan program of the NBFhe majority of collateralized
derivative transactions were concluded to hedgeatence sheet FX position and interest rate.

g) Credit spread risk

Credit spread risk is the risk of changing mark&tgpof the bonds due to change in spread of
bonds’ issuer which may have negative impact orBtinak’s performance.

Managing and monitoring credit spread risk

The framework of credit spread risk managemenefsdd in the risk strategy. According to
this risk strategy credit spread risk may be takaty within the approved limits. Credit
spread risk is managed on operative level by thendyioand Capital Market Managing
Directorate. Bank’s Risk Unit is responsible foramering credit spread risk, controlling limit
utilisations and reporting it to ALCO.

Risk measurement

Similar to the general interest rate risk measurgrtiee Bank establishes the credit spread risk
figures based on the present value of future dastsf

The applied credit spread stress test values a&igserkregularly, but at least semi-annually.
The length of liquidation periods used for the oldtions are matched to the required
liquidation time of the products.

h) Operational risks

Operational risk means the risk of loss resultirgnf inadequate or failed internal processes,
people and systems or from external events, ariddes legal risk, conduct risk, reputational
risk, modelling risk and information and communicattechnology (ICT) risk. Operational
risk does not include business and strategic risks.

Procedure

The principles, rules and procedures that serveroperly identify, manage and monitor
operational risk are defined in the Risk Strategy i the OpRisk policy.

Risk measurement

The operational risk capital requirement of MKB Rais calculated by using The
Standardised Approach (TSA) both at single and mréavel since January 1st 2008.
According to the Standardised Approach the operatigisk capital requirement is the
average of the preceding three years’ total of wieeghted governing indicators of the
business lines (gross income).
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Risk management and monitoring

The system that serves to evaluate operationalisiskilly integrated in the Bank’s risk
management process and in the work processes.

The centralised unit of the Bank’s operational nsknagement is the Centralised OpRisk
Management that is responsible for the establishnagrd maintenance of the internal
regulation and organisation of operational risk ag@ment and for the establishment and
coordination of the oprisk management methods aold.tBesides, its task is to ensure proper
loss data collection and in connection with thatréporting obligations.

Besides the Centralised OpRisk Management, DedizetlaOpRisk Units (extended to the

whole organisation) were established that identdéport and manage operational risks and
their tasks and responsibilities are included & dbrisk regulations. The Centralised OpRisk
Management keeps independent control over the Datised OpRisk Managers that are
assigned in the various units and responsible fanaging operational risk and reporting of
loss events.

At group level the Centralised OpRisk Managementi&B determines the operational risk
regulations required from the subsidiaries, and dle framework for operational risk
management at group level and in this respect sigasr the subsidiaries as well. The
centralised and decentralised operational risk gamant units have also been established in
the subsidiaries that have loss data collectionrapdrting obligation towards the Centralised
OpRisk Management of MKB.

The Oprisk Forum started its operation in 2016, n&tthe most significant oprisk events and
the relevance and necessity of setting up riskaieduaction plans are discussed on quarterly
basis.

The Centralised OpRisk Management of MKB preparespart on the current status of the
operational risk management of the Bank and ofthsidiaries for the Board of Directors on
a quarterly basis. The Bank fulfils oprisk CORERad#elivery to NBH on half-yearly basis.

Risk management methods and tools

Loss data collection
MKB Bank has been performing operational risk lasda collection continuously which
includes the electronic reporting and managingparational risk loss events.

OpRisk Self-Assessment — ORSA

The Bank performs the oprisk self-assessment upitubit, in order to recognise and
understand the operational risks related to th&kywoscesses and to increase the level of risk-
awareness of the units.

Key Risk Indicators - KRIs

The key risk indicators are those performancefriglos that are suitable for revealing areas
and factors critical for operational risk, the cparof value of which indicates the change of
factors important from the point of view of riskangrence. By defining and monitoring the
values of the suitable indicators the Bank intetadiselp forecasting, preventing and reducing
operational risks.

Scenario analysis
Scenario analysis is an expert estimation basatieanalysis of current internal processes in
order to estimate the frequency and loss effecarf but significant oprisk events.
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The Bank performs scenario analysis on yearly basis

Model list

The model list contains all models on departmewell®eing used in the Bank and describes
their goals. It also contains the frequency ofrtimegintenance and validations as well as the
way in which their results are used.

Product list

The Bank has established the product list, whiaftains the most important product groups
in order to identify conduct risk related to custmservice. It contains the general
characteristics of the products as well as the edndsk factors. By exploring risks, it is

possible to reduce or consciously accept them.

Business Continuity Planning

In order to undisturbedly maintain the Bank’s opiereal processes it is necessary to evaluate
the potential threats of the certain processes, pinebability of occurrence and the potential
damages resulting from the fallout of the proces3éss risk analysis and the procedures
needed to maintain the functionality of the Ban&tganisation is included in the Business
Continuity Plan and the Disaster Recovery Plan (BXE#P). The BCP-DRP includes
measures that have to be taken when the procdsaesre critical regarding the Bank’s
operation and (eg. IT) resources that support thEseesses get damaged or become
unmaintainable.

Membership of the Hungarian Interbank Operationalisk Database (HUnOR)

The Bank is one of the foundation members of thagaran Interbank Operational Risk
Database (HunOR) and reports their loss data taragllarly and anonymously.

1) Capital management

The Bank’s lead regulator, the NBH sets and mositapital requirements for the Bank as a
whole.

Capital allocation

The Bank measures the pillar 1 and pillar 2 risksl dhe Bank's Asset and Liability
Management Committee (ALCO) monitors the resulisgua monthly reporting framework.

Basel I
The calculations are Basel [IlI/CRR (575/2013/EUutagon) compliant.

The supervisory objectives of Basel Il are to povensafety and soundness in the financial
system and maintain at least the current overakll®f capital in the system, enhance
competitive equality, constitute a more comprehanapproach to addressing risks, and focus
on internationally active banks. Basel Il is stured around three ‘pillars’: minimum capital
requirements, supervisory review process and matiseipline. The Capital Requirements
Regulation (CRR) is directly effective in Hungary.

Basel Il provides three approaches of increasuoyghistication to the calculation of pillar 1

credit risk capital requirements. The Bank uses dtamdardised approach, which requires
banks to use external credit ratings to determime tisk weightings applied to rated
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counterparties, and groups other counterpartieshrdad categories and applies standardised
risk weightings to these categories.

Basel 1l also introduces capital requirements dperational. For the capital requirement
calculation the Bank currently has adopted thedstatized approach to the determination of
Bank operational risk capital requirements.

The second pillar of Basel Il (Supervisory Reviend Evaluation Process - SREP) involves
both the Bank and the Supervisory regulators takingew on whether a Bank should hold
additional capital and how much against risks rteced or not entirely covered in pillar 1.
In framework of the pillar 2 Internal Capital Adempy Assessment Process (ICAAP) the Bank
introduced policies and processes for measuringatapquirement of risks not captured by
pillar 1 and to measure pillar 1 risks with morglsisticated methodology. Under pillar 2 the
materiality of the following risks is to be analgse

* Creditrisk

* Market risk

» Liquidity risk

» Risk estate risk and risk derived from other assets

» Participation risk

» Operational risk

* Modell risk

» Business and strategic risk

Pillar 3 of Basel Il is related to market discigi and aims to make firms more transparent by
requiring them to publish specific, prescribed detaf their risks, capital and risk
management under the Basel Il framework.

The capital requirement is limited by a complexifisystem, which contains the limits of the
material risk types by institutions and businesedi
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6.18

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Basel lll IFRS Basel lll IFRS

Share capital 100 000 100 000
Outstanding share capital 100 000 100 000
Reserves 100 624 92 103
Deferred tax (6 707) (7 718)
Intangible assets (24 478) (21 043)
AVA - additional valuation adjustments (634) (378)
Additional Tier 1 -
Tier 1: Net core capital 168 755 162 964
Subordinated debt 39 165 36 222
Tier 2: Supple mentary capital 39 165 36 222
Regulatory capital 207 920 199 184
Risk-weighted assets (RWA) 733 418 601 486
Operational risk (OR) 154 528 171 889
Market risk positions (MR) 11 770 8 590
Total risk weighted assets 899 716 781 965
Regulatory capital / Total assets 7.44% 11.24%
Tierl ratio 18.76% 20.84%
Capital ade quacy ratio 23.11% 25.47%

The table above contains the MKB Bank’s separgté@aleadequacy ratio.

As at 31 December 2020, as an actual figure oBdwek regulatory capital was HUF 207.9
billion based on Basel Il IFRS under SupervisorggRlation. The increase of regulatory
capital — by HUF 8.7 billion — is derived from tiecrease of profit and subordinated debt
(repurchase in the amount of EUR 48.1 million ard issuance in the amount of EUR 51.3
million, as a result decrease of unused subordindébt due to the maturity date), decrease of
deduction of ESOP program and deferred tax andedserof negative revaluation reserve,
which was compensated by the increase of deducticintangible assets and increase of
negative AVA.

Risk-weighted assets including operational and etanisk increased by 15.1% from

HUF 782 billion in 2019 to HUF 899.7 billion besglapproximately 10.5% weakening of

domestic currency. The main part of the increasevel® from the increase of business

volumes and increase of market risk, which was @repted by the decrease of operational
risk.

By application of capital management as a tool,cgital is a first priority decision making
factor; therefore the Bank monitors the changeb@tapital elements continuously.
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Planning and limitation of capital requirements

The owner of MKB with strong capital background tidutes to its safety, promotes
customer confidence, and helps the Bank to martagaegative effects on its profitability
which come from macroeconomic turbulences.

j) Forborne assets

During the normal course of business, the Bankrenit¢o forbearance measures to decrease
the potential loan loss and maximize collection apmities for the borrowers who have
problems with their payment ability but not witrethwillingness and capacity to pay.

Restructured exposures are renegotiated, reschietui@onged) or otherwise revised loans,
receivables and credits (including also purchassesporiginated in the framework of an
amendment or termination of a previously concludetract, initiated either by the borrower
or the Bank, where
» the contract is amended in order to avoid defaettabnse the borrower is unable to
fulfill its payment obligations in compliance witthe conditions of the original
contract due to significant deterioration in itedncial position or payment ability,
and
+ the amendments significantly change the originams$e and conditions of the
outstanding contract largely in favor of the boresyas compared to the market terms
and conditions generally applicable to contractthefsame type and concluded under
the same conditions, or
* a supplementary agreement or a new contract iduet between the borrower and
the Bank that relates to a new loan provided fer rpayment of the outstanding
debts (principal and/or interest) arising frone tbriginal contract that is not
terminated, or to any further commitment assumeavtid any increase in the credit
risks and to mitigate the possible loss.

Under its forbearance policies, the Bank granta foabearance on a selective basis where the
borrower is in default on its debt, or there isghtrisk of future default, and there is evidence
that the borrower made all reasonable efforts oyvader the original contractual terms, and
it is expected that the borrower will be able toeinthe revised terms. Both corporate and
retail loans are subject to forbearance policié® Bank generally applies the following types
of forbearance measures:

e extension of the tenor / final maturity of the lpan

* renegotiation of original repayment schedule, redale instalments,

* agreement on instalment payment,

» reduction of the collateral coverage parallel rédgexposure,

» refinancing of the loan,

* interest rate cut, or lower conditions,

* interest capitalization.

Such exposures and associated credit risks aregednmonitored and reported distinctly by

specific restructuring and debt management unith®fBank on the basis of guidelines and
procedure rules set by internal regulations incapog also both legal and supervisory

requirements and recommendations. When the conditibforbearance cease to exist and the
following cure period expires, respective asse¢sraturned to normal treatments both from

business and risk management perspectives.

To revert to normal treatment regarding corporatstamers, additional criteria is that the

customer performs its amended contractual obligatiuly through a specified period (180
days or 360 days) and its risk position shows §iarit improvement.
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Forborne assets are recorded separately, and #redaohterms and conditions of the contract
are also indicated in the accounting records. Ratiog, derecognition and subsequent
valuation of these assets are carried out accortinthe general rules of accounting as
specified by the relevant IFRSs.

The detailed requirements of risk classificationd ampairment valuation of forborne
exposures are included in the accounting policees] other internal regulations on the
valuation of assets and liabilities, as well agripairment and provisioning policies. Based on
these internal guidelines, forbearance measureslameys regarded as impairment triggers
and, as a consequence, individual impairment assegsshould be performed for such
exposures where the general methodologies andgeamf assessment are to be applied. On
the results of such risk assessments, impairmesetoand the reversals of previously charged
impairments are accounted for according to the comrales defined by IFRS 9.

Comparing to the previous financial year there werehanges in forbearance policies and in
practices applied by the Bank. The forbearancentdiein will change due to the law change to
implement in January, 2021. That change would heffect on the definition of place of
treatment (Unit). Before the decision making, ibidigatory to examine and define the effect
of proposed construction, forborne contract onNR/ (net present value) in all the cases of
clients to forborne, treated by Business Units.

It is important to emphasize, that the moratoriimkdd to pandemic practically postpones the
possibility and the realisation of the restructgrooncerning the relevant loans to restructure
(ceteris paribus the extension of the loans’ exgage) in time to 2021 H2 minimum on the
basis of the regulation, because a big part othents , applied” for the moratorium.

6.19

31 December 2020 31 December 20

Corporate Banking

Forborn financial assets 10 712 2520
Allowances for impairment (8 726) (1 998)
Carrying amount 1986 522

Retail and Private Banking

Forborn financial assets 8 463 9 467
Allowances for impairment (3 405) (3912
Carrying amount 5058 5 555
Total carrying amount 7 044 6 07
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7.

Cash and cash equivalents

\l

A

31 December 2020 31 December 20
Cash and balances with Central Banks 294 183 55 388

Cash and cash equivalents 294 183 55 384§

The Bank is required to maintain a minimum resewite the NBH equivalent to 1% (2019:
1%) of certain deposits. The balance of the mininmagerve, in line with the prescription of
NBH, is based on the balance at the end of Octofottrese deposit accounts and amounted to
HUF 15,583 million as at 31 December 2020 (2019FH13,832 million). As at 31 December
2020, cash on hand amounted to HUF 22,646 milk®19: HUF 13,397 million).

Loans and advances to banks

8.1

31 December 2020 31 December 201
Current and clearing accounts 17 518 6 843
Money market placements 46 021 50 361
Loans and advances 20 059 5208

Loans and advances to banks (gross amount) 83 598 62 41

|I

Allowance for impairment at the end of period (40) (20

Carrying amount 83 558 62 39

Derivative financial assets

[(e]

A

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Fair value Fair value Book
adjustment adjustment value

Derivative instruments by type

FX-based derivative instruments - 11677 11677 - 4248 4248

Interest-based derivative instruments - 11 168 11 168 - 13 446 13 446

Options 229 188 417 104 395 499
Derivative financial assets 229 23033 23 262 104 18 089 18 19
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10.

Securities

10.1
31 December 2020 31 December 20

Securities measured at FVTOCI

Hungarian Government bonds 572 959 295511
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 34 208 6 827
Foreign Government bonds - 5953
Foreign equities - 1317
Less allowance for impairment (273) (79)

Securities measured at AC

Hungarian Government bonds 491 125 235990
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 58 981 50478
Less allowance for impairment (168) (82

Securities measured at FVTPL

Government Treasury bills 96 24
Government bonds 10 377 4189
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 245 603
Hungarian equities 103 84
Foreign equities 1547 -
Investment fund shares 4554 -
Securities 1174 027 600 89

The amount of impairment of the FVTOCI financiakets, which is accounted for between
other comprehensive income reserve and profitss,ldoes not decrease the carrying amount
of the financial assets.

The amount of debt securities measured at FVTOG! MidF 607,167 million at the end of
the reporting period. The Bank did not have eqingtruments measured at FVTOCI on 31
December 2020.

The revaluation on financial assets measured at®¥Thas changed to HUF 3,187 million
from HUF (3,281) million. The effect on deferred ia disclosed in Note 30.

At 31 December 2020, HUF 495,488 million (2019: HWE3,348 million) from the total
amount of Securities were pledged as collateralstock exchange, for NBH related to
Funding for Growth Scheme and credit card transastin the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2020 the total amount of revanateserve comprises HUF (3,560)
million (2019: HUF (6,74 7)million).

In 2020, HUF 5,462 million gain (2019: HUF 23,299llion gain) was recognized in the
profit or loss relating to securities measured\At ©Cl, which is a reclassification from other
comprehensive income into profit or loss.

Related to debt securities measured at amortisetl HOF 6,706 million interest income

(2019: HUF 13,413 million) was recognized in that8ment of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income during the year.
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11. Loans and advances to customers

The net amount of Loans and advances to customassHMF 1,106,242 million, of which
HUF 1,105,304 million was measured at amortised and HUF 938 million at fair value.
The amount of fair value customer loans belongmthe wholesale portfolio was HUF 275
million, while the amount of retail loans was HU&3million on 31 December 2020.

11.1

31 December 2020 31 December 201

Loans and advances to customers

measured at AC 1105 304 922 615
measured at FVTPL 938 1323
Loans and advances to customers 1106 242 923 934

Loans and advances to customers measured at asdartist:

11.2

Allowance for Allowance for Allowance for

31 December 2020 Gross amount impairment impairment impairment Carrying amount
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3/POCI

Carrying amount

Wholesale
Refinanced loan 75197 (313) (679) (240) 73 965
Funding for Growth Scheme 161 589 (705) (4 898) (462) 155 524
Factoring 15 642 (138) (12) (38) 15 454
Overdraft 57 029 (257) (342) (1 086) 55 344
Széchenyi Loans 45 008 (576) (93) (692) 43 647
Other 534 611 (2 259) (6 479) (8 929) 516 944
Total Wholesale 889 076 (4 248) (12 503) (11 447) 860 878
Retail
Residential mortgage 197 923 (2 055) (416) (6 216) 189 236
HUF 196 733 (2 046) (406) (6 003) 188 278
Foreign currency 1190 9) (10) (213) 958
Credit card 2164 (52) (51) (65) 1996
Overdraft 995 (19) (68) (135) 773
Personal loan 9472 (189) (31) (342) 8910
Other 44 154 (480) (6) (533) 43135
Total Retail 254 708 (2 795) (572) (7 291) 244 050

1143 784 (7 043) (13 075) (18 738)

Non-core business

CRE 936 @) - (556) 376

Total 1144 720 (7 047) (13 075) (19 294) 1 105 30/
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Allowance for Allowance for Allowance for

31 December 2019 Gross amount impairme nt impairme nt impairme nt Carrying amount
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3/POCI

Carrying amount

Wholesale
Refinanced loan 55 856 (136) (649) (239) 54 832
Funding for Growth Scheme 86 486 (158) 1 797) (591) 83 940
Factoring 20 349 (145) (11) (63) 20 130
Overdraft 80 602 (383) (234) (1 493) 78 492
Széchenyi Loans 31715 (204) (101) (784) 30 626
Other 437 536 (1 666) (6 153) (14 668) 415 049
Total Wholesale 712 544 (2 692) (8 945) (17 838) 683 069
Retail
Residential mortgage 200 838 (528) (293) (7 627) 192 390
HUF 199 503 (524) (290) (7 303) 191 386
Foreign currency 1335 4) ?3) (324) 1004
Credit card 2336 (21) (41) (81) 2193
Overdraft 1147 (11) (27) (155) 954
Personal loan 6 749 (90) (11) (325) 6 323
Other 27 390 (33 (3) (453) 26 901
Total Retail 238 460 (683) (375) (8 641) 228 761
Total Core business 951 004 (3375) (9 320) (26 479) 911 83(

Non-core business

CRE 11 829 (41) - (1003) 10 785

Total 962 833 (3 416) (9 320) (27 482) 922 61}

In 2020, other items included HUF 234,069 milliororking capital loans, HUF 82,751
million receivables relating to repurchase agredémefnUF 41,196 million investment loans,
HUF 76,466 million syndicated loans and HUF 46,988ion loans relating to purchased
loans.

In 2019, other items included HUF 240,002 milliororking capital loans, HUF 40,136
million investment loans, HUF 69,246 million synafied loans, HUF 21,453 million loans
relating to purchased loans.

CRE (previously SCU) remaining portfolio

The Special Credit Unit (SCU) was established ih12h order to separate commercial real
estate financed customers requiring special tre@tared to provide the specific management
of their deals. At the end of 2015, significanttpair this portfolio has been separated from
MKB’s portfolio, management of the remaining poligois performed by the Corporate
Restructuring and Debt Management Directorate.

According to the EU commitments forming part of tRestructuring Plan approved by the
European Commission, the gross volume of the ram@BRE (i.e. Commercial Real Estate
previously SCU) portfolio had to be reduced beloWHR60 billion by the end of 2019. MKB
fulfilled the commitment by the end of 2017. Eveo, she portfolio has been reduced
significantly in 2018-2019. Fulfilled the EU comménts successfully, the Bank has the
intention to continue the CRE-financing. Thus, feforming CRE portfolio (HUF 10.7
billion) was transferred to Business Unit in Q1 @0@nly one CRE customer’s claifllUF
557 million; under liquidation)remained in the portfolio of Restructuring and Deb
Management Directorate.
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Due to the officially fulfilled EU commitments aritle transfer of performing CRE-portfolio
to Business Unit, the separated registration of @BRiEolio (i.e. SCU portfolio) was finished
on reporting level.

Asset realization strategy

The recovery expectations at the elements of tbet gortfolio has been determined based on,
the asset realization strategy. In the frameworthefasset realization strategy the Bank keeps
some assets in long-term in order to maximize regofrom those assets.

Allowances for impairment

11.3

31 December 2020 31 December 20

Allowances for impairment on loans and advancesctgstomers
Balance at 1 January 40 218 63 875

Impairment loss for the year:

Increases due to origination and acquisition 7 160 2 445
Decreases due to derecognition (11 338) (31122
Changes due to change in credit risk (net) 4 486 5520
Changes due to modifications without derecogntiaet) 146 23
Decrease in alowance account due to write-offs 51 3 (637)
Other adjustments 95 114

Allowance for impairment at the end of period

The aim of the IFRS 9 credit risk scoring systernoigassign a PiT (point-in-time) PD to each
relevant customer. The IRB rating system for Pillarcapital requirement calculation was
modified according to IFRS 9 requirements. Bothrating systems use the same default
definition and model structure, including the quative and qualitative sub-models and the
explicative variables. The calibration processesdifferent. In the case of IFRS 9 it depends
on the stage of a given customer. In the stageeltime horizon is one year, in the stage 2 the
lifetime PiT PD’s are estimated. The stage 3 costéine defaulted customers, where the PD
equals to 1.

In the stage 2, the one year PD is transformetiddifietime PD, based on the Markov chain,
and Vintage analysis estimation of transition ptolitzes and taken into account the
macroeconomic forecast, especially the year-on-@2 forecasts, in the first three years of
the estimation horizon. From the fourth year, ti€€Tthrough-the-cycle) PD has been used.

Note 6.1 provides additional information on thecaddtion of the Bank’s impairment.
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The tables below show the breakdown of the grossevand impairment of Loans and
advances to customers measured at amortised gatades:
11.3.1

31 December 2020 SRS LIS

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI

Retall

Low risk 74 906 9 - 2

Medium risk 141 589 10 584 - 2500

High risk 6 621 6 083 - 990

Default - - 8 475 2 949
Total Retail 223116 16 676 8 475 6 441
Wholesale

Low risk 331 448 - - -

Medium risk 471 185 2979 - -

High risk 9 051 58 278 - -

Default - - 16 135 -
Total Wholesale 811 684 61 257 16 135 -
CRE

Medium risk 380 - - -

Default - - 556 -
Total CRE 380 - 556 -

Total gross amount 1035180 77 933 25 166

31 December 2020 Allowance for impairme nt

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI

Retall

Low risk 737 - - -

Medium risk 1946 364 - 389

High risk 112 208 - 150

Default - - 5 167 1585
Total Retail 2795 572 5167 2124
Wholesale

Low risk 166 - - -

Medium risk 3081 106 - -

High risk 1001 12 397 - -

Default - - 11 447 -
Total Wholesale 4248 12 503 11 447 -
CRE

Medium risk 4 - - -

Default - - 556 -
Total CRE 4 - 556 -

Total allowance for impairment 13 075
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31 December 2019

Gross amount

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI

Retall

Low risk 59 338 - - -

Medium risk 152 801 4644 - 2 898

High risk 2 055 2 363 - 396

Default 104 - 9 206 4 655
Total Retail 214 298 7 007 9 206 7 949
Wholesale

Low risk 276 052 - - -

Medium risk 350 572 3326 - -

High risk 12 368 47 306 - -

Default 207 - 22713 -
Total Wholesale 639 199 50 632 22713 -
CRE

Medium risk 10 825 - - -

High risk - - - -

Default - - 1004 -
Total CRE 10 825 - 1004 -
Total gross amount 864 322 57 639 32923 7 949

Allowance for impairme nt
31 December 2019 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI

Retall

Low risk 85 - - -

Medium risk 581 240 - 335

High risk 17 135 - 32

Default - - 5811 2 463
Total Retail 683 375 5811 2 830
Wholesale

Low risk 308 - - -

Medium risk 1635 48 - -

High risk 749 8 897 - -

Default - - 17 838 -
Total Wholesale 2692 8 945 17 838 -
CRE

Medium risk 41 - - -

High risk - - - -

Default - - 1003 -
Total CRE 41 - 1003 -
Total allowance for impairment 3416 9 320 24 652 2 830
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The tables below show the changes of the gros®\aid impairment of Loans and advances
to customers measured at amortised cost, by stages:

11.3.2
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI
Gross amount PUIEESEE @F
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL originated credit-
impaired
Balance at 1 January 2020 864 102 57 636 32917 7951 962 606
Transfers:
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (29 742) 29 742 - - -
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (2 406) 2 406 - -
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 36 721 (36 721) - -
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 (4 441) 4441 - -
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 509 (509) - -
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 2151 (2 151) - -
Transfers to non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations ® . G 474) (569) (6.046)
Transfers from non-current assets ) 2 1170 @ 1 264

held for sale and discontinued operations
New financial assets originated or purchased 251915 23 268 2803 194 278 180
Modification of contractual cash flows of

financial assets (1 966) (305) (106) (95) (2472)
FX and other movements (83 950) 6 601 (10 331) (1132 (88 812)
Balance at 31 December 2020 1035 180 77 933 25 166 6 441 1144720
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI
Allowance for impairme nt PUIGEESEE @)
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL originated credit-
impaired
Balance at 1 January 2020 3416 9 320 24 652 2 829 40 217
Transfers:
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (215) 215 - - -
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (219) - 219 - -
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 166 (166) - - -
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (376) 376 - -
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 6 - (6) - -
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 271 (271) - -
Transfers to non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations ) ) (4481) ) (4 481)
Transfers from nor_l—curre_znt assets . ) ) 848 ) 48
held for sale and discontinued operations
Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs 1907 (294) 2 570 (32) 4151
New financial assets originated or purchased 949 5970 423 75 7417
Modrfpanon of contractual cash flows of 2474 1225 . 239 3038
financial assets
FX and other movements (1437) (3 090) (7 160) (987) (12 674)
Balance at 31 December 2020 7047 13 075 17 170 2124 39 416
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI
Gross amount PUIEESEE @F
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL originated credit-
impaired

Balance at 1 January 2019 822 875 48 501 60 967 17 119 949 462
Transfers:

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (66 236) 66 236 -

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (3 708) - 3708

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 51 925 (51 925) -

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (11 618) 11618

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 1812 - (1812)

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 7614 (7 614)

Transfers to non-current assets

held for sale and discontinued operations @70 (78) (23 483) (7665) (33 933)

Transfers from nor?—curre_znt assets ) 257 130 1388 1370 3145

held for sale and discontinued operations
New financial assets originated or purchased 126 163 5872 863 10 132 908
Modrﬁ(;aﬂon of contractual cash flows of 712 ) ) . 712
financial assets
FX and other movements (66 991) (7 096) (12 718) (2883) (89 688)
Balance at 31 December 2019 864 102 57 636 32917 7 951 962 606

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI
Allowance for impairme nt o o _P_urchased or
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL originated credit-
impaired

Balance at 1 January 2019 3371 7332 45 365 7 807 63 875
Transfers:

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (1502) 1502 -

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (50) - 50

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 1440 (1 440) -

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (982) 982

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 8 - 8)

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 665 (665)

Transfers to non-current assets

held for sale and discontinued operations @ (21715 (4 996) (26 713)

Transfers from noq—currgnt assets . s 13 1037 571 1629

held for sale and discontinued operations
Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (1 089) 657 477) 2042 1133
New financial assets originated or purchased 1641 493 266 18 2418
Modlfpaﬂon of contractual cash flows of (@41) (139) ©) 3 (542)
financial assets
FX and other movements 30 1221 (178) (2 656) (1583)
Balance at 31 December 2019 3416 9 320 24 652 2 829 40 217

The deals of customers belonging to the retail fplot are classified in sets (pools)
homogenous from risk consideration. In pools PD,DL@nd CCF values are allocated.
Internal rating based models calculate the riskampaters which determine the level of
impairment.

In case of individually not significant wholesalestomers the calculation of impairment and
provision has been changed to internal rating baseithod. The required provisioning rates
are calculated based on the credit conversionrfattte statistical analysis of default and the
loss given default. Individually assessed itemsrehe specific provision has been set aside
the impairment and provision have to be calculéeskd on the above method.

In case of retail and wholesale exposures collelstiassessed provision is allocated for the
following portfolios on monthly basis:

» on performing loans Incurred Loss (ICL) is calcetitand

* on non-performing loans Specific Loan Loss Provisi@SLLP) is accumulated.
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12.

13.

Since the Bank has introduced the performing and-pesforming classification in its
provision allocation method instead of product blasellective assessment in retail and the
new internal method in wholesale, the level of imed loss has grown.

At 31 December 2020 there were no loans desigredededged item in a fair value hedge
relationship.

Other assets

12.1
31 December 2020 31 December 20

Prepayments and other debtors 10 865 13 100
Inventory 444 488
Collaterals held in possession - 33
Other taxes refundable 5391 2215
Impairment (1 551) (1 580)
Other assets 15 149 14 25

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled enties and associates

13.1
31 December 2020 31 December 20
Cost 48 373 46 708

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled

entities and associates

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled ie®¢ and associates increased by
HUF 1,665 million during the reporting year. ThenRaaised the capital of MKB Inkubétor
Kft. by HUF 550 million in July, 2020, and revis¢lde impairment on its investments in
Extercom Kft. in September 2020, and reversed themamount of HUF 230 million, which
indicated an increase in investments in subsidiaf@rthermore the Bank’s contribution to
the Employee Share Ownership Program (ESOP) chabgadUF 898 million during the
reporting year. On 1 April 2020 the Bank sold itsvastment in MKB Kockazati
Tokealapkezd Zrt., therefore investments decreased by HUF 1f8omi
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Financial data of the consolidated subsidiariesaar®llows as at 31 December 2020:

13.2
2020
Total assets  Shareholders' equity Revenues
Euro - Immat Uzemeltetési Kft. 5 660 4 699 2174
MKB-Euroleasing Autolizing Szolgaltaté Zrt. 188 771 790 6 136
MKB Bank MRP Szervezet 2 400 2378 562
MKB Uzemeltetési Kft. 35924 34 025 6 349
Retail Prod Zrt. 756 726 36
MKB-Pannonia Alapkezél|Zrt. 2970 2703 2 847
MKB Digital Szolgaltato Zrt. 1334 655 3931
2019
Total assets  Shareholders' e quity Revenues

Euro - Immat Uzemettetési Kift. 5 689 4672 1 566
Exter-Adossagkez&Kft. 17 14 23
Extercom Vagyonkez& Kft. 277 247 1
MKB-Euroleasing Autolizing Szolgaltaté Zrt. 166 427 210 5518
MKB Bank MRP Szervezet 1750 1598 1532
MKB Nyugdijpénztart és Egészségpénztart Kiszolgdio 645 549 74
MKB Uzemeltetési Kft. 35 387 33736 6 754
Retail Prod Zrt. 709 678 55
MKB-Pannénia AlapkezélZrt. 2 692 2263 2 887
MKB Digital Szolgaltaté Zrt. 1024 573 1885
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General and financial data of the jointly contrdlientities and associates are as follows as at
31 December 2020:

13.3

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

MKB-Panndnia Alapkezels6 MKB-Panndnia Alapkeze b
. .

General data

Investment fund managementinvestment fund management

Principal activity activity activity
Country of incorporation Hungary Hungary
Ownership % (direct & non-direct) 49.00% 49.00%
Proportion of the voting rights held 49.00% 49.00%
Relation associate associate
Involvement equtiy equtiy

Financial data

Cash & cash equivalents 257 101
Other current assets 5537 5145
Current assets 5794 5246
Non-current assets 268 248
Total assets 6 062 5 49
Other current liabilitie 54¢ 871
Current liabilities 546 877
Total liabilities 546 8
Equity 5516 46

Book value of investment
(Carrying amount of the Bank's interest @ th

Company 150 150
Interest income 1 -
Other income 5979 5978
Revenues 5980 5978
Depreciation and amortization 45 26
Income tax expense 416 386
Other Expenses 1267 1711
Expenses 1728 2123

Profit/(Loss) after taxation for the year 4 252 3 84§

Dividends received by MKB Bank from the assoc 2 40 182¢
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14. Intangibles, property and equipment

14.1

31 December 2020

Intangible

Freehold
assets property

Equipment

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at 1 January
Additions — including internally developed
Other modifications
Disposals
Balance at 31 December
Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 January
Amortization and depreciation for the year
Impairment loss
Disposals
Other modifications
Balance at 31 December
Carrying amounts

At 1 January

Balance at 31 December

31 December 2019

44 362 21134 2819 68 315
14 342 2693 992 18 027
- (112) - (112)
(7 616) (5 006) (357) (12 979)

51088 18 709 3454 73 25

23319 5273 1284 29 876
2997 2017 338 5 352

294 - - 204
- (1123) (294) (1417)
- (67) - (67)

26 610 6 100 1328 34 039
21043 15 861 1535 38 439

24 478 12 609 2126

Freehold

Intangible
assets property

Equipment

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at 1 January
Additions — including internally developed
Other modifications
Disposals
Balance at 31 December
Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 January
Amortization and depreciation for the year
Impairment loss
Disposals
Other modifications
Balance at 31 December
Carrying amounts

At 1 January

Balance at 31 December

38119 6547 3294 47 960
8777 14 618 650 24045
- (31) (38) (69)
(2 534) - (1087) (3621)
44 362 21134 2819 68 315
21105 3165 1497 25 767
2242 2114 291 4647
- - 2 2
(28) - (506) (534)
- (6) - (6)
23 319 5273 1284 29 876
17 014 3382 1797 22193
21043 15 861 1535 38 439

Depreciation and amortization is presented amorgei&ing expenses”.
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15.

16.

In 2020, the most significant components of theegtinents and developments were the costs
related to the introduction of the instant payrmsygtem, furthermore in the reporting period
the Bank has fine-tuned its Core banking systemlaced at the end of June 2018, which
increased the amount of investments and develogmdémtaddition, the Bank disclosed
several other items here concerning capitalisatmnfunctional developments of other IT
systems and improvements of the Bank’s digitalisess

Changes in the value of right-of-use assets dutimey reporting period are disclosed in
Note 31.

Amounts due to other banks

15.1

31 December 2020 31 December 20
Due on demand 3112 3279
Money market deposits 2527 648
Borrowings 566 454 191 756
Repurchase agreement owed to bank 2732 -
Amounts due to other banks 574 825 195 64

The largest balance of the Amounts due to othekvenHUF 167,367 million, which is the
re-financing loans relating to Funding for Growtth8me at NBH.

Deposits and current accounts

16.1

31 December 2020 31 December 20
Corporate clients related 1476 656 902 680
Retail clients related 400 798 334 580
Deposits and current accounts 1877 454 1237 2

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Bank had nosdegnd current accounts measured at
fair value from the total amount.
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17.

18.

Derivative financial liabilities

17.1

Derivative instruments by type
FX-based derivative instruments
Index-based derivative instruments
Interest-based derivative instruments
Credit default swaps
Options

Derivative financial liabilities

31 December 202 31 December 201

Cost Fair value Book Cost Fair value Book
adjustment value adjustment value

6 892 6 892 - 2634 2634
- 4 4 - 2 2
28416 28416 - 41009 41009

- - - - 36 36
21 73 94 668 (86) 582

35 385 668 43 595 44 263]

The derivative financial instruments disclosedha table are measured at fair value through

profit or loss.

Other liabilities and provision

18.1

31 December 2020 31 December 20

Accruals and other creditors

Lease liabilties

Other taxes payable

Provisions for contingencies and commitments

Other liabilities and provisions

30 616 35375
19 957 21797
1777 1731
2560 2080

54 910 60 98

Provision for contingencies and commitments

18.2

31 December 2020 31 December 20

Provision for contingencies and commitments

Balance at 1 January
Provisions made during the year
Provisions used/reversed during the year

Other movements

Balance at the end of the reporting period

2080 1946

2012 1310
(1 543) (1182)
11 6

2 560 2 08

Further information about provisions for contingescand commitments are disclosed in

Note 33.
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19.

Issued debt securities
The table below shows the new issuance, repaymehdther changes during the year:

19.1

Balance at 1 Issued debt  Repurchased Repaid debt Accrued Balance at

Interest » " " :
AEGIENY securities debt securities securities income 31 December

31 December 2020
Zero coupon 1331 2402 (401) (930) (59) 2343

Total 2 402 (401) CED)

Balance at 1 Issued debt  Repurchased Repaid debt Revaluation Balance at
AEGIENY securities debt securities securities result 31 December

Interest

31 December 2019

Zero coupon 733 996 - (398) - 1331

Structured 4 895 - 188 (4 991) (92) -

Accrued interest 68 - - - - -
Total 5 696 996 188 (5 389) (92) 133

The Bank used fair value option revaluation thropgtfit or loss for structured bonds, as they
were related to assets, which shared the samdhdglgave rise to opposite changes in fair
value. On 31 December 2020, the carrying amourdvwaf issued bonds amounted to HUF
2,343 million (2019: HUF 1,331 million). The lasahsaction recognized at fair value through
profit or loss as option at initial recognition éngal on 2 July 2019.
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20. Subordinated debt

Subordinated debts are direct, unconditional arskcured subordinated bonds of the Bank,
and are subordinated to the claims of the Bankissltors and other creditors.

20.1

Amount in Original Carrying amount
original currency  currency in million HUF

31 December 2020 Interest Date of issue Maturity date

Subordinated debt Fixed rate 26.05.2017 14.06.2024 36 900 000 EUR 13 845
Subordinated debt Fixed rate 28.03.2019 15.04.2026 31000000 EUR 11631
Subordinated debt Fixed rate 26.05.2020 20.07.2028 51300000 EUR 19 248
Total 119 200 000 EUR 447

Amount in Original Carrying amount
original currency  currency in million HUF

31 December 2019 Interest Date of issue Maturity date

Subordinated debt Fixed rate 26.05.2017 14.06.2024 70000 000 EUR 23765
Subordinated debt Fixed rate 19.03.2013 14.06.2024 15000000 EUR 5092
Subordinated debt Fixed rate 28.03.2019 15.04.2026 31000000 EUR 10 524
Total 116 000 000 EUR 39 3§

By the end of the reporting period the amount @& subordinated debt increased to EUR
119.2 million. In May 2020 there was a new issuand&e amount of EUR 51.3 million, and
the Bank also repurchased EUR 48.1 million fromshieordinated bonds issued previously.

21. Share capital
The Bank’s authorised, issued, and fully paid shaapital comprises 100 million (2019:

100 million) ordinary shares of HUF 1,000 (2019: HW,000) each. All issued shares rank
pari passu in the event of a winding up.

22. Reserves
Share premium
Share premium comprises of premiums on share tégstances.
Retained Earnings

Retained earnings comprise the accumulated prfiét saxes earned in the course of the
operating life of an entity of the Bank less anyidiend payment.

General reserve

According to the Act CCXXXVII of 2013 on Credit Inttions and Financial Enterprises
(Banking Act), banks shall set aside as generakves10% of Profit after taxation. Dividends
can be paid only after recognition of general neseilhis reserve can be utilized only for
losses derived from ordinary activity. Credit ihgion can reclassify part or total of its
retained earnings into general reserve. Superviaatigority can allow the entity not to set
aside the amount calculated as above stated.

The Bank discloses general reserve as part ofnestagarnings. In 2020, MKB recognized
general reserve of HUF 11,448 million (2019: HUE8RE® million).
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Revaluation reserves

Revaluation reserve of financial assets measure@vaiOCl includes the cumulative net
change in the fair value until the derecognitionr Fnancial instruments measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income, the Bwtrecognized an impairment loss in
accordance with IFRS 9, which is shown in the Reatidn reserve.

The Bank did not apply any reclassification adjuwstis relating to components of other
comprehensive income.

23. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attribitdblthe following:

23.1
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities

Intangibles, property and equipment 171 19 152 179 41 138
Securities 380 - 380 1596 32 1564
Loans and advances to customers - - - 690 - 690
Amounts due to customers - - - 479 - 479
Issued debt securities - - - - 36 (36)
Provision 152 56 96 169 56 113
Derivatives - - - 122 6 116
Other items - - - 74 28 46
Tax loss carry-forwards 6 079 - 6 079 3868 - 3 868
Offsetting (75) (75) - (199) (199) -
Assets held for sale - - - 40 - 40
Effect on implementation of IFRS - - - 700 - 700

Net tax assets / (liabilities)

24. Interest and similar to interest income

24.1
2020 2019

Cash and cash equivalents 1 666 317
Loans and advances to banks 202 307
Loans and advances to customers 27 124 25 456
Derivatives 5 495 7 665
Securities 16 408 23182
Interest and similar to interest income 50 895 56 927

Included within various captions under interesbme for the year ended 31 December 2020
is a total of HUF 935 million (2019: HUF 1,324 niolh) accrued on credit impaired financial
assets.
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25. Interest expense
25.1
2020 2019
Amounts due to other banks 2 264 957
Deposits from customers 3311 2 829
Issued debt securities 67 -
Subordinated liabilities 1867 1590
Other fees and commisions similar to interest espen 347 294
Derivatives 17 132 13 338
Interest expense 24 988 19 008
26. Netincome from commissions and fees
26.1
2020 2019
Commission and fee income 30 295 35 653
Payment and account services 18 235 20976
Credit related fees 1958 2101
Card services 2700 2927
Brokerage fees and other securities business 4 550 5140
Other commission and fee income 2852 4509
Commission and fee expense 6 564 8 282
Payment and account services 396 1680
Credit related fees 1416 1719
Card services 1775 1777
Brokerage fees and other securities business 814 1154
Other commission and fee expense 2163 1952
Net income from commissions and fees 23731 27 37
27. Other operating income / (expense), net
27.1
2020 2019
Realized net gain / (loss) on securities measuréairavalue 7 557 24 212
Realized net gain / (loss) on securities measuradartised cost (233) 5247
Net gain / (loss) on loan and advances measurid aglue (16) 134
Net gain / (loss) on derivative transactions 16 669 (10 757)
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 1263 9011
Net fair value results from FVTPL revaluation (FVO) - 123
Expense relating to bank levies (1 645) (1875)
Transaction duty (10 265) (11 935)
Net gain /(loss) on investments in Group companies 7 1373
Other taxes (2737) (3 080)
Other operating income /(expense), net (5 549) (841)

Other operating income /(expense), net 6 121
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In 2020 the Bank did not recognize any result ffam value revaluation of structured bonds
designated at fair value through profit or lossI@HUF 123 million gains).

Banking tax is shown under “Other expense” as @&sdoot meet the criteria of current income
tax.

28. Net impairments / (reversal) and provisions for loses

28.1

Note 2020 2019

Net impairment loss / (reversal)

Loans and advances to banks 8 (54) 5
Loans and advances to customers 11 6 039 2190
Securities 10 286 19
Other assets 12 (26) (1 169)
Realised loss on sale of loans 662 (1 036)
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinpedations 38 (172) (5 839)
Provision on
Guarantees and contingencies 33 469 1803
Impairment and provision for losses 7 204 (4 02

29. Operating expense

29.1

General and administration expense 3 666 1885
Legal and advisory services 1917 1919
Wages and salaries 15 361 15 246
Compulsory social security obligations 3341 3512
Occupancy costs 7764 7 549
Marketing and public relations 700 669
Communication and data processing 8 853 8 810
Operating expense 41 602 39 59(

In 2020, the Bank's average statistical employeeb®n was 1,604 (2019: 1,634).
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30. Income tax

Income tax expense recognized in the Statement ofdft or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

30.1

2020 2019

Current tax expense

Corporate tax charge — on current year profit 3 1369
Corporate tax charge — effect of self-monitoringriavious years - (418)

Deferred tax (income) / expense

Origination (reversal) of temporary differences 718 (1 624)

Income tax (income) / expense 721 (673
Both in the reporting period and in 2019 9% curfiecbme tax rate was applied on taxable
profit in Hungary. Due to this, 9% rate was appliExh for current income tax and deferred
tax purposes.

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

30.2
2020 2019

% HUF million % HUF million

Profit before income tax 6 953 41 339
Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate .00% 626 9.00% 3720
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 0.04% 3 0.05% 22
Movement of unrecognized temporary differences 3».02 2226 0.00% -
Non-deductible expense 1.40% 97 0.12% 48
Tax exempt income -13.54% (941) -0.73% (300)
Re-assessment of unrecognised tax losses carryfiswa  -28.62% (1 990) -7.37% (3 046)
Effect of transition 10.07% 700 -1.69% (700)
Other tax effects 0.00% - -1.01% (417)

Income tax (income) / expense 10.37% -1.63% (673

MKB Bank used a prudent approach concerning tagelesThe Bank relied on its available
business plans for calculating the amount of tasds that can be offset against future tax
bases. Tax losses can be offset against up to 5@%tuce tax bases.
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On 31 December 2020, the Bank had unused tax l@sesnting to HUF 266,077 million
(2019: HUF 323,05@illion) with the following maturity:

30.3

2020 2019
Maturity up to 2020 - 59 428
Maturity up to 2025 2451 -
Maturity up to 2030 263626 263 628
Tax loss carryforwards 266 077 323 056

The Bank has HUF 198,537 million (2019: HUF 280,07i8ion) tax losses carried forward,
on which no deferred tax asset was recognised.

In 2015, the rules of utilization of tax lossesrigat forward have changed in Hungary: tax
losses arising in 2015 and in following years, banutilized solely in the subsequent five
years following the tax year in which they were g@eted. Tax losses incurred before 2015
can be utilized until 2030.

The following table presents the main factors airafe in deferred tax:

30.4

2020

Opening P/L-effective  P/L-neutral Closing
balance movement of movement of balance
DTA/DTL DTA/DTL DTA/DTL DTA/DTL

P/L-effective and neutral effects on

deferred tax assets (DTA) and deferred tax liabilies (DTL)

Deferred Tax Assets - due to taxable temporary difrences

Assets

Loans and advances to bank, Loans and advancesttrer 69C (690

Derivative financial asse 122 (122 - -
Securitie: 1 59¢ (924 (292, 38(
Intangible Asse 17¢ 8) - 171
Non-current assets as held for 4C (40) -
Other Assetl 7z (73)

Liabilities

Amounts due to other banks, Deposits and curresdiats 47¢ (479 - -
Provision: 16¢ 17 - 152
Deferred Tax Assets - due to tax losses 3 86¢ 221 - 6 07¢
Deferred Tax Assets - Tax Credits 70C (700 -
Subtotal DTA before netting 7916 (842) (292) 6 782
Deferred Tax Liabilities - due to taxable te mporarydifferences

Assets

Securitie: (32) 3z -
Property, plant and equipment and investment ptg (41) 2z - (19)
Liabilities

Issued debt securiti (36) 3€

Derivative financial liabilitie (6) 6 - -
Provision: (56) - - (56)
Other liabilities 27) 27 -
Subtotal DTL before netting (198) 123 - (75)
Subtotal DTA after netting of balance sheet positins 7916 (842) (292) 6 782
Subtotal DTL after netting of balance sheet positios (198) 123 - (75)
Subtotal DTA after netting completely with DTL 7718 (719) (292) 670
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2019

Opening P/L-effective  P/L-neutral Closing

P/L-effective and neutral effects on

deferred tax assets (DTA) and deferred tax liabilies (DTL) LIS USRI Gff (OWRE; e B

DTA/DTL DTA/DTL DTA/DTL DTA/DTL

Deferred Tax Assets - due to taxable temporary diffrences

Assets

Loans and advances to bank, Loans and advancestmrers 690 - - 690
Derivative financial asse 122 - - 122
Securitie: 127¢ - 322 1 59¢
Intangible Asse 202 (24) - 17¢
Non-current assets as held for 4C 4C
Other Assel 7z 7z
Liabilities -
Amounts due to other banks, Deposits and curresdiats 47¢ - - 47¢
Provision: 16¢ - - 16¢
Deferred Tax Assets - due to tax losses 2 16¢ 1700 - 3 86¢
Deferred Tax Assets - Tax Credits 70C - - 70C
Subtotal DTA before netting 5918 1676 322 7916
Deferred Tax Liabilities - due to taxable te mporarydifferences

Assets

Securitie: (32) - - (32)
Property, plant and equipment and investment ptg (45) 4 - (41)
Liabilities

Issued debt securiti (36) - - (36)
Derivative financial liabilitie 6) - - 6)
Provision: - (56) - (56)
Other liabilities (27) - - (27)
Subtotal DTL before netting (146) (52) - (198)
Subtotal DTA after netting of balance sheet positins 5911 1676 322 7 909
Subtotal DTL after netting of balance sheet positins (140) (52) - (192)

Subtotal DTA after netting completely with DTL 5771 1624 322 771
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31. Leases

At the date of the initial application the Bank hanly a few leases that were previously
classified as finance lease, for which transitmtRRS 16 had no significant impact.

The Bank has no significant sub-lease contracts.

31.1

Freehold
property

31 December 2020 Other assets Properties

IT equipments Total

Cost or deemed cost

Balance at 1 January 17 8192 12 867 412 21488
Additions - 2225 - 766 2991
Revaluation - (98) - - (98)
Disposals - - (7 035) - (7 035)
Other modifications - 109 - - 109
Balance at 31 December 17 10 428 5832 1178 17 459

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 4 2914 1282 138 4338
Depreciation for the year 4 880 912 85 1881
Revaluation - (67) - - (67)
Disposals - - (1123) - (1123)
Balance at 31 December 8 3727 1071 223 5 02

Carrying amounts

Balance at 1 January 13 5278 11585 274 17 150
Balance at 31 December 9 6 701 4761 955 12 42
. Freehold .
31 December 2019 Other assets Properties IT equipments Total

prope

Cost or deemed cost

Balance at 1 January 17 8179 12 867 450 21513
Additions - 13 - (38) (25)
Disposals - - (2 035) - (2 035)
Balance at 31 December 17 8 192 10 832 412 19 45

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January - 2 056 - 67 2123
Depreciation for the year 4 864 1282 82 2232
Disposals - (6) (124) (11) (141)
Balance at 31 December 4 2914 1158 138 4214

Carrying amounts
Balance at 1 January 17 6123 12 867 383 19 390

Balance at 31 December 13 5278 9674 274 15 23
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31.2

Within 3 Within 1 Within 3
months and yearand 3 years and 5
1year VCES years

Within 3
months

31 December 2020

Contractual value of lease liabilties 766 2951 8370 4986 13 048 30121

Within 3 Within 3 Within 1 Within 3

31 December 2019 months and yearand 3 years and 5
months 1
Contractual value of lease liabilties 580 2583 7 681 5961 16 764 33569
31.3
31 December 2020 Long-term Short-term
Carrying amount of lease liabilties 17 570 2387 19 957
31 December 2019 Long-term Short-term
Carrying amount of lease liabilties 19 920 1807 21 797
314
2020 2019
Interest expense recognized on lease liabilties 4412 1542
Expense recognized for short-term le: - 6€
Depreciation charged for the i (1879 (2215
Cash outflow for leases 2368 2051

The value of contracts for which the Bank doesenqitect to exercise the extension and / or
exercise option is immaterial.

The Bank elected not to recognise right-of-usetasaad lease liabilities for short-term leases
of machinery that have a lease term of 12 montHssw and leases of low-value assets (e.g
including printers, IT equipment). The expensetieipto leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases was HUF 95 million for the reipgrperiod (2019: HUF 103 million).

The relevant rules on measurement, recognitiorpaeskntation are disclosed in Note 4.

31.5
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

Lease payments that depend on an index 2162090 1857 1063 963 881 841 800 3
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32. Earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share on 8&ehber 2020 based on the net income
attributable to ordinary shareholders of HUF 6,28R2ion (2019: HUF 42,012 million) and a
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstgndf 100,000 thousands (2019:
100,000 thousands).

Basic value
31 December 2020

Net income available to

. ordinary shareholders HUF 6,232 milion
Earnings per in HUE million)
Ordinary Share = (i - = = HUF 62
(in HUF) Average number of ordinary
shares outstanding (thousands) 100,000 thousands
31 December 2019
Net income available to
. ordinary shareholders HUF 42,012 milion
Earnings per in HUE million)
Ordinary Share = A (in ber of ord = = HUF 420
(in HUF) verage number of ordinary

shares outstanding (thousands) 100,000 thousands

The calculation of fully diluted earnings per shavas based on the profit attributable to
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average euofbordinary shares outstanding after
any adjustment for the effects of all dilutive putal ordinary shares. In the reporting period
and in the previous period there were no dilutiactdrs.
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33.

Diluted value

31 December 2020

Net income available to

. . ordinary shareholders HUF 6,232 milion
Diluted Earnings i HUE mil
per Share = (In milion) - = = HUF®62
(in HUF) Average number of ordinary
shares outstanding taking into 100,000 thousands
account the dilution factol
31 December 2019
Net income available to
Diluted Earnings ord!na|_r|)(J T:har.ltle.holders HUF 42,012 milion
per Share (n milon) ___ _ = HUF 420
(in HUF) Average number of ordinary
shares outstanding taking into 100,000 thousands
account the dilution factol
Contingencies and commitments
33.1
31 December 2020 Gross amount Rrovision Net amount

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 IAS 37

Contingencies

Guarantees and similar obligations 120 072 (209) (395) (41) - 119 427
Obligations from letters of credit and other sherm trade related items 17 178 (14) - - 17 164
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 11 676 (11) 9 - (426) 11 230
Total contingencies 148 926 (234) (404) (41) (426) 147 82
Commitments
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 276 333 (877) (113) (465) - 274 878
Total commitments 276 333 877) (113) (465) - 274 874
31 December 2019 Gross amount Brovision Net amount

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 IAS 37

Contingencies

Guarantees and similar obligations 98 914 (101) (166) (93) - 98 554
Obligations from letters of credit and other shertn trade related items 14 570 9) - - - 14 561
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 8793 (6) (%] (127) (619) 8 039
Total contingencies 122 277 (116) (168) (220) (619) 121 154

Commitments

Undrawn commitments to extend credit 243 620 (306) (366) (285) - 242 663
Total commitments 243 620 (306) (366) (285) - 242 66
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34.

Use of estimates and judgements

Management discusses with the Bank Supervisory Btlae¢ development, selection and
disclosure of the Bank’s critical accounting pagiand estimates, and the application of these
policies and estimates.

These disclosures supplement the commentary ondiaaisk management (see Note 6).
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Allowances for credit losses

Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaldatempairment on a basis described in
accounting policy (see Note 4).

The specific counterparty component of the totdbvednces for impairment applies to
financial assets evaluated individually for impagémh and is based upon management’s best
estimate of the present value of the cash flowsdhaexpected to be received. In estimating
these cash flows, management makes judgements aboaanterparty’s financial situation
and the net realisable value of any underlyingatethl. Each impaired asset is assessed on its
merits, and the workout strategy and estimate ch cllows considered recoverable are
independently approved by the Credit Risk function.

Collectively assessed impairment allowances congatitlosses inherent in portfolios of loans
and advances with similar credit risk charactersstivhen there is objective evidence to
suggest that they contain impaired loans and aegaheit the individual impaired items
cannot yet be identified. In assessing the neeccdtiective loss allowances, management
considers factors such as credit quality, portfelie, concentrations and economic factors. In
order to estimate the required allowance, assumptize made to define the way inherent
losses are modelled and to determine the requinpdtiparameters, based on historical
experience and current economic conditions. Theracy of the allowances depends on the
estimates of future cash flows for specific coupaety allowances and the model assumptions
and parameters used in determining collective almes.

Uncertain or unanticipated future events could ltaaunaterial adjustments to provisions or
additional allowances. The accounting values detexthare not fair values or market prices
that might be determined if the underlying assedssald to a third party.

Determining fair values

The determination of fair value for financial asseind liabilities for which there is no
observable market price requires the use of valoatchniques as described in accounting
policy. For financial instruments that trade infueqtly and have little price transparency, fair
value is less objective, and requires varying degref judgement depending on liquidity,
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pgcassumptions and other risks affecting the
specific instrument. See also “Valuation of finahdnstruments” below.
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Critical accounting judgements in applying the Banks accounting policies

Critical accounting judgements made in applyingBaek’s accounting policies include:
Valuation of financial instruments

The Bank’s accounting policy on fair value measuests is discussed under Note 4.
The Bank measures fair values using the followiieganchy of methods:

» Level 1: Quoted market price in an active marketaio identical instrument.

» Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observaiyeits. This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted market prices dtivea markets for similar
instruments; quoted prices for similar instrumedntsnarkets that are considered less
than active; or other valuation techniques wheresighificant inputs are directly or
indirectly observable from market data.

» Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant leervable inputs. This category
includes all instruments where the valuation teghaiincludes inputs not based on
observable data and the unobservable inputs cald h significant effect on the
instrument’s valuation. This category includes nmstents that are valued based on
guoted prices for similar instruments where sigaifit unobservable adjustments or
assumptions are required to reflect differenceséen the instruments.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabs that are traded in active markets are
based on quoted market prices or dealer price tjoga For all other financial instruments

the Bank determines fair values using valuatiohnejues. Valuation techniques include net
present value and discounted cash flow models, agsgm to similar instruments for which

market observable prices exist, Black-Scholes afghpmial option pricing models and other
valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used inatimn techniques include risk-free and
benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and @ileania used in estimating discount rates,
bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchargesy equity and equity index prices and
expected price volatilities and correlations.

Counterparty risk (CVA) and own credit risk (DVA also taken into account by calculation
of fair value of derivative transactions excepttaf followings:

1. Netting of NPVs to counterparty level is allowedyom case of International Swaps
and Derivatives Association (ISDA) agreement isilabte.

2. If the partners have Credit Support Annex (CSA) tfue derivative then both CVA
and DVA are 0.

3. If the contract covered by collateral then CVA=0.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arate fair value determination that reflects the
price of the financial instrument at the end of teporting period that would have been
determined by market participants acting at arersyth.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation modelsié&ermining the fair value of common
and more simple financial instruments, like inténege and currency swaps that use only
observable market data and require little managéjnegement and estimation. Observable
prices and model inputs are usually available ia tharket for listed debt and equity
securities, exchange traded derivatives and simopég the counter derivatives like interest
rate swaps. Availability of observable market mi@nd model inputs reduces the need for
management judgement and estimation and also redinee uncertainty associated with
determination of fair values. Availability of obsable market prices and inputs varies
depending on the products and markets and is goonkanges based on specific events and
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general conditions in the financial markets.

For more complex instruments, the Bank uses prigpyiealuation models, which usually are
developed from recognised valuation models. Somal@f the significant inputs into these
models may not be observable in the market, andleieed from market prices or rates or
are estimated based on assumptions. Example ofuimsbts involving significant
unobservable inputs includes certain over the @uwstructured derivatives and certain loans
and securities for which there is no active mark@luation models that employ significant
unobservable inputs require a higher degree of gemant judgement and estimation in
determination of fair value. Management judgemart astimation are usually required for
selection of the appropriate valuation model taibed, determination of expected future cash
flows on the financial instrument being valued,edetination of probability of counterparty
default and prepayments and selection of apprepdistount rates.

The table below analyses financial instruments ovealat fair value, by valuation method:

34.1

Quoted market Valuation techniques
significant

unobservable inputs

Valuation techniques
observable inputs

prices in active
markets

31 December 2020

Derivative financial assets 9 - 23 262 - 23 262
Securities 10 544 554 79 535 - 624 089
Loans and advances to customers 11 - - 938 938
Derivate financial liabilties 17 - 35 406 - 35 406
Issued debt securities 19 - 2343 - 2343
Total 544 554 140 546 938 686 03
31 December 2019

Derivative financial assets 9 - 18 193 - 18 193
Securities 10 293 234 21274 - 314 508
Loans and advances to customers 11 - - 1323 1323
Derivate financial liabilties 17 - 44 263 - 44 263
Issued debt securities 19 - 1331 - 1331
Total 293 234 85061 1323 379 61

The determination of fair value level and the tfars between levels are in line with
accounting policy (see Note 4). There were no femasbetween fair value levels in the
reporting period ended on 31 December 2020.

There is no active quotation of discount governnimnids when they reach within 3-month
maturity. For discount government bonds within tirturity of 3 months, MKB Bank is using

yield-curve valuation technique. The inputs of theld-curve are the relevant active market
prices, consequently it is considered as Levell@atimn. The inputs of the where the yield-
curve and the applied based currency mismatcheaansider as Level 3 valuation.

As part of its trading activities the Bank entemsoi OTC structured derivatives, primarily
options indexed to equity prices, foreign exchargges and interest rates, with customers and
other banks. Some of these instruments are valsied models with significant unobservable
inputs, principally expected long-term volatilitiaad expected correlations between different
asset prices or foreign currency exchange ralbese inputs are estimated based on
extrapolation from observable shorter-term vokiti, recent transaction prices, quotes from
other market participants and historical data.
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35.

In determining fair values, the Bank does not ugerages of reasonably possible alternative
inputs as averages may not represent a price ahwvehtransaction would take place between
market participants on the measurement date. Wemative assumptions are available within
a wide range, judgements exercised in selectingnibs appropriate point in the range include
evaluation of the quality of the sources of inffas example, the experience and expertise of the
brokers providing different quotes within a rangejing greater weight to a quote from the
original broker of the instrument who has the nutetéiled information about the instrument) and
the availability of corroborating evidence in respsf some inputs within the range.

The following table presents the major risks and #mounts of fair value of financial
instruments. Each financial instrument is reporédair value and categorized based on all
the risk factors which they are exposed to. Mopetgf financial instruments are exposed to
more than one risk, therefore fair values of thosgruments are included in all relevant
columns, resulting that the sum of total exposimgdine may not be equal to the relevant
lines in the Statement of Financial Position.

Nature and extent of exposure to risks arising ffim@ncial instruments:

34.2

Note Interest PRI Other

exchange rate

31 December 2020
Derivative financial assets 9 12 094 11 997 -
Securities 10 617 886 36 033 -
Loans and advances to customers 11 938 22 -
Derivative financial liabilties 17 28 416 6 892 98
Issued debt securities 19 2343 - 2 343
Total 661 677 54 944 2 44
31 December 2019
Derivative financial assets 9 4748 15 340 -
Securities 10 310 248 8 416 -
Loans and advances to customers 11 1323 196 -
Derivative financial liabilties 17 41 009 2 634 620
Issued debt securities 19 1331 - 1331
Total 358 659 26 586 195

Accounting classifications and fair values

The estimated fair values disclosed below are dasigl to approximate values at which these
instruments could be exchanged in an arm’s lengihsaction. However, many of the
financial instruments have no active market andefloee, fair values are based on estimates
using net present value and other valuation tectesisee Note 4, and Note 34), which are
significantly affected by the assumptions used e amount and timing of the estimated
future cash flows and discount rates. In many cagesould not be possible to realise
immediately the estimated fair values given the sizthe portfolios measured.
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The table below sets out the carrying amounts airdvhlues of the Bank’s financial assets
and financial liabilities:

35.1

Fair value Fair value _—
Amortised through other ) .
i carrying Fair value
cost comprehensive
amount

income

31 December 2020 Note  through profit
orloss

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 294 183 - 294 183 294 183
Loans and advances to banks 8 - 83 558 - 83558 82 642
Derivative financial assets 9 23262 - - 23262 23 262
Securities 10 16 922 549 938 607 167 1174 027 1172547
Loans and advances to customers 11 938 1105 304 - 1106 242 1078 359

Total 41 122 2 032 983 607 167 2681 272 2 650 993

Financial liabilities

Amounts due to other banks 15 - 574 825 - 574 825 574 825
Deposits and current accounts 16 - 1877 454 - 1877 454 1877 454
Derivate financial liabilties 17 35 406 - - 35 406 35 406
Issued debt securities 19 - 2343 - 2343 2343
Subordinated debt 20 - 44 724 - 44 724 44724

Total 35 406 2 499 346 - 2534752 2534757

Fair value FINEL Total
Amortised through other . .
. carrying Fair value
cost comprehensive
amount

income

31 December 2019 Note  through profit
orloss

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 55 388 - 55 388 55 388
Loans and advances to banks 8 62 392 - 62 392 61 709
Derivative financial assets 9 18 193 - - 18 193 18 193
Securities 10 4900 286 386 309 608 600 894 590 162
Loans and advances to customers 11 1323 922 615 - 923 938 922 629
Total 24 416 1326 781 309 608 1 660 805 1648 08
Financial liabilities

Amounts due to other banks 15 - 195 683 - 195 683 195 683
Deposits and current accounts 16 - 1237 260 1237 260 1237 260
Derivate financial liabilties 17 44 263 - - 44 263 44 263
Issued debt securities 19 1331 - - 1331 1331
Subordinated debt 20 - 39 381 - 39 381 39 381
Total 45 594 1472 324 - 1517918 1517918

The methods and the assumptions applied in detergnfair values of financial instruments
when a valuation technique is used were as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents

Due to the short term nature, the carrying amobti@ash and cash equivalents is a reasonable
approximation of their fair value.

Derivative financial instruments
Fair values of Derivative financial instruments draded in active markets are based on

quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.aoother financial instruments the Bank
determines fair values using valuation techniques.
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Securities

The fair values of instruments grouped into Se@sifre based on quoted market prices,
when available. If quoted market prices are notlabke, fair value is estimated using quoted
market prices of similar securities. For furthéoimation, please refer to Note 10.

Loans and advances to banks and to customers

The fair value of loans and advances is based @®reodble market transactions, where
available. In the absence of observable marketsaetions, fair value is estimated using
discounted cash flow models. Performing loans ameumed, as far as possible, into
homogeneous pools segregated by coupon rates. darale contractual cash flows are
discounted using a rate which is sum of the avislafterest rate which would have been
offered if the customer applied for loan at the efthe reporting period plus the counterparty
marge. The used interest rates are available itighgd Terms and Conditions as of 31
December 2020 and the counterparty marge is alailab the Bank's systems. The
rediscounted cash flows are decreased using setine impairment percentage as it was used
for impairment purpose, and it is considered asvi@ue of the loan portfolio.

Non-performing loans which are assessed for impatnindividually are discounted with
discount factors which are calculated as in casgediorming loans, but that estimated cash
flows of these loans are used for calculation, Whias also used for impairment purpose.

In the case of work-out loans where the Bank expeash flows only from sale of collaterals
and therefore they are impaired to the net presdne of this amount, the fair value is equal
with the carrying amount.

The fair value of Loans and advances to banks armlistomers on demand is not different
from the amounts receivable at the end of the tegpperiod.

Amounts due to other banks and Current and dep@sitounts

For the purposes of estimating fair value, Amouhis to other banks and Current and deposit
accounts are grouped by residual maturity. Faiueslare estimated using discounted cash
flows, applying current rates offered for depositssimilar remaining maturities plus MKB
own credit risk. For determining own credit risk{B — Debit Value Adjustment) the bank
uses the own PD and LGD used also for risk purpedesh is also in line with the DVA
calculation method for negative fair value derived. The fair value of a deposit repayable on
demand is assumed to be the amount payable on deahéime end of the reporting period.

Issued debt securities and Subordinated debt

Fair values are determined using quoted markeepiat the end of the reporting period where
available, or by reference to quoted market prioesimilar instruments plus own credit risk.
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36.

Related parties

The Bank's related parties include the parent congsa subsidiaries, joint ventures,
associates, Key Management Personnel of the Bathktaparent, close family members of
Key Management Personnel, consolidation group antitiess which are controlled, jointly

controlled or significantly influenced, or for whicsignificant voting power is held, by related
parties, Key Management Personnel or their closeiljamembers. Government-related
entities are exempt from the general disclosureedbasn IAS 24.25. Key Management
Personnel are the members of the governing bodrtteedank like Supervisory Board and
the members of the Board of Directors.

Transactions with related parties
Related parties have transacted with the Bank duha period as follows:

36.1

Parent company  Consolidated Non-consolidated . Key Managemeni Other related
Associates

and its group subsidiaries subsidiaries Personnel parties

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2

Assets

Amounts due from other banks 834 - - - - - - - - - -

Loans and advances to customers -15744 175736126 484 1745 1078 - 237 181 370 208
Derivative financial assets - 57 - - - - - - - 372 66
Debt securities 14 109 - 1086 - - - - - -
Equity instruments B - 43764 45606 1503 €86 150 610 - - 137 147
Other assets 65 - 7800 14620 - - - - -
Liabilities

Amounts due to other banks 53433 - - - - - - - - - - -
Current and deposit accounts €71 11342 86222088 854 192 74 149 289 366 3328 431
Derivative finacial liabiities 852 - - - - - - - - - 506 149
Other liabilties 1 - 6423 526 -

Income statement

Interest and similar to interest income 705 270 1277 986 16 24 - 5 4 3 2 1
Interest expense (3€9) (10 (68) (80) 3) - - - - - ) (N
Net income from commissions and fees 193 539 68 121 15 8 64 51 49 2 18 14
Other net income / (expense) (110) (560) (24) (64) (11) (6) 2 (3 (1175) (738) 12 (8)
Contingencies and commitments 10 3 7798 769 8699 2374 1791 - 40 15 1 994 490
Allowances for impairment 5 5636 32595 34784 3934 2462 - 3 1 - 2 1

Significant part of the amount outstanding from Kiklnagement Personnel represents
mortgages and secured loans granted and these &ansecured over property of the
respective borrowers.

The above transactions with other than Key Managemersonnel were made in the ordinary
course of business and on substantially the sammes tencluding interest rates and security, as
for comparable transactions with persons of a ammgtanding. The transactions did not
involve more than the normal risk of repayment.

Other related parties include the interests of K&y Management Personnel and other
investments.

Impairment losses and provisions against balancgstamding with related parties were
recognized during ordinary course of impairmenteasment. Incurred loss has been
recognized on balance sheet items and off balameet §ems with related parties which were
individually or collectively assessed.
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37.

Key management personnel compensation for thegedmprised:

36.2

2020 2019
Short-term employee benefits 691 737
Termination benefits 72 -
Share-based payment transactions 400 450
Total 1163 1187

Segment information

The following segment information has been prepameatcordance with IFRS 8, “Operating
Segments,” which defines requirements for the d@ale of financial information of an
entity’'s operating segments. It follows the “maraget approach”, which requires
presentation of the segments on the basis of teenil reports about components of the entity
which are regularly reviewed by the chief operatioigcision-maker in order to allocate
resources to a segment and to assess its perfamdianagement reporting for the Bank is
based on IFRS presenting the following segments.

Business segments

The business segments identified by the Bank reptethe organizational structure as

reflected in its internal management reporting @yst The Bank is organized into four

business lines, each with its own distinct market products. Each business line has its own
set of objectives and targets broken down by ojeratnits, which are consistent with the

Bank's overall strategic direction.

As of 31 December 2020, the Bank's business segraedttheir main products were:
Corporate Banking

The Bank provides trade finance, a wide array @dity account and deposit products,
forfeiting and factoring, letters of credit, guatess, international payments, project and
structured finance, investment and financial adyiseervices to large entities through
branches and electronic delivery channels.

Institutional Banking

MKB Bank serves financial institutions, financiadrgice companies and other entities with
financial services, as well as international andhéstic payments, the Treasury department
deals with investments in securities, hedging &atisns and correspondent banking services,
the Bank participates in bank-to-bank finance.

Retail and Private Banking
The Bank provides a wide range of deposit and gavinstrument, credit and debit cards,
portfolio management, and a limited number of lpaoducts to high net worth individuals

and entrepreneurs through 51 full-service branares sub-branches (2019: 51 branches),
ATMs, telephone and electronic channels.
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Other

Residual items which cannot be directly allocatedbtisiness segments (mainly general

administration expense) are included in the Oth&zgory.

37.1

31 December 2020

Note

Corporate

Banking

Retail and
Private Banking

Institutional

Banking Other Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and advances to banks

Derivative financial assets

Securities

Loans and advances to customers

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinpedations
Other assets

Current income tax assets

Deferred tax assets

Investments in jointly controlled entities and asates
Intangibles, property and equipment

Total assets
Liabilties

Amounts due to other banks
Deposits and current accounts
Derivate financial liabiities
Other liabiities and provisions
Issued debt securities
Subordinated debt
Shareholders' equity

Total liabilities
Income statement

Interest and similar to interest income

Interest expense

Net income from commissions and fees

Other Income

(Impairment) / Reversal and provision for losses
Operating expense

Expense related to bank levies

Segment result
Other information

Capital expenditure
Depreciation and amortisation

23
13
14

15

17
18
19
20
21,22

24
25
26
27
28
29
27

14

103/150

82187
861 557
504

944 248

1476 656

39 076

1515732

15423

(1033)

13982
6822

(4242)
(18 658)

12 294

- 294 183 - 294 183
- 83 558 - 83 558
- 23 262 - 23 262
1091 840 - 1174027
244 685 - - 1106242
- - - 504
- - 15149 15149
- - 1418 1418
- - 6707 6707
- - 48373 48373
- - 39213 39213
244 685 1492843 110860 2 792 634
- 574 825 - 574 825
400 798 - 1877 454
- 35 406 - 35 406
3331 - 12503 54910
- 2343 - 2343
- 44724 - 44724
- - 202974 202974
404 129 657 298 215477 2792 634
10 496 25 762 (786) 50 895
(49) (25 236) 1330 (24 989)
6375 3374 - 23731
1527 16 889 (17 472) 7766
(3 044) (134) 216 (7 204)
(17 063) (3 168) (2713)  (41602)
- - (1645  (1645)
(1758) 17487  (21070) 6 953

- - 18 027 18 027
- - 5352 5352
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Corporate Retail and Institutional

31 December 2019 Other Total

Banking Private Banking Banking

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 - - 55 388 - 55 388
Loans and advances to banks 8 - - 62 392 - 62 392
Derivative financial assets 9 - - 18 193 - 18193
Securities 10 34079 - 566 815 - 600 894
Loans and advances to customers 11 694 399 229 539 - - 923938
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued opesati 38 3930 145 - 4075
Other assets 12 - - 14 256 14 256

Deferred tax assets 23 - - - 7718 7718

Investments in jointly controlled entities and asates 13 - - - 46 708 46 708

Intangibles, property and equipment 14 - - - 38439 38439

Total assets 732 408 229 684 702 788 107 576 1772 459

Liabiities

Amounts due to other banks 15 - - 195 683 - 195 683
Deposits and current accounts 16 902 680 334 580 - 1237 260
Derivate financial liabilties 17 - - 44 263 - 44 263
Other liabilties and provisions 18 848 - - 60 135 60 983

Issued debt securities 19 - - 1331 - 1331
Subordinated debt 21 - - 39 381 - 39381
Shareholders' equity 21,22 - - - 193 555 193 555

Total liabilities 903 528 334 580 280 658 253690 1772 45¢

Income statement

Interest and simiar to interest income 24 13 689 9 696 30043 3499 56 927

Interest expense 25 (314) (72) (17 410) (1212) (19 008)
Net income from commissions and fees 26 17 456 7594 2321 - 27371
Other Income 27 6 037 1417 17 840 (11 807) 13 487

(Impairment) / Reversal and provision for losses 28 (2 920) 6 745 (6) 208 4027
Operating expense 29 (18 188) (16 466) (3061) (1 875) (39 590)
Expense related to bank levies 27 - - (1875) (1875)
Segment result 15 760 8914 29727 (13 062) 41 339

Other information

Capital expenditure - 14 586 - 9 459 24 045
Depreciation and amortisation 14 - - - 4647 4 647

Measurement of segment profit or loss

Segment reporting under IFRS 8 requires a presentaf the segment results based on
management reporting methods with reconciliatiomwben the results of the business
segments and the separate financial statementsnfidmmation provided about each segment
is based on the internal reports about segmenit ppofloss, assets and other information
which are regularly reviewed by the chief operatiegision maker.

Calculation of intersegment revenue

Intersegment revenues and expenses are calculatethiixet interest method. In the case of
refinanced loans, as well as those linked to a sigpare evaluated against the connected
transaction. Revenues and expenses on refinaneed land loans linked to deposit are
calculated with reference to the interest of theaulying transaction.

Since the Bank’s business activities are diversaature and its operations are integrated,
certain estimates and judgments have been madepmrt®mn revenue and expense items
among the business segments.

Both revenues and non-current assets can be cednéctdomestic activities based on
geographical location.
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38.

39.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinuecperations

In the first half of 2019, the key management & Bank decided to sale a loan portfolio of
HUF 43,213 million (related loss allowances of HBE,878 million), which resulted in a
reclassification of HUF 10,335 million of loanstield for sale. The Agreement of receivables
assignment was signed in the third quarter of 20b@. buyer paid up the total price of HUF
9,022 million. On 31 December 2019 the net amodimiom-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations was HUF 4,075 million (grealue of HUF 13,274 million, relating
loss allowances of HUF 9,036 million).

On 31 December 2020, a loan-portfolio in net amadiUF 504 million was reclassified to
non-current assets held for sale (gross value df B1975 million, relating loss allowances of
HUF 2,471 million).

Non-current assets held for sale and assets abititiés discontinued operation include the
followings:

38.1
2020 PAONRS

Assets
Loans and advances to customers 504 4 075
Total assets 504 4 074

Government grants

The NBH launched its three-pillar Funding for Growécheme (FGS) on 1 June 2013,
primarily to stimulate lending to small and medigmed enterprises. Under Pillar | and Il of
the FGS the NBH provided refinancing loans to driedititutions participating in the Scheme,
at 0 per cent interest rate and with a maximum nigtaf 10 years, which were lent further
by the credit institutions to the SMEs with a capppgerest margin.

Under Pillar | of the Scheme investment and curessiet loans, EU subsidy financing, and
loan refinancing denominated in Hungarian Forintlddoe carried out. Pillar 1l of the Scheme
aimed to reduce the ratio of SME’s foreign curretmgns, allowing conversion of foreign
currency loans to forint loans.

On 11 September 2013 the Monetary Council decidezbhtinue the Scheme, and launched
the second phase, which was available until 31 Déee 2016.

On 16 March 2015, the NBH launched FGS Plus Prognararder to improve access credit
facility of small and medium-sized enterprises pantticipating in FGS so far.

On 6 October 2015, the Monetary Council decideldtmch the third phase of FGS — aiming
at the gradual ending of the program. The thirdspheonsists of two Pillars, in Pillar Il a
market priced EUR / HUF swap transaction (CIRS)niked to the refinancing denominated
in Hungarian Forint, which allows credit instituti® lending in foreign currency — without any
currency risk —to SMEs having natural foreign enay hedge.
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The NBH intends to improve the structure of doneeSME lending through the NHP Fixed
Income Facility, by improving access to long-tefired-rate loans for SMEs, which will be
part of the NHP, starting January 1, 2019. Under NP Fix program, the NBH provides
credit institutions with a null per cent intereste refinancing loan for a maximum of 10
years, which they further lend to SMEs in the farfrioans or financial leases at a limited
interest rate up to 2.5% per annum.

In order to alleviate the negative economic effaftthe COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic
and to avoid credit market disruptions, on 20 A@0R20, the NBH launched the FGS Go
construction, which is part of the FGS Program. Tiimit of the new program was set by the
Monetary Council at HUF 1,500 billion. On 17 Novesnb2020, the Monetary Council

decided to increase the limit of the program by HLBOO0 billion to HUF 2,500 billion.

Under the Program the NBH provides refinancing $o#m credit institutions, at O per cent
interest rate and with a maximum maturity of 20rge@n case of specified working capital
loans and subsidy pre-financing loans, the matwdfitihe refinancing loans can be maximum
3 years), which are lent further by the credititnsibns to the SMEs with a capped annual
costs and they also refinance financial enterpfizethe same purpose.

MKB Bank participated in all phases of the Scheam] lent HUF 432,690 million loan to
SME'’s since the beginning of the program, with ateiiest rate of 2.5% and EUR 56 million
in course of the third phase. Until 31 December(202UF 114,823 million was disbursed
under the FGS Go construction. In the fourth quaofe2019 the Bank has finished the
acquisition of HUF 7,000 million Hungarian Developnt Bank’s loan portfolio related to
FGS at NBH.

The loans lent as part of FGS are measured at @euitost at MKB Bank, however at initial
recognition the difference between the carrying @maand the fair value of the loans and
parallel of the NBH funds denominated in HUF wa$eded to Other assets (HUF 18,194
million) and to Other liabilities (HUF 19,623 mibin), which is amortised to Profit and loss
during the term of the loans. This difference wasgah by the gap between the market interest
rate and the subsidized rate.

The fair value of the loans denominated in HUF amted to HUF 146,043 million as of 31
December 2020 (2019: HUF 86,541 million).

MKB Bank joined Market Loan Program - called PHBn-19 January 2016 that is aimed at
stimulating the banks’ transition towards lending market terms, and to continue to
encourage banks to grant loans to SMEs. At the $eneg the NBH also started to phase out
the NHP Il program.

MKB Bank undertook a HUF 25 billion growth in thetnvolume of SME lending in 2016
concerning Market-based Lending Scheme (PHP), wihicteased by HUF 5 billion in 2017
in the framework of the second phase of PHP. TheedlKB concluded HIRS transactions
with NBH in a total amount of HUF 120 billion.
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40.

Events after the end of the reporting period

On February 26, 2021 MKB Bank Nyrt. purchased 1Gff%hares of Es Ertékpapirositasi
Tanacsado Zrt. from Budapest Stock Exchange Ltda Assult of the transaction MKB Bank
has become the sole shareholder of the Company.

The employment relationship of dr. Andras Csapé, freputy CEO for Legal, Corporate
Governance, Group Management and Priority Dealstlag@fore his internal membership in
the Board of Directors was terminated as of 3 M&@B1 with mutual consent. The CEO of
the Company appointed dr. llona Torok as Head ef @EQ’s Cabinet in Deputy CEO
position with the effect of the receipt of the rkelat approval of the National Bank of
Hungary.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT
to the separate 2020 Financial Statements of

MKB Bank Nyrt. (Prepared under IFRS)

In 2020, the scope of activities of MKB Bank Nyrt. comprised the following sectors:

banking services

finance and operating leases
financial and investment services
other loans

MKB Bank’s profit after taxation for 2020 under IFRS amounted to HUF 6,232 million gain.

Shareholders’ equity was HUF 202,974 million at 2020 year-end.

Budapest, 30 March 2021

// £

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

The following section of the Annual Report providesliscussion and analysis of the Bank’s
financial condition and results of operations sdoakelp the reader to assess any changes in
the financial condition and profits for the year2R0The forthcoming analyses are based on
figures reported in the Bank's separate financtatesnents prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as tbpy the EU (“IFRS”) as at, and for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020 and auditddeboitte Konyvvizsgald és Tanacsado
Kft. chartered accountants. On this basis, theudision focuses on the performance of the
Bank. The separate financial statements prepareacaordance with IFRS are presented
separately.

OPEARTING ENVIRONMENT
International macroeconomic environment

Although optimistic expectations were observed arlye 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak
caused a sudden shock in the global economy: dilre toature of the pandemic, the treatment
method was the partial or complete shutdown of ectes. The world's economies suffered a
significant, in many cases record decline in Q2®R@2g. euro area: -14.7%, US: -9.0%, yoy).
After the recovery in Q3, the second (autumn-winteave of epidemics led to a decline in
performance of the world economic in Q4, althoughto the same extent as in the spring.

Governments around the world have provided fistaludus, while central banks (e.g. ECB,
Fed) have supported economies during the pandeitiicasset purchases and lower interest
rates, which provided significant support to thecgs of financial assets. At the end of the
year, the appearance of vaccinations also increggthiism among economic, financial and
capital market participants.

In addition to the COVID-19 pandemic, the critiggdue of the 2020 year was the UK’s exit
from the European Union. The Brexit Agreement wasctuded on 24 December, creating a
free trade agreement between the parties basedityn ahd quota-free access. The United
Kingdom withdrew from the EU at the end of 2020.

Another highlight of 2020 was the US presidentiacgon, where Democratic candidate Joe
Biden won the presidency. In addition to the HoosBepresentatives, Democrats also have a
majority in the Senate, giving the new presidemiuch greater opportunity to carry out his
programs.

Hungarian macroeconomic environment

The COVID-19 pandemic and the accompanying resteianeasures have driven domestic
economic performance. The domestic economy fellg% (y/y) in Q2 2020. The economic
reopening and recovery after the spring epideme avso reflected in Q3 data, with growth of
11.4% on a quarterly basis (yoy: -4.6%). The Q4&quarance was marked by the second,
autumn wave of the epidemic (-3.7%, raw data, y@®»erall, domestic GDP fell by 5.0% in

2020 compared to 2019. Danube Capital's Quarterderdeconomic Outlook for December
2020 projected a 4.5% economic growth in Hungary2@®1.

The situation caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, rawtting economic performance,
weaker tax revenues, and government rescue packeyesled to a surge in the general
government deficit. As a result, gross governmegiitchs a share of GDP also increased,
reaching 81% by the end of 2020 (end of 2019: 6%.5%
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Inflation dynamics were also driven by the pandemi020. However, after figures above
4% at the beginning of the year the indicator redibetween 2-4% for the rest of the year.
Inflation averaged 3.3% in 2020. Meanwhile, intépréce pressures remained high, with core
inflation averaging 4.1% on an annual basis. Logkitead, Danube Capital forecasted in
December 2020 that in 2021 the domestic headliitation rate may slow to 3.1% while core

inflation may slow to 3.6%.

The MNB has introduced several old and new monepaticy instruments to mitigate the
economic effects of the pandemic. Key steps: onekveemmercial bank deposit facility was
relaunched, the central bank initiated and maiethia government securities and mortgage
bond purchase program, started a long-term sedoaedprogram, expanded the Funding for
Growth Scheme (FGS) and introduced adjustmentéoBond Funding for Growth Scheme.
Furthermore, the MNB reduced the central bank lbatefrom 0.90% to 0.60% in two steps
during the summer of 2020.

Yields were virtually unchanged in the Hungariarvegymment securities market until the
beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic. Following theauncement of the emergency, there
was a larger increase in yields, followed by a i§icgnt drop in yields in Q2 (due to the
MNB's programs and the improvement in global seatith the 10-year domestic government
securities yield essentially closed 2020 at thelle¥ the beginning of the year, but meanwhile
showed significant fluctuations (between 1.8-3.3%).

Overview of the banking sectot

2020 was the year of COVID-19, which resulted inederated digitalization, state-subsidized
credit programs and a payment moratorium in the&ibgrsector. In March 2020, the COVID-
19 epidemic also required banks to adjust theiiness operations in a couple of days, for
which they have not been prepared in advance. Agghan customer needs and life situations,
put pressure on customers and employees, too. kiamks have introduced home office and
only the most necessary employees were allowedaik w1 the office considering health
aspects. As a result of the pandemic, almost evieythas shifted to the digital space; hence,
digitalisation developments have accelerated infitrencial sector as well, and banks have
strengthened their online services and internatgsses one by one.

However, this crisis is different from 2008, as kanwvere now much more prepared
financially. They have met the challenges by theowavirus epidemic with strengthened
capital positions. Banks played an important ralstimulating the economy in 2020 through
government-subsidized loans (NHP Hajr4, Exim Corspgon Loan, Széchenyi Card

Program, MFB Crisis Program) and by paying the offiespecial tax. In terms of banking

sector results, the year was characterized bygrisjperating income and rising costs and
significant provisioning / impairment.

According to the preliminary, prudential data oé tHungarian National Bank, the net profit
measured in 2020 was HUF 390 billion, which meandearease of almost 44 percent
compared to 2019. The interest income increasediA#po6, while fee and commission income
grew by 1.4%, due to the expanding HUF 60,609drill{+ 22.5%) assets and exchange rate
effects. The loan portfolio increased by 22.7 petresd deposits by 25.3 percent compared to
the 2019 audited data. During the year, due toet@nomic impact of the coronavirus
epidemic and the repayment moratorium it was a mapairment and loan loss
provisioning, which increased nearly threefold, HB%¥9 billion in 2020 compared to HUF
103 billion in 2019. Operating expenses show arese of 6.3 percent based on preliminary

! Source: NBH
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data for 2020, which is the result of potentialtc@gluctions from home office and health
measures due to the pandemic, as well as cost @Wekdediue to significant digital
developments.

In terms of digitalisation, perhaps the timing vessential considering the introduction of the
instant payment system during the spring that eckatnew era. This generated opportunities
for several pioneering developments throughoutytee. These include payment requests and
QR code payments, but also required significamuees to prepare for the introduction of
strict customer authentication related to the P$iPactives. New mobile applications and
mobile payment solutions became available, butovibanking services and appointment
booking systems also appeared. The range of predtent be ordered online has also
expanded, which are also increasingly acceptedibtpmers.

PERFORMANCE OF THE BANK IN 2020

The Bank (separate) IFRStotal assets — increasing with more than a thalbdlion HUF

or 57.6% — amounted to HUF 2,792.6 billion at tinel @ 2020. The portfolio of customer
loans increased by 19.7% to HUF 1,106.2 billionjlevbustomer deposits rose by 51.7% to
HUF 1,877.4 billion. MKB Bank's profitability in ZZD was under pressure from the economic
downturn caused by COVID-19: profit after tax fidlHUF 6.2 billion after last year's profit
of HUF 42.0 billion.

The Bank's financial and business fundamentaldudinty capitalisation, liquidity, funding
structure, balance sheet structure and the perfarenaf its business lines, are stable.

PERFORMANCE OF THE INDIVIDUAL BUSINESS LINES 2
Retail segment

In 2020, the pandemic situation changed the cusgirpesvious expectations and habits in a
high number of areas; under the changed circumssargreater emphasis than before was
placed in Retail sales on expert consulting anghsupprovided to customers, be it liquidity
management, crisis loans, a moratorium or digahlteons providing remote access.

The Bank continued the developments started eamwbich focus on quality customer
service, customer experience enhancement, lendidgttee premium segment, thus further
increasing the market share of MKB Bank's RetailsiBess Line even under the
circumstances changed due to the pandemic.

MKB achieved outstanding results in the area ofdasing the number of customers in the
premium segment and their managed assets due téathdhat customer contacts with
focused, elaborated value proposals and the deweloipof a premium consulting system
providing greater added value continued also in02@3 a result, the business line achieved
more than 50% growth in the number of Premium ausets and 41% in managed assets. Due
to sample portfolio-based investment consulting, portfolio of open-end investment funds
of MKB-Panndnia Alapkezél Zrt. increased by 17% in the premium segment, héurt
increasing the diversification of its customers/dstments.

In the area of retail lending, the Bank also perfed better than planned in mortgage and
Prenatal Babavarg loans and, as an important step in consumer ngndi personal loan

2 Source: NBH, KAVOSZ, Eximbank, MFB, MKB’s own cailation
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product that can be applied for also online wasbthiced, with an offer for a specific loan
amount after pre-qualification by the Bank.

In 2020, special emphasis was placed on the foliGeand support of customers in the small
business segment. The Bank offers its customenardear of solutions that help them with
their day-to-day banking, liquidity management dackign exchange transactions, all this
with a focus on the circumstances created by thegraic. MKB Bank was among the first to
introduce a wide range of new subsidised loans fakieurable reception of which is also
demonstrated by the loan volumes placed in the eegm

Despite the difficulties caused by the pandemigasion, the Bank remained committed to
carrying out developments that enable it to gremityease its customers’ sense of comfort
and security.

The Bank completed the transition to the ImmedR&gment System by the deadline, and
banking operations have been smooth ever sinceB@ihk's customers received the available
additional services positively. One third of thansactions qualifying as immediate payment
were initiated and executed outside working hours.

Loan repayment moratorium was implemented in theors® quarter. Moratorium
participation at the end of 2020 was 49.95% ofl t@til exposures.

Back in the second quarter of 2020, the Bank statie development of a digital customer
queue management call system in its branch netwwhich enables customers to take
queuing numbers and to make appointments onling thinimising waiting times at the
branch, avoiding possible queuing and waiting théree extension of the new customer call
service to the entire branch network was completdte first quarter of 2021, thus enabling
customers at all branches to take queuing numinelsoamake appointments remotely.

The Bank drew the attention of customers to thesipoiy of using alternative channels, and

a number of information leaflets were preparedcatlitate the use of electronic channels. The
VideoBank service was launched, which allows custsmafter their remote identification, to

use a number of services without visiting the bhartme it retail transactions, opening a
securities account or handling matters involvin@kiiousiness cards.

From the end of the first quarter of 2020, thedtintis of the branch network were greatly
affected by the international and national healttergency arising in connection with the
pandemic. In order to protect customers and empgyée branch network operated in
compliance with the conditions of safe and resgmastustomer service at the branches
throughout the vyear, in accordance with the themecti government measures and
regulations. In addition to the still wide-rangiagd continuously expanding options allowing
customers to handle their matters online, MKB Baohktinues to provide personal customer
service at 51 branches nationwide.

MKB Bank’s branch network development strategyasdd on the continuous improvement
of the standard of customer service, in which piimg an as efficient and convenient
customer service as possible plays a key role. thttap market conditions and the pandemic
situation, the Bank continued to modernise andvat®its branch customer service areas in
2020. As a result, the full renovation of the SzZshtan tér Branch was completed, creating a
Premium customer centre, which also presents thst radvanced digital facilities and
provides outstanding customer experience.

Aiming at a high level of customer service, bramaiwork training was transformed and

expanded in 2020. Both training aimed to develdpssand soft skills and segment-specific
training became available online for the branchwoek staff. Also, adapting to the current
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pandemic situation, the on-site sales support énkfanch network was placed on a new
footing. A comprehensive and full sales dynamisapioogramme was introduced to increase
the quality of customer service and to enhancebousst experience.

In 2020, similarly to previous years, the strategpoperation between MKB Bank and CIG
Pannonia Insurers continued, so pension, investrisktand health insurance products were
available in the Bank’s branch network, enablingtomers to diversify their investment
portfolios. Due to the economic effects of the mangt, 2020 was also a special year in
insurance sales. In the case of regular premiugidigurance, the Bank achieved 70% of its
performance in the previous year and 119% in tilse cfsingle premium products. The Euro-
based Gravis Single Premium Life Insurance intredua April 2020 efficiently contributed
to the latter result.

On 1 December 2020, CIG Panndnia Eletbiztositd .Niyitoduced its new service, Pannénia
SelfID, which made remote identification and diggagnature possible in the sales process.
The service aimed to create fast, convenient, ilmcanhdependent sales, thereby improving
both the efficiency and regulated operation of iasae sales and the continuous enhancement
of customer experience, making completely papertiggal customer service available.

In the sale of home insurance, tiKE (Home, Garden and Value) product of Aegon
Magyarorszag Altalanos Biztosité Zrt. is still dable in MKB Bank’s branch network.
Furthermore, taking out insurance online on MKB Banwebsite became possible, so
customers can take out home insurance convenievitlyout visiting a branch.

The brokerage sales channel was able to achiendicayt development in 2020 in both retail
and small business sales compared to the previeais $ales through cooperation with our
partners also increased in absolute value andbjpoption to the branch network.

On the retail side, the temporary decline in theosd quarter associated with the pandemic
was not only compensated for in the rest of the,\lea was also exceeded. In the case of
retail mortgage loans, the volume of brokerages@ations exceeded 42%.

On the small business side, the demand for softsldatroduced by the government to
stimulate the economy and to save jobs increaseckmibly, with brokers catalysing the
process, the result of which was also reflectedthi@ volume of loans disbursed. The
achievement of the results was facilitated by treasares that put online solutions at the
forefront of partner communication and administnatas well and reduced personal meetings
to the most necessary level.

Efforts to improve cooperation with our partner2020 proved successful; therefore, MKB
Bank plans to continue the developments launcheatder to be able to further increase its
share in the brokerage market.

Digital products and channels

The implementation of the digital strategy and thegital transformation of the customer

experience continued also in 2020, in which MKBtgmary goal was to enhance customer
experience, to introduce new digital products am@xpand cooperation with its partners. It
managed to appear with a new function on everymélaand a new alternative channel was
also introduced, and the Bank also took a big Biegpe area of digital sales. The pandemic
situation significantly transformed consumer habétiso diverted customers who were less
receptive previously to handle their matters dibjiteo the digital channel, further increased

the number of active users of the channels andaalselerated our digital developments. The
Bank strives for harmonising the channels, develp@ervice packages that provide real
value creation and their integration into the coscs’ lives.
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At the beginning of 2020, the VideoBank serviceilatde to retail and corporate customers,
where they can use the service after video chatifa=tion, was introduced at record speed.
Among other things, MKB VideoBank also providesistsgice in opening securities accounts,
applying for a SZEP Card, advising small businessesfiltering loans and handling matters
related to day-to-day banking, and the range ofices is continuously expanding.

The number of users of the MKB Mobile Applicatiortieased by more than 20%, customers
actively use it in their day-to-day banking, ané fossibility of applying for a pre-qualified
personal loan in the mobile application was laudcHue to the development, pre-qualified
customers using MKB’s mobile application can accgwe-assessed loan amount of up to
HUF 2 million with a few clicks, using their smalnigne. During the development, customers
were involved with the help of the Bank Group’samation centre, MKB Fintechlab, in order
to provide customers with a digital solution thataictually adapted to their own user needs.
The development of the service, in order to furttehance customer experience, will also
continue based on customer feedback. In additien Apple Pay service became available in
September for all bank cards issued by MKB Banloktlie first time in Hungary for the
Széchenyi Card, too.

The Bank completed the transition to the ImmedRagment System by the deadline, and
banking operations have been smooth ever sinceB@ihk's customers received the available
additional services positively. One third of thansactions qualifying as immediate payment
were initiated and executed outside working hours.

The Bank also introduced new features in the afedigitisation in the branch service; a

digital customer call system was introduced, wharmables customers to take queuing
numbers and to make appointments online, thus adtpthe minimisation of waiting times at

the branch, which significantly enhanced custompedence during the pandemic.

In addition to the digital developments providingmote service, the ATM network was
renewed: the Bank replaced the previous devicds w@iichscreen, modern machines, which
provide premium experience.

In addition to digital developments, it is to bamied out that the Bank’s digital capabilities

also developed significantly, and the role of dediginking, UX design and agile product

development grew rapidly. These methodologies aaquhldilities are essential to actively

engage customers already in the research, destgmarket launch of products and services
and to enable the Bank to respond quickly to tleevgrg challenges of the digital world.

MKB SZEP Card

The operation of the MKB SZEP Card in 2020 was amdntally determined by the spread of
the COVID-19 virus and the government measuresntakecurb it: in order to encourage
SZEP Card-based employer benefits, employers haem exempted from paying social
contribution tax since 22 April 2020 (until 30 JuB@21); the restrictive measures taken to
protect health significantly reduced SZEP Card asagApril and May and at the end of the
year. However, between the two emergency periodsully and August), MKB SZEP Card
usage rose to record highs.

Within the use of SZEP Cards, the weight of on[sagment increased significantly in 2020,
and since October 2020 it has also been possildpdn an MKB SZEP Card account online
using the MKB VideoBank service.

All in all, the MKB SZEP Card achieved outstandingsults in’ 2020, too; almost all
parameters of the product exceeded those in 2@IR0Q0 MKB SZEP Cardholders received
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nearly HUF 28.6 billion in employer benefits in Z0through 1.5 million transactions, and
SZEP Cardholders spent nearly HUF 23.6 billion @2 through 5.3 million transactions.
Cardholders financed 71% of their SZEP Card expefrsen the catering pocket, 19% from
the accommodation pocket and 10% from the leisaoket.

The assets on MKB SZEP Card accounts approached M8 billion on average over the
year. Cardholders can now use their cards to pag atany as 28,000 acceptance points.

Corporate and institutional customers

Based on its traditional strengths, MKB’s ongoirtgategic goal is to maintain a strong
corporate business line. The busines line focusek@al knowledge, professional service,
consulting-based sales and the provision of inneeaolutions.

MKB does not simply sell products to its customdmgt provides comprehensive business
solutions and advice, sets up comprehensive lohanses if necessary and meets special
banking needs. MKB is able to provide efficientwsians to all players in the corporate
segment, regardless of customer size.

In order to further develop the customer lifecyiobssed approach, the Bank devoted
significant resources also in 2020 to further ofdting product development processes and
models, including allocating extra resources tergithen digitisation solutions in response to
the challenge posed by the pandemic.

Business demand for loans declined in the initiays of the pandemic and then it gradually
began increasing in the second half of the yearBMikhoothly introduced the various new
subsidised and refinanced loans and surety progesnintluded in the economic stimulus
package. Interest in the new schemes was contiyugisving. They have been very popular
since their introduction, with a significant wiliness to borrow, which firstly gives a boost to
the economy and secondly also helps the survivabafpanies in difficulty. In the MNB'’s

NHP Hajra Programme, the Bank managed to achiewaimtanding market share of 8.8%.

Loan repayment moratorium was quickly implementedthe second quarter to ease off
pressure on customers’ liquidity and profitabilikforatorium participation at the end of 2020
was 27.91% of total corporate exposures.

Retaining portfolios remains one of MKB’s top pitas, with maintaining its strong market
positions and a diversified loan portfolio and aWog the build-up of considerable risk,
industry or customer concentration.

The Bank considered its small and medium-sizedrprise (SME) customer base as a key
segment also in 2020, in which increasing prodedigtration was a priority task.

Strong customer base of MKB Group allowed for rapigstomer deposit increase. Non-
financial corporate deposit volume increased 21#p6 to HUF 943.7 billion (HUF +169.7
billion p/p), while market share increased 61 bipstp 7.8%.

MKB Bank is still an active participant in the Shéayi Programme. In 2020, the portfolio
placed by the Bank under the Széchenyi ProgrammseHit: 38.2 billion, which represents a
market share of 7.0%.

The Bank has traditionally maintained close codjp@mavith Eximbank in order to enable as
many customers as possible to benefit from theiaricing sources. In terms of the
performance of the Hungarian economy, foreign tiadetop priority, since nearly 90% of the
GDP comes from exports, to which not only exportérg also suppliers organised around
exports and companies only now appearing on therexparket also contribute. The Bank is
particularly proud to have been awarded the ‘SMiaRcier of the Year 2019’ recognition in
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2020 for supporting representatives of the SMEasewith EXIM loans and for the highest
funding volume disbursed to the SME segment in 2MBB’s market share for Exim
products was outstanding at 9.3%.

Investment services

In order to serve customer needs at a higher lewe?020 the Bank continued to further
expand the range of investment funds it offerede fdsult of joint work with MKB-Panndnia
Alapkezeb Zrt., considered a strategic partner, is that‘Mew World Fund Family’ was
launched, which wishes to respond to today’s imaest needs. During the year, the Bank
entered into a strategic agreement with Diéfa Aéal Zrt., which aims to make a wider
range of investment opportunities in the domestiopprty market available to MKB's
customers.

Of course, COVID-19 also had a strong impact onpldgormance of investment products,
but it can be said that the losses incurred ab#ggnning of the year were eliminated by the
end of the year and most funds closed 2020 witbs#tipe performance for the whole year.
Also in view of the ongoing situation due to COVID; the Bank was continuously
expanding the range of services that can also tesaed without a personal meeting. One of
the important stages of this is that Customersrmam open a securities account through the
VideoBank service introduced during the year.

In addition to sales in investment funds, the saileRetaill Government Securities and
certificates was also outstanding during 2020.

MKB'’s Capital Markets and Transaction Consultingdtion was one of the key investment
service providers of the Growth Bond Programme (INKEIRBo in 2020: it participated in five
successful bond issues, the total value of whielelred HUF 46.5 billion. In addition, it also
participated in the preparation and execution dfitamhal transactions and continued to act as
a Designated Adviser on the Xtend market of thedpedt Stock Exchange.

Private Banking

MKB Private Banking was able to increase its pdidfof managed assets by around over 5%
also in 2020. In terms of the volume of manageetagser customer, its business line is still
the market leader among domestic service providatswon the first place at the Private
Banking Hungary award ceremony in this categoryadidition to this recognition, MKB
Private Banking also earned the Business Line [D@eglof the Year award due to its still
market-leading bank card portfolio, the developmeinits investment consulting activities
and the professional training of its consultingffstaA staff member of MKB’s Private
Banking business line also earned the Junior RriBdnker of the Year award. MKB'’s
product development did not stop, and a new, iat@nally highly recognised partner joined
its structured bond distribution.

COVID-19 created unprecedented business conditionwhich MKB Private Banking was
able to cope. At the beginning of the second quattie operation of MKB and all its services
were completely switched to smooth telework, frolmcl a flexible return to office work is
also possible if necessary. Of course, customefgios were affected by extraordinary price
movements, but due to the typically long-term iniresnt horizons, the Bank did not change
the compositions significantly. The total risk egpee of the portfolios increased moderately
in the second quarter (and remained at a highet teil the end of the year) due to attractive
entry opportunities for certain products. The humbieMKB Private Banking customers is
stable, having increased slightly during the year.
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SUBSIDIARIES / STRATEGIC ARRANGEMENTS AND PARTNERS

The range of MKB’s own banking products and sewicsesupplemented by those provided
by its subsidiaries and partners. The key objestivelude maintaining or enhancing the
market positions of the subsidiaries engaged irinlbgs activities, increasing cooperation
among the members of the Group and strengthenengukiliary financial services.

SUBSIDIARIES?®
MKB Euroleasing Group

As one of the leading domestic leasing companiesMKB-Euroleasing Group was not only
able to remain an outstandingly active player,vas also able to finance its customers to an
extent greater than the pre-planned sales volurtteeiextremely difficult year 2020.

The MKB-Euroleasing Group continued to achieve arstanding market share, mainly in the
area of motor vehicle and agricultural machinemyaficing, as in previous years, but in
addition to these segments, it also provides arfuige of services to its customers in the area
of large commercial vehicle and general machinggmicing.

The goal of the MKB-Euroleasing Group is to builgpa@tfolio that is diversified in terms of
both risk and business, taking into account boéhfiancing segments and the portfolio of
contracts built within the segments. This strategy ensure stable, low-risk and profitable
operations in the long run.

The MKB-Euroleasing Group was able to increase sime of the portfolio under its
management also in 2020, which greatly contribtdebe further improvement of operational
efficiency.

The strategic goal of the MKB-Euroleasing Group a@m to further strengthen its market

share achieved and its status as a leading domlesising company. Its stable market
presence is due, in addition to the continuous ldpweent of the existing trader and importer
relations, to the establishment of new ones. Furtbee, the Group wishes to remain a leading
player also in the development and introductiomobvative digital solutions in the future as

well, in terms of serving both its customers andras.

MKB Consulting

Transformed into a private limited company in 20RIKB Consulting was at the service of
its corporate, public administration and higher @dion customers with a comprehensive
consulting portfolio, despite COVID-19. It providextlvice to businesses primarily on the
preparation and implementation of investment andwation and R&D projects.

One of the main focuses in 2020 was the digitisatiboperational processes. As a result of
the COVID-19 global pandemic, customer relationsenvalso maintained at Consulting
through digital channels, electronic signaturesewiatroduced and, in addition, the digital
transformation of a number of processes was alpteimented.

% Source: Hungarian Leasing Association, BAMOSZ
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In addition to digitisation, MKB Consulting also rdad out significant developments in

respect of human resources: several expert stafédothe agricultural and food industry

function, which is expected to play an even biggde in 2021. As a result of fundraising

advice provided to cities of county rank and vasi@mapital fund management companies,
programmes that generate a significant wave ofldpugent in some rural regions and certain
sectors could be launched.

MKB Consulting also closed successful projects G2@ within its operational development
consulting activities based on its CELONIS proaggmisation software and, in addition, at
the end of the year it was also awarded a graptUs 133 million for the implementation of a
digital product development project.

MKB Consulting starts 2021 with expanded consult#ggvices and a strengthened team of
experts, as well as digital processes that ai@énwith the needs of the 21st century.

MKB-Pannonia Alapkezelé Zrt. - MKB-Panndnia Fund Management

In 2020, the epidemic situation caused by COVIDaE® decisive in the activities of MKB-
Pannonia AlapkezélZrt. both on the operational and investment sfde.the operational
side, there was no any disruption due to the greskonse, and on the investment side, the
Fund Management reacted extremely successfully aokeh events. As a result, MKB-
Panndnia achieved record business results in 2@2@xceeded all previous years.

On the product development side, MKB-Panndnia haadhed two new ESG funds to meet
growing demands. In 2020, the documentation ofstment funds was standardized and the
new registration system was implemented. The ashkabént of a real estate fund
management business line has started in the sdwalficbf the year. As a result, MKB-
Pannonia’s first real estate investment fund wéllldunched in April 2021.

On 31 December 2020, the Fund Management managedlanet investment of HUF 609
billion, which means a 7% market share. Within tiisnanages the investments of HUF 197
billion in 38 mutual funds, 76 thousand clientsd anithin the portfolio management it
manages investments totalling HUF 412 billion fofudds, 3 insurance companies and 4
other clients. MKB-Pannénia Fund Management isséaond in the ranking of pension fund
asset managers (in terms of assets under management

Danube Capital R&A Zrt.

During 2019, a dedicated competence in economidysinBaand market research was
established within the MKB Financial Group with tbstablishment of Danube Capital R&A
Zrt. In addition to its analysis activities, it egs company managers and owners in making
business decisions with regular professional pabbos. During 2020, Danube Capital
published 182 professional blog posts, which gardr&6,000 views in total. During more
than a year of operation, Danube Capital’s profesditeam supported the customers of MKB
Financial Group with comprehensive company valumgtisectoral and macroeconomic
analyses as well as market research and consulting.

MKB Inkubator Kft. - MKB Fintechlab
The year 2020 played a key role in the life andettgyment of MKB Fintechlab. As part of

the digital business development function, MKB Eattlab greatly contributes to the adoption
of the Bank’s digital capabilities and is respofesifor integrating the planning and design
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approach, consciously developing innovation matu@ind exploiting its inherent business
potential.

The three pillars of MKB Fintechlab’s strategy dine investment function, the digital and
design competence centre and innovation managezapability.

MKB Fintechlab has a total of 28 startup companiegs investment portfolio, and MKB
Fintechlab plans to invest in an additional 10tg@acompanies in the next 2 years.

Continuing the scaling of the unique banking des@md digital competence centre, it
supported the digital transformation of the Banlkd ahe Bank Group with nearly 20
specialists by the end of the year. The specialisthide transformation experts, digital
product designers, service designers and digithbpeance optimisation specialists.

Despite COVID-19, MKB Fintechlab organised sevdrdérnational innovation events in
2020, including a hackathon co-organised with GuarsiUniversity and MKB Digital Zrt. or
the now 2-day international banking digital tramsfation and design online conference
involving nearly 500 people in total, i.e. the eictilab Design Summit.

The company will continue its innovation work also 2021, thus supporting the digital
transition of not only MKB Bank, but also the eatdtomestic financial sector.

Solus Capital Venture Capital Fund Manager

In 2020 Solus Capital Venture Capital Fund Mandger managed two venture capital funds
(Solus I and Solus Il Venture Capital Fund) witlarie HUF 21.4 billion in registered capital,
making it a key player in the venture capital markdée Funds are jointly involving EU and
private sources, for which the EU source is pradidg MFB Bank as the fund of funds.

Solus | Venture Capital Fund seeks to contribute régional development and the
technological modernization of the SME sector urtier S3 Venture Capital Program. The
Capital Fund invests in small and medium-sized renises that are capable of rapid growth
through innovation in the field of smart technolo@plus | Venture Capital Fund currently
has a portfolio of 28 companies. The Fund has @éyréavested nearly HUF 6.8 billion in
various manufacturing and service industries.

Solus II. Venture Capital Fund launched active tpivestment activities at the end of 2019,
aims to support the strategic goals of the DigBalccess Program (DJP): to assist the
development of digital infrastructure, competenaesd the digital economy through venture
capital investments. Solus Il. Venture Capital Fumeests in micro, small and medium-sized
companies whose development goals are related gostitategic goals of DJP, such as
education (EdTech), government services (GovTdumg|th and welfare services (MedTech,
SportsTech), various sectors of the digital econo(gTech, E-commerce, Sharing
Economy), information security (Cybersecurity) dahd latest innovations (5G developments
and related innovations).

The first investment was made in 2020, the podfolirrently consists of 11 companies, and
the Board of Directors of Solus Capital Zrt. haseatly decided on a total of 3.6 billion
investment.

For both Funds, Solus Capital has met and exceggletbmmitment to the total value of

Initial Primary Sources and Additional Primary Istrments as decided by the Board of
Directors in line with the 2020 targets.
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In the fall of 2020, Solus | Venture Capital Furainpleted its first successful exit. The Fund
invested in Medicorp Hungary Zrt. in 2018, the camyp operates in the MedTech industry.
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STRATEGIC COOPERATION ARRANGEMENTS AND PARTNERS *
MKB Pension Fund

The Voluntary Branch of the MKB Pension Fund offardecades-long, efficient savings tool
to its nearly 77,500 customers within the MKB Graufull range of investment solutions.
The simple, interest tax-free product, which canubed in many ways even in the active
years, can be tailored to the return expectatiam$ @sk-bearing capacity of the Fund
Members. In addition to member and employer couatigns, the savings are also increased
by a 20% tax allowance, which can be applied tsg®l income tax up to HUF 150,000 per
year, which can be achieved by contributing HUF,@80. Customers investing in their future
with the MKB Pension Fund can take advantage ofdbembined benefits of impressive
above-inflation yields even over 10 and 15 yeard Emv cost levels due to expert asset
management. The funds can be used through a ferdblge of services.

On 31 December 2020, the HUF 139.6 billion assktseoFund increased by HUF 1.4 billion
year on year. With this, the Fund outperformedfinancial plans for 2020 even under the
more difficult market conditions due to the COVID-fpandemic. A positive result of the year
is that the individuals’ conscious willingness tave is gaining weight in terms of the
individual members’ contribution activity. In addib, it revived its role as an employer by
supporting its employees’ retirement savings.

The Private Branch of the MKB Pension Fund clogset year with 3,639 members and HUF
20.5 billion in assets, while the proportion of nmrs paying membership fees remained well
above the 70% minimum statutory requirement.

The MKB Pension Fund is one of Hungary’s marketieg funds. Its continuous stable and
prudent operation for more than 25 years has bagposted by well-prepared fund and asset
management professional support and dynamicallyeasing digital developments since
2020. Among the targeted developments of custonewice, the extension of e-
administration with authentic electronic signatutbe development of a Member Portal and
the implementation of a website renewal projectenesmpleted last year, resulting in the
further enhancement of user experience as a gbaved from 2021 onwards. Last year, the
complete due diligence of internal administrativegesses was also carried out in favour of
increasing efficiency and streamlining the prochsd can be implemented. In addition, the
focus of business development was on continuougitgcicustomer reach, and studying and
incorporating other new and innovative solution®ider to continuously increase customer
satisfaction.

MKB-Pannoénia Health and Mutual Benefit Fund

The MKB-Pannonia Health and Mutual Benefit Fundoiee of the market-leading health
funds in Hungary, providing a wide range of sergite more than 205,000 members and
having had total assets of HUF 15.3 billion as htD&cember 2020. Adapting quickly and
efficiently to the changed environment, the Funsbabutperformed its financial plans for
2020 in a turbulent environment resulting from #ffects of the COVID-19 pandemic. The
positive results of the year were that the Fundagiothe year with an increasingly dynamic
Member contribution activity, addressing its Mentbesith good sense due to its strengthened
business approach. In addition, responding to grgviiealth awareness, it also developed a
product with an external partner and successfalisoduced a new health insurance product,
which can be financed through the Fund, at theofrz@20.

4 Source: Association of Mutual Funds
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From 2020, as a result of dynamic digitisation dewaments, electronic administration was
expanded, the Fund enabled the submission ancmetit of scanned product purchase
invoices, and created a document upload interfacantrease the convenience of e-
administration with authentic electronic signatuiasaddition to the continuous development
of its IT infrastructure, it also renewed its websiso starting in 2021 it will help its members
seek information on a web platform that compliethwnodern Ul and UX guidelines. The
full due diligence of internal cash administratiprocesses in 2020 is expected to increase
organisational efficiency, enabling even smoothet@mer service. The operation of the Fund
was stable and predictable also during 2020, eXxygoa number of additional new and
innovative solutions to continuously increase corosatisfaction.

For its customers, the name of the MKB-PannoéniatHead Mutual Benefit Fund has been
associated with the widest range of available healpporting and cost-reducing services
though the financial support of health awarenesséarly 25 years now. The assets of the
Health Fund, which can be spent on the needs ofwinge family in almost every life
situation and can be accumulated with a 20% tawalhce, can be widely used, from having
children to private health care expenses to suipgpeiderly care. In the case of expenses for
prevention and a fixed-term deposit for 2 yearg, skate provides an additional 10% tax
allowance to the Members, which can be spent ofida wariety of products and services at
its 15,600 partners using traditional payment mashor at nearly 9,500 contracted card
acceptance service providers using the elegant Mi€Blth Card with a look renewed by the
end of 2020 and worthy of the MKB Brand.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Statement of Financial Position

Total assets of the Bank increased by 57.6%, comdptar the end of 2019, and amounted to
HUF 2,792,636 million as at 31 December 2020.

Cash reserves increased by HUF 238,795 million esetpto the end of 2019: cash on hand
grew by HUF 9,248 million, while the balance of thecount held at National Bank of
Hungary grew by HUF 229,547 million.

Loans and advances to banks increased by 33.9%JUWE 21,166 million compared to the
end of 2019.

Derivative financial assets measured at fair valiewed an increase, driven by HUF 5,069
million higher balances of derivative transactions.

Securities increased by 95.4%, i.e. HUF 573,138anikcompared to prior year end. In 2020,
the balance of Loans and advances to customemsased by 19.7% compared to the end of
2019, and amounted to HUF 1,106,242 million aslab8cember 2020.

The amount of Non-current assets held for salediswbntinued operations decreased by HUF
3,571 million compared to 2019 year-end.

Other assets increased by HUF 1,970 million atetie of 2020, mainly due to an increase in
deferred expenses.

Investments in jointly controlled entities and agates increased by HUF 1,665 million
comparing 2020 year-end to 2019.

During the reporting period Amounts due to othamksareflected an increase of 193.8%, i.e.
HUF 379,142 million. Deposits and current accouw®d to customers grew by 51.7%, i.e.
HUF 640,194 million in comparison with the volungeat 2019 year-end.

Among liabilities, Derivative financial liabilitieslecreased by 20.0%, i.e. by HUF 8,857
million, primarily due to fair value change of imst- and currency-related derivative
transactions.

Other liabilities and provisions decreased by HU&78 million or 10.0%, from 2019 year-
end.

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensivéncome

In 2020, Net interest income showed a HUF 12,01Romidecrease compared to the previous
year mainly caused by increased interest expenses.

Net income from commissions and fees decrease®18%4, i.e. HUF 3,640 million in 2020
compared to the previous year, due to the decdasther commission income.

The net balance of other operating income and esgashowed a decrease of HUF 5,491
million, and amounted to HUF 6,121 million net imo® as at 31 December 2020.

Impairment and provisioning increased by HUF 11,@8lion in the business year compared

to the previous year, the Bank reported a totadflldfF 7,204 million in net provisioning after
the release of the net provision of HUF 4,027 willin the previous year. The significantly
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higher provisioning was mainly due to the effedtsh@ economic downturn due to COVID-
19.

Operating expenses increased by HUF 2,012 milioainly due to the HUF 3,135 million
increase in IT related expenses.

Expense for Legal and advisory services containféfiewing other audit service fees for
2020:

2020 Amount in HUF

Review of consolidated financial statements

Review of interim consolidated financial statemeoft&KB Bank Nyrt. 16 800 000 +VAT
and its subsidiares based on the requirementsRi 8110

Engagement related to performing status of mortgagans **

Assurance engagement relating to performing stitomortgage loans 2 449 500 +VAT
offered as coverage

Agreed upon procedure

Procedures related to bank indicators 800 000 +VAT

Other audit service fees* 20 049 500 +VA

* Fixed fee per each service.

** Several services are completed during the yEatal amount represents fees accounted for all &iegh
services during 2020.

Fees for audit services contain the following 2020:

2020 Amount in HUF

Audit fee of the Bank 109 800 000 +VAT

Total audit fee 109 800 000 +VA

Based on above factors, MKB Bank’s profit afteration for 2020 amounted to HUF 6,232
million.

For the end of 2020, total other comprehensive nreoncreased by HUF 6,468 million

compared to the previous year and resulted in HUB73 million profit due to higher
revaluation on financial assets measured at FVTOCI.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Capital situation of MKB Bank was sufficient the end of 2020. As a result of the
2020YE profit (and therefore core capital accumaigtand the increase of the subordinated
debt stock the available core capital increasedifiigntly. The owner of the MKB Bank is

committed to maintain the bank’s capital adequay/ienplement all the necessary measures.

Domestic and international guidelines require tla@Bto maintain certain minimum capital-
to-asset ratios. These risk-based ratios are digtednby allocating assets and specified off-
balance sheet instruments into different weightatbégories, with higher levels of capital
being required for categories perceived as reptiegemigher risk. Regulatory capital is
divided into Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 Capital.dddition to retained earnings, the Bank may
raise regulatory capital by issuing several typeBnancial instruments to the public. These
financial instruments are then classified as eiffier 1 or Tier 2, depending on the types of
conditions or covenants they place upon the issuer.

As at 31 December 2020, as an actual figure oBduek regulatory capital was HUF 207.9
billion based on Basel Ill IFRS under SupervisorggRlation. The increase of regulatory
capital - by HUF 8.7 billion — is derived from tlirecrease of profit and subordinated debt
(repurchase in the amount of EUR 48.1 million aed issuance in the amount of EUR 51.3
million, as a result decrease of unused subordindébt due to the maturity date), decrease of
deduction of ESOP program and deferred tax andedserof negative revaluation reserve,
which was compensated by the increase of deductiontangible assets and increase of
negative AVA.

Risk-weighted assets including operational and etanksk increased by 15.1% from

HUF 782 billion in 2019 to HUF 899.7 billion besgl@pproximately 10.5% weakening of

domestic currency. The main part of the increasavel® from the increase of business

volumes and increase of market risk, which was aorepted by the decrease of operational
risk.

By application of capital management as a tool aggropriate capital safety is a first priority
decision making factor, therefore the Bank monittdre changes of the capital elements
continuously.

Legal limits defined by the
Act CCXXXVII of 2013 on Credit Institutions and Fancial Enterprises (Banking Act),
Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIENMT on prudential
requirements for credit institutions and investnfeams and amending Regulation (CRR):

* CRR 395-400.8, Banking Act 302.8 large loan lirritno excess

» Banking Act 100.8 investment limit -> no excess

* Banking Act 101-102.8 total investment limit -> excess
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INFORMATION RELATED TO SHARES AND OWNERS

The share capital (subscribed capital) of MKB Bakt. is HUF 100,000,000,000 i.e. one
hundred billion forints, representing a cash ctwtion made available in total amount. The
share capital is divided into 100,000,000 registerdematerialized, series "A", ordinary
shares with a nominal value of HUF 1,000 i.e. dmeusand forints each. All Series “A”

Ordinary Shares (“Ordinary Shares”) bear the saghs and all Ordinary Shares were listed
in the Budapest Stock Exchange Standard categoB0dviay 2019. Each shareholder holds
solely ordinary shares.

On 30 October 2020, the Bank has sold all of imresh representing 33.33% ownership in
Magyar Bankholding Zrt. to its shareholders.

Magyar Bankholding Zrt. commenced its effective rapien as a bankholding on 15

December 2020, after the bank shares of the keyersnof Budapest Bank Zrt.,, MKB Bank

Nyrt. and MTB Zrt. were transferred to the jointlding company in possession of

theapproval of National Bank of Hungary (hereinaftéBH). The owners transferred their

shares to Magyar Bankholding Zrt. as a result séeond largest banking group in Hungary
has been established, with the Hungarian Staterma80.35% of the shares through Corvinus
Nemzetkozi Befektetési Zrt., the previous directnevs of MKB acquiring 31.96% of the

shares and the previous direct owners of MTB aowi87.69% of the shares. All required
approval has been obtained for these changes. @iofisant change is expected in the
strategy of the Bank.

The shareholder structure of MKB Bank is the foilogv

Share holder structure of MKB Bank Nyrt.

Name of shareholder Number of shares (pieces) Owneriphshare (%)
Magyar Bankholding Zr 97 185 00 97.19%
Free floa 2814 99 2.81%
Total: 100 000 000 100%

The parties have more than 10% indirect influemcMKB Bank Nyrt. are presented below,
in line with the decisions of the National Bank ktingary H-EN-1-15/2020., H-EN-I-
704/2020. and H-EN-1-705/2020.

Magyar Bankholding Zrt. has a 97,19% direct owngrsimterest in MKB Bank. The
ownership structure of Magyar Bankholding Zrt. is:

Ownership structure of Magyar Bankholding Zrt.

Name of shareholder Ownership share (%)
Corvinus Nemzetkdzi Befektetési Zrt. 30.35%
METIS Magéantkealaj 11.51%
Blue Robin Investments S.C. 10.82%
RKOFIN Befektetési és Vagyonkeae{ft. 4.48%
EIRENE Magéanikeala} 3.29%
Pantherinae Pénziigyi Zrt. 1.02%
PRIME FINANCE Future Zr 0.84%
Magyar Takarék Befektetési és 37.69%
Total: 100%

The following organisations have more than 10%rextiinfluence in MKB Bank Nyrt:

- Corvinus Nemzetkdzi Befektetési Zrt., Hungariarntéta
- METIS Maganbkealap, Opus Global Befektetési Alapkézait.
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Blue Robin Investments SCA, Blue Robin Managemest 9., Uncia Finance Zrt.,
Uncia Alpha Kft., Uncia Private Equity Fund, QUARPdapkezeb Zrt., Dry Immo Zrt.,
Felis Private Equity Fund

Magyar Takarék Befektetési és Vagyongazdalkoddsi ZBRAHAM Goldmann Zrt.

The Articles of Association of the Company do redtrict the transfer of shares representing
the subscribed capital of MKB Bank Nyrt. The Compdras no issued shares representing
special controlling rights. Voting rights are nestricted at MKB Bank Nyrt.

Rights and obligations of the shareholders

Rights of the shareholders at the General Meeting

a)

b)

d)

e)

The shareholder is entitled to attend the GeneraketMg. The shareholder, or a
shareholder's proxy as defined in Section 151-¥5he Capital Market Act, who - as a
result of the shareholders registration - was temesl in the Register of Shares on the
second business day preceding the start of ther@dveeting, the latest, may attend the
General Meeting of the Company. Persons, whose narireluded in the Register of
Shares at the time, when the Register of Shareessd, shall be entitled to exercise the
shareholder's rights at the General Meeting. Theadalosing the Register of Shares is
the second business day preceding the startingfdhg General Meeting.

The shareholder may also exercise his/her rightiseaGeneral Meeting by way of proxy.
Internal member of the Board of Directors, memigbgirman of the Supervisory Board
and the auditor cannot be persons authorised bgypiidhe shareholder may give a proxy
to the external member of the Board of Directortoc managing officer of the Company
- if he/she is not an internal member of the Baafr@irectors. The proxy shall be valid
for one General Meeting, or for the period spedifie the proxy, a maximum of 12
months. The validity of the proxy shall cover thentnuation of the suspended General
Meeting or the General Meeting re-convened becafiske lack of quorum. The proxy
shall be drawn up in the form of a public document private document providing full
evidence and it shall be submitted to the Compdie authorisation issued by the
shareholder's proxy shall state that the represeata acting as shareholder's proxy.

The shareholder has the right to be informed abasés on the agenda of the General
Meeting In line with which right, in reply to theritten request of the shareholder

submitted at least eight days before the day o3eeral Meeting the Board of Directors

shall provide information necessary to discussagenda item of the General Meeting

three days before the day of the General Meetimglatest.

The Company ensures that the rights to be inforredomment and to suggest at the
General Meeting are granted to every shareholdending the General Meeting, on the
condition that the exercising of these rights shait hinder the lawful and proper
operation of the General Meeting. In the interdsexercising the shareholder's rights
specified in this present point the Chairman of@smeral Meeting shall grant the right of
speech to the shareholder at the General Meetmghe condition that the Chairman of
the General Meeting may specify the duration of¢peech, may withdraw the right to
speak, especially in case the shareholder is effpthint, furthermore he/she can specify
the sequence of the speeches, if there are sesmrathes at the same time, in order to
ensure the lawful and proper operation of the Garideeting.

Voting rights attached to shares are determinethbéyhominal value of such shares. The

shareholder cannot exercise his/her right to voi be/she has performed his/her due
cash contribution.

128/150



MKB Bank Nyrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Separate Financial Statements as at 31 December 202

Minority rights

a)

b)

d)

Shareholders jointly representing at least 1% & toting rights may request the
convocation of the General Meeting at any time wuthspecifying the reason or the
purpose. If the Board of Directors fails to takéi@tto convene the General Meeting for
the earliest possible date within eight days dfterreceipt of the request, the registering
court shall convene the meeting in reply to theliappon of the shareholders suggesting
the meeting or the registering court shall autleotiiee suggesting shareholders to convene
the meeting. The expected costs shall be advancttelsuggesting shareholders.

If shareholders jointly representing at least 1%hefvotes communicate a proposal to the
Board of Directors to supplement the agenda inwith the rules of the levels of detail or
a draft resolution concerning an item on the agesrdan item to be added to the agenda
within eight days after the announcement of thevooation of the General Meeting is
published, the Board of Directors shall publishammouncement about the supplemented
agenda, the draft resolutions proposed by the Bblters after the communication of the
proposal pursuant to THE Articles of AssociationheT issue specified in the
announcement shall be deemed added to the agenda.

If the General Meeting rejected or did not allowe Bubmission to enforce a claim of the
Company from any member, managing officer, memli¢he Supervisory Board or the
auditor for a resolution to be adopted, sharehsldepresenting at least 1% of the voting
rights may enforce the claim themselves for thesbienf the Company and representing
the Company within a thirty-day limitation period.

If the General Meeting rejected or did not allow gubmission to have the last report or
an economic event or commitment related to theviactwf the Board of Directors in the
last two years audited by a specially commissicagditor for a resolution, the registering
court shall order the audit and appoint an auditdhe cost of the Company in reply to the
application of the shareholders jointly representat least 1% of the voting rights
submitted within the thirty-day limitation perioalfowing the General Meeting. The
registering court shall reject the fulfilment o&thpplication if the submitting shareholders
abuse the minority rights

Right to dividend

The shareholder shall be entitled to a dividendhftbe profit of the Company, which can be
shared and which was ordered to be shared by ther@eMeeting in the proportion of the
nominal value of his/her share.

Obligations of the shareholders

a)

b)

The shareholder shall provide cash contributiotheoCompany in amount corresponding
to the nominal or issue value of the shares redetrequoted by his/her person. The
shareholder may not be validly exempted from hisdi#igation - excepting the case of
share capital decrease.

The shareholder with at least 1% share or the Bblater acquiring such share shall report
his/her indirect share and its changes to the Caynpeoviding his/her details suitable for
identification at the same time.

MKB Bank Nyrt. is not aware any agreement concluldetiveen its owners that may result in
restrictions on the transfer of issued securitre§@r voting rights.
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MKB Bank Nyrt. is not aware of any significant agneents to which the company is a party
and which take effect, alter or terminate upon ange of control of the company following a
takeover bid, and the effects thereof, except wiiee& nature is such that their disclosure
would be seriously prejudicial to the company; thiception shall not apply where the
company is not obliged to disclose such informatiarthe basis of other legal requirements.

Employee share scheme

With the modification of the ESOP Act, which caméoi effect on 28 November 2015, a new
type of Employee Share Ownership Programme couldwehed. MKB Bank was one of the
first to use this opportunity to establish its o®8OP Organisation on 30 May 2016. The
launch of the ESOP was closely linked to MKB Barmesrganisation efforts, as it created
ownership interest among its employees. MKB Bartkenuly runs two ESOP Remuneration
Policies through its ESOP Organisation: the InvestnESOP Remuneration Policy and the
ESOP Performance Remuneration Policy. The poithi@investment ESOP is that the ESOP
Organisation has purchased Issuer Ordinary Sharésvfestment purposes for the benefit of
participating employees and senior executives. Bygas who made a declaration of
participation to the ESOP Organisation did not lbeedhe owners of the shares, the shares
were owned by the ESOP Organisation and are alscently owned by the ESOP
Organisation. Participating employees acquired nezsiiip stakes in the ESOP Organisation.
Initially, ESOP stake in the Company was 15% of ldseer's share capital, which has been
terminated in the meantime due to the continuedempntation of the investment ESOP
Remuneration Policy, i.e., the sale of shares b@E®rganisation. Following the fulfilment
of the stated purpose or condition of the investniE®OP, participating employees or senior
executives may claim the earnings per share.

* k%

As a public limited company, in accordance with kearpractice and the BSE Corporate
Governance Recommendations (Recommendations), M#ik Blyrt. prepares a Corporate
Governance Report, which shall be published omitlesite of the Companyvivw.mkb.hy.

In its Corporate Governance Report, the Compangeprs its corporate governance practices
for the financial year and, on the other hand, idetts compliance with each section of the
Recommendations.

SUPREME, EXECUTIVE AND MANAGEMENT ORGANS, SUPERVISO RY
BODY, COMPOSITION AND OPERATION OF COMMITTEES

General Meeting

The supreme body of the Company is the General iMgeThe General Meeting has the
exclusive competence to approve and amend theldgtiof Association, except for the
modification of the Company's headquarters, presnibeanches and, except for the core
activity of the Company, the activities of the Canp as the Board of Directors is entitled to
amend the Articles of Association in that regardrsBant to the Articles of Association of
MKB Bank Nyrt., the General Meeting of the Compams the exclusive competence to
recall and elect the Chairman and members of tteedBof Directors. Members of the Board
of Directors shall be elected by the General Megetor a definite term of maximum five
years. The members of the Board of Directors mayebelected and may be recalled at any
time by the General Meeting without giving reasansaccordance with the provisions of the
Articles of Association.
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Board of Directors: Supervisory Board: Audit Committe e:
Chairman: Chair person: Chairman:

dr. Balog Adam Hornung Agne Oszlanyi Tortel Andra
Members: Members: Members:

dr. Csap6 Andr¢ dr. Ipacs Lasz dr. Ipacs Lasz
Benczédi Bala: Oszlanyi Tortel Andra Feodor Riti

dr. Gombai Gabriel Feodor Riti

Kardos Imr Nyemcsok Jant

Takacs Marcell Tami Miiller Feren

Valké Mihaly Godena Albe

* Considering the resignation of dr. Adam Balogj anline with the resolutions of the Extraordin@gneral
Meeting, dr. Zsolt Barna is the Chairman of the f8lazf Directors of MKB Bank Nyrt. from 1 January220

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is the executive body of @@mpany. The members of the Board of
Directors represent the Company vis-a-vis thirdiparand before court and other authorities.
The Board of Directors shall develop and managevidri organisation of the Company.

The scope of authority of the Board of Directorsniduded in the Articles of Association of
the Company with the proviso that within the franoekvof effective laws and resolutions
adopted by the General Meeting, the Board of Dimscshall be entitled to take any actions
and make any decisions that do not form part oettedusive powers of the General Meeting
or the Supervisory Board. The decision on the aitipm or the sale of own shares, as well as
the increase of the registered capital throughishee of shares belongs to the competence of
the General Meeting subject to the condition tln#t General Meeting may authorize the
Board of Directors to decide on registered capiteiease.

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board shall control the manageroétihe Company in order to protect the
interests of MKB Bank Nyrt.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee provide assistance to the Supery Board in supervising the financial
report regime, in selecting an auditor, and in waghkvith the auditor.

Risk and NPL Committee: Remuneration Committee: Nomimtion Committee:
Chairman: Chair person: Chair person:

Kardos Imre dr. Gombai Gabriella Hornung Agnes
Members: Members: Members:

Benczédi Balazs Kardos Imre dr. Ipacs LaszIo
Valé Mihaly Benczédi Balazs Feodor Rita

Risk and NPL Committee

As part of its ongoing monitoring of the Bank'skriaking strategy and risk appetite, the Risk
and NPL Committee reviews the risk strategy, rematnen policy and quarterly risk report in
advance, approves the NPL Strategy and relatedemwitation plan for the year, and
monitors the high non-performing loan rate andNRe. Strategy.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is a consultative bdwt bversees the remuneration of
directors and employees in risk management andnitdines of defence, and prepares
remuneration decisions based on the long-termesterof shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders in the company.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for nomimgaand recommending nominees to the
Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors, vitie exception of the members of the
Supervisory Board representing the employees.

The Committees operate in accordance with the fdaldsdown in their rules of procedure.
Bodies shall meet as often as necessary to carrytheir functions and shall take their
decisions in the form of a meeting or in writinglamithout a meeting. The work of the bodies
is organized by the chairman of the body.

In accordance with the recruitment policy for tleestion of members of the management
bodies of MKB Bank Nyrt. and the Diversity Polic@dmination Policy) applicable to the
selection, members of the management boards ahémebers of the Bank Group, individuals
with different professional skills, versatile rega and industry experience are elected into
the managing bodies of the Bank Group and they tals® advantage of these differences in
their operations in the operation of those bodigsich the members of the Bank Group
consider as a key consideration in determiningpgitemal composition of their bodies. Board
appointments are based on the pool of expertiggerence, independence and knowledge
represented by the candidates, taking into acoobat the body as a whole needs to function
effectively. The members of the Bank Group payipaldr attention to the representation of
both genders in executive bodies which is why thigiwe to reach 15% female members in
executive bodies. To this end, they commit thenesete favouring the member of the under-
represented gender of the same management bodygamortandidates of the same capacity
who are otherwise suitable, unless otherwise jastiby professional judgment.

There is no agreement with an executive officer amr employee that provides for
compensation in the event of a manager's resignatiotermination by the employee or
unlawful termination of the executive officer's @mployee's relationship, or termination of
the relationship due to a public takeover bid.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM OF THE
COMPANY

The provisions regarding the operation, manageraedt functions of the internal control
system of the Company are set out in the Act CCXXXf 2013 on Credit Institutions and
Financial Enterprises (hereinafter: Hpt.), the pmns of the Civil Code (Act V of 2013,
hereinafter referred to as “the Civil Code”) on ibess companies, Act CXX of 2001 on the
Capital Markets; the applicable recommendationshef NBH (primarily Recommendation
NBH 27/2018. (10 December) on the establishmentomedlation of internal lines of defence,
the management and control functions of finanaighoisations), the Bank’s Memorandum of
Association and the Bank’s effective rules of oiigation and operation.

Section 154 (1) of the Hpt. requires banks to dpeaa internal control system. The elements

of the internal control system include the managenigformation system, in-process and
management controls, and the independent inteuti arganisation.
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The concept of a management information systecompasses all computer-based or manual
systems that transform data into useful informafmmdecision-makers. Its main tasks are to
produce ad hoc and regular reports and to supipageeral) decision making.

In-process and management contrafe forms of control directly or indirectly integed into
business processes. These controls are performpdrbgns who are functionally involved in
the processes or by those responsible for the duglome of the audited activities.

Independent internal audis part of the internal control (monitoring) systémlependent of
the process. Internal audits should be performegebyons who are not involved in the Bank's
workflows and are therefore independent of thetiestiand workflows being audited.
Accordingly, MKB Bank operates an independent oiggtional unit, the Executive
Directorate for Internal Audit (hereinafter: BEI).

Also in view of the NBH recommendation 27/2018. [@6cember) referred to above, the
system of lines of defence is interpreted in th&kBa monitoring framework system. The
above control mechanisms, which are also stress#aei Hpt as the elements of the Bank's
internal monitoring system (distinguished from #adernal monitoring independent of the
Bank (e.g. customers, NBH, other authorities) dral éxternal monitoring system elements
(e.g., auditor) related to the Bank) can be classis follows:

The Bank's internal monitoring system consistsroindernal control system and independent
internal audit.

Within the Bank's internal control system, we cistidguish between general principles (e.g.
consistent responsibility management), practiceg. (@anagement control), organisational
solutions (e.g. in-process controls), and areak witontrol function (e.g. Controlling) and
activities (e.g. management information system)ictwiiogether form the first line of defence
of the Bank's internal monitoring system. In fabis line of defence includes all employees
and managers who, through their prudent work, ptatee Bank's interests and values.

Another element of the Bank's internal control egsis all those organisations, activities and
persons responsible for performing dedicated ojmerat functions, activities and control
functions (e.g., Risk Control, Compliance, Bank \8#g, Data Protection Officer), which
together constitute the Bank's second line of defefhe function of the second line of
defence can also be formulated by overseeing applosting the activities of the first line of
defence.

Independent internal audit, as another elemertiefrtternal monitoring system alongside the
internal control system, is the Bank's third lifedefence. Internal audit is an independent,
objective assurance tool and consulting activigt taidds value to the Bank's operations and
improves its quality. It is responsible for examigpithe Bank's risk management, governance
processes and the internal control system (or #re&kB first and second lines of defence) in a
systematic and regulatory manner, evaluating angbraming its operation, thereby
contributing to the achievement of organisatiorlg.

The model of the Bank's monitoring system, inclgdithe place and role of independent
internal audit, is illustrated in the figure below.
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BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY'S RISK MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM AND PRINCIPLES APPLIED IN RISK MANAGEMENT

MKB Bank's Risk Control reviews the risk stratedgytloe MKB Group every year with the
involvement of the relevant areas. In line with tharent economic environment and in
accordance with the Bank's and Magyar Bankholdirigssbusiness strategy and capital plan,
the Risk Strategy sets out the risk strategy ppiesi and objectives of the Bank Group for
each risk type and risk appetite. The approvalhef risk strategy falls within the scope of
competence of the Board of Directors.

In line with the basic regulatory requirements,oaaept for the Group's comprehensive risk-
taking processes has been developed and is cdpdiairtg fine-tuned.

The main elements of the concept are:

» Group-wide application of risk management prinaple

» Applying the Unified Segmentation to the entireentele of the group;

* A decision-making system that depends on custonmgity and risk-taking;

* The use of Basel conform rating tools, in compleamath IRBF and analytical and
behavioural scorecards, as well as a correspondiegt rating regime, which
adequately supports the decision-making actividfabe bank management;

* Internal, group-level model validation methodologyh annual frequency (rating and
scoring tools, validation of related processes);

* Monitoring activities with IT support;

» Establishment of a comprehensive system of critévat includes and takes into
account relevant indicators enabling the detectbrithreatened loans in order to
identify loans at risk as quickly as possible ahdsed on this, to determine the
various types of customer/exposure managementrdladed tasks and order of
procedure.

* IFRS 9 provisioning system;

» Pillar 1 and Pillar 2 capital accounting systemseobon IFRS;

* Regular group level management reports, backtestiagsurements (Risk Reports,
Capital Management Reports, Rating Quality, Ralfimitoring Reports, etc.)

» Definition of a revised recovery plan and its ewadion on a monthly basis.

The key risk management principles include ultimedmtrol at board level, independent
control separate from risk areas, and approprigasorement, diversification, monitoring and
reporting of risks.

The effective risk management function of the Baisk ensured by the effective
communication of risks and the willingness to assunsks within the organisation,
continuous development for recognising, measummgpitoring and managing risks, turning
the key risk management processes and procedutesdgie and user friendly and improving
their efficiency, as well as employing adequatedyned work force.
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NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENT

STRATEGIC GOALS AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINE SS MODEL

Founded in 1950, MKB Bank, is one of the oldestmiimnt members of the Hungarian
banking system. After the banking reform in 1987e Bank continued to function as a
universal commercial bank. Its main business amwiinclude SME and large corporate as
well as institutional banking services, internatibbanking, retail and private banking, and
money and capital market services. Through itanfifed group interests and strategic partners,
the Bank offers its customers complex vehicle fomag, asset leasing, fund management and
advisory as well as pension fund, voluntary pengimial and health fund services.

MKB Bank provides its services through its natiod&ibranch network and modern,
constantly evolving digital channels.

Core values of the MKB Bank: tradition, innovati@ooperation.

Respect for traditional banking values and a comnitt to leading the way in innovative
financial solutions and digitalisation are bothgmet in the financial group.

The knowledge and expert base as well as the eratexiétem of relations built over seven
decades of operation, made MKB Bank a major opeliatéthe Hungarian corporate trade
financing, cash and liquidity management and inaest market.

MKB is a major and large corporate bank, with sgrasrganisational knowledge in that
segment. It puts a strong emphasis on supportirginésses with innovative solutions,
professional expertise and development ideas, fiidncing support tailored to needs and
opportunities. The Bank gradually builds strateggetnerships with the major actors of the
Hungarian economy. MKB intends to make an activetrdoution to the achievement of the
objectives of its retail and corporate customerthyviis financing and, indirectly, to also
contribute to an increase in the performance oHhegarian economy.

The MKB Group places special emphasis on the qualft customer relationships and
professional customer service. The focus is onooust relations and experience, as well as
value preservation and generation.

The fair banking values are extremely importarnthim daily operation and future image of the
Bank, therefore it strives towards a sustainableirnass model and efficient and profitable
operation with manageable risks.

On 15 December 2020, Magyar Bankholding Zrt. aeglist 97.19% majority stake in MKB
through a capital increase implemented with in koagbital contribution. At the same time,
Magyar Bankholding Zrt. also acquired a controllinterest in Budapest Bank Zrt. and MTB
Magyar Takarékszovetkezeti Bank Zrt.

With this step, the second largest banking grougungary was established. The new banking
group serves 1.9 million customers, operates alrha#t of the domestic branch network,
more than 920 branches nationwide, and has a leatdreet total or nearly HUF 6,800 billion,
a loan portfolio of HUF 3,600 billion and a depagsdrtfolio of HUF 4,300 billion. It serves
200,000 micro-enterprises, 30,000 small and mediiz®d enterprises, 6,000 private banking
partners and is a market leader in many areas.

According to the plans, Magyar Bankholding Zrt.lwiévelop a detailed merger schedule and
a detailed business strategy for the three bankagl@021, within which the bank holding
intends to preserve and rely on the values andriexme of the 70-year-old MKB Bank Nyrt.
Accordingly, the member banks, including MKB, wiitain their legal status for the time
being and will operate as a separate entity anal separate brand until the merger process
takes place.
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POLICIES RELATED TO SOCIAL ISSUES, EMPLOYMENT, RESP ECT FOR
HUMAN RIGHTS, THE ENVIRONMENT AND THE FIGHT AGAINST
CORRUPTION AND THE RESULTS THEREOF, APPLIED DUE DIL IGENCE
PROCEDURES

Policies on social issues and their results, applielue diligence procedures

It is important for MKB Bank to use all its availabeconomic power to contribute to the
development of the community and it is also coneditto building co-operation that
encourages extensive community engagement.

The co-operation activities involve efforts to dieyethe financial culture, various educational
programmes, targeted sponsoring and other suppiviti@s.  All these activities are value-

driven and have always been and will also be imphged in future to suit the local needs.
The Bank does not carry out a risk assessmentso$dtial and community engagement
activities, but does so on the basis of its interakes of procedure, which include relevant
procedural rules.

Through its donation and sponsoring activities, M&Bup intends to offer true assistance in
the support of programmes and matters servingritezeists of the whole society, including
financial culture and mindset development, valgation and preservation and the creation of
opportunities, which are the most important aspects

Social responsibility:

The corporate social responsibility programme & MKB Bank is very diversified. As a
responsible financial institution and a major adétothe domestic financial sector, it considers
it important to contribute to community developmeant the well-being of those affected in
the natural and social environment as much asIges$epending on the available resources.

In the course of its social responsibility acte®tj the MKB Bank advocates for such
important issues as the promotion of culture, spodocial awareness, knowledge
development, health care and the help of childrehtheir families in need.

As a socially responsible institution, the MKB Baténated HUF 1 billion as part of its CSR
activity to support the government's efforts againe pandemic.

As part of the MKB Donor Programme, the MKB Agritull Partner Program donated 200
used but operable monitors and 121 used furnituaregaod condition to Szent Istvan

University to support its higher education coursilse MKB Agricultural Partner Program

donated an additional 400 used but operable manitor 8 vocational schools where
agricultural training is pursued.

Health preservation activities:

MKB Bank launched its # 20minutes health programvita the slogan of “Health is the best
investment” three years ago. This social respdlitgibprogramme is designed to raise
awareness of the importance of physical and mdmalth in everyday life. During the
pandemic period, this topic was particularly emptess as the crisis caused by the virus
presented everyone with a challenge that couldegirepared for, during which the issues of
mental resilience and physical recreation camén¢ofore. The programme therefore placed
great emphasis on stress management, the pitfalllome office arrangements, and the
importance of family and self-time. At regular intals, an expert gave lifestyle advice in the
context of live lectures on social media and alstpéd answer any questions. In addition,
“virtual community races” were organized in whiclarficipant could complete a pre-
designated route, safely and individually.
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Educational activities:

The MKB Bank has a variety of educational programsnie 2020, the focus was on providing
digital educational solutions. In addition to edima employees receive a number of digital,
interactive, simulation materials that help themedep outside of education.

MKB also places great emphasis on the professideaklopment of its employees. In
addition to the statutory trainings, the Bank orges regular training. New banking products
are also being introduced with a significant numdfetraining hours. Thanks to the extensive
in-house coaching community, professional trainipgovides high level of banking
knowledge.

The MKB Academy programme constitutes the framewafrkhe Bank’s training strategy.
The system has 5 pillars. Besides the mandatoinirtgp(Mandatory Pillar), attention is also
paid to the professional development of the colleagwhich is assisted with training courses
dedicated to various topics (Professional Pill8Kill development training activities are also
available on a number of topics (Soft Skill PillaBmployees can choose from numerous
training courses to learn how to use the bankintstmore effectively (System Pillar). Further
extensive skill development training activities akso available as part of management
training (Management Pillar). In 2020, the Acadeexpanded with a Care pillar, various
mental health and well-being training courses anckshops held by psychologists.

MKB Bank is involved in various educational coopara.

In co-operation with the National Association of r&gltural Equipment and Machine
Distributors (MEGFOSZ), the Bank set an objectifepmmoting agricultural engineering,
responding to changes in modern agricultural prodoc

The MKB Agro Partner programme, established in 284 part of the corporate business line
of MKB Bank, supports the foundation and operatbiagro businesses as a financial partner
understanding agriculture.

Within the framework of the "Become an AgricultuEaigineer!" programme, the "Become an
Agricultural Engineer!” National Championship (LBEMOB) was also organised for

secondary school students specialised in agri@lltonrechanics, machine technicians and
machine repair in the 2019/2020 academic year.riguthe educational competition, the
participants had to resolve online agricultural fessional, financial issues and perform
practical tasks. 29 teams from secondary schootheotountry took part in the programme
with nearly 150 students.

Financial culture and awareness developing actiet

The employees of MKB Bank took part voluntarilythre ‘Money Week’ events, founded by
the Hungarian Banking Association and Financial @ass Foundation to increase the
financial knowledge of primary and secondary sclstatients.

Together with the Hungarian Interchurch Aid Orgatian, MKB has set itself the goal of

creating a publication aimed at financial awarenaddressing specifically low-status families
and children affected by the aid organization. Toepleted publication was distributed in
500 copies nationwide to children living in the mrary homes of the aid organization in the
framework of MKB's Advent campaign.

Activities aimed at equal opportunities:

MKB Bank has had a relationship with the Internadio Child Rescue Service (NGYSZ)
which supports children facing difficulties in lif®wing to the 23 years of co-operation of the
parties, in each academic year one hundred childreh young people with outstanding
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abilities yet in socially disadvantaged positionancbenefit from the extraordinary
opportunities provided under the MKB Scholarshippéoe. The Bank also offers discounted
account management for young people with scholessiilKB is also trying to follow young
career starter professionals who were former scéigla holders: in 2009, the Graduate
Students Club was established for the graduateb séholarships, which now has 29
members.

MKB Bank has been cooperating with the Hungarigerthurch Aid Organization for many
years. In 2020, the Bank supported the work of @rganization in several ways: with
immediate financial assistance in connection wik pandemic, and by participating in
monetary donations and running competitions to ek Hungarians in Beregszasz. In
addition, during the Advent period, the employeé¢sMiXB Group helped disadvantaged
children with gifts hidden in Santa Claus packagitk the help of the aid organisation.

In 2020, MKB Bank also supported the work of thegk Parents Club Foundation. From the
donation, the Foundation supported the single palisadvantaged families in the emergency
caused by the pandemic with long-lasting food asohi@ctants.

During the Advent period, the Bank provided supporthe Foundation for the Foundations,
and the organization provided gifts to increasingiiyadvantaged children from the donated
amount.

Within the scope of corporate social responsihilittate support is available through MKB
Bank for disabled persons to be used for makinig Hmmes accessible.

As a traditional and major operator of the Hungari@mancial sector, MKB Group is also

committed to provide support and makes significdamations. The fundraising programme
series called MKB Charity Program, launched in 20&8ntinued successfully in 2020.
Through its fundraising campaigns, the Bank sumabrthe work of the Age of Hope

Foundation and the Interchurch Aid Organisationadidition to fundraising, MKB continued

its cooperation with the Hungarian Red Cross unier Voluntary Program in 2020, and
announced blood donations among employees everyriwrghs. In the last nearly 20 years,
blood donations have been organized at the Bartkni®s, during which 2,800 blood donors
from the staff of the MKB Group have helped sawelihes of 8,300 people.

MKB Group has developed its equal access stratagyné with the requirements of the
legislation and the supervisory authority (MNB) hvithe objective of integrating the
requirements of the strategy into the Bank’s dajheration and making them an integrated
part of the attitude of executive officers andnadimbers of staff.

Employment policies and their results, applied dudliligence processes

MKB Bank completed a risk assessment in employnaeit identified the risks relevant in
terms of its operation which are also taken intooaat in its HR activities. Human resources
actions focused on global trends, domestic and ME&cific (based on survey) areas, such as
talent and career management, supportive environmemd workflows. The Bank is
organising an Orientation Day for newly joined ealjues. The purpose of that day is to
integrate the new colleagues and to deliver thechiesning required for employment as well
as present the global organisation to them.

The HR strategy concentrates on improving the eypg@cexperience by promoting flexible
work, using the available digital devices and depilg a co-operation-based corporate
strategy.

Breakdown of the staff employed by MKB Bank by j¢B3E):
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Deputy
MKB Bank / Area Subordinate el Director CEO apd Total
department executive

director
Deputy CEO for Legal, Governance and High prioAffairs 48 1 3 1 53
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Risk 166 5 4 1 176
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Finance and Cytiemns 295 10 8 1 314
Chief Executive’s Office 114 1 2 5 121
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Business and &ah 843 17 84 4 948
Total 1 466 34 101 12 16

Breakdown of the staff employed by MKB Bank by ag® age, duration of service and area

(years):

MKB Bank / Area 0-2 years 2-5years 5-10years 10 + yemsa Average
Deputy CEO for Legal, Governance and High prioAffairs 35 44 43 43 41
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Risk 35 38 39 46 41
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Finance and Gtiems 38 40 37 48 42
Chief Executive’s Office 38 38 41 50 41
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Business and &ah 37 40 39 46 41
Average 37 40 39 47 41

Breakdown of the staff employed by MKB Bank by diga of service and area (FTE):

MKB Bank / Area 0-2 years 2-5years 5-10 years 10 + yma Average
Deputy CEO for Legal, Governance and High prioAiffairs 16 13 < 16 53
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Risk 27 36 39 75 176
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Finance and Cytiems 90 69 30 126 314
Chief Executive’s Office 47 36 12 26 121
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Business and &ah 317 198 105 328 948
Total 496 351 194 571 16

Breakdown of the staff employed by MKB Bank by genthumber of employees):

Staff Directors
MKB Bank / Area Male Female Total Male Female Total
Deputy CEO for Legal, Governance and High prioAffairs 21 32 3 2 2 4
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Risk 51 115 176 4 1 5
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Finance and Gyiiemns 86 223 314 7 2 9
Chief Executive’s Office 70 51 12z 4 3 7
Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Business and &ah 298 650 948 57 31 88

536 1076 1612

MKB Bank offers an extra-wage benefit package sceinployees, consisting of a number of
components. An employee package is not just akash benefits. It includes more elements
aimed at improving the work environment, maintagnan healthy lifestyle, and strengthening
motivated work and the sense of belonging to a t8drase benefits provided by the Bank are
described in detail in the Cafeteria Policy.
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Talent management at MKB Bank:

A complex calibration process across the compary standard performance evaluation
system were introduced for the first time in 20A8talent management program, including
subsidiaries, was also introduced and re-launciedécember 2019. The programme
participants were involved in the development dfjgets that impact the life of the entire
organisation. The MKB Group places great emphasishe training of employees and the
care for talents, supporting the expansion of motmal knowledge and the development of
skills through extensive educational programmes.

Balance of work and private life at MKB Bank:

The flexible working hours at MKB Bank is one oétkey elements of the HR strategy as it is
an important component of improving the employegegience.

As part of the HR strategy, MKB Bank aims to in@e#he share of atypical employment. In
addition, the Bank intends to make work from horaenédely available to a wider range of
employees and therefore the tools and deviceslsoedaveloped constantly. Working from
home reduces stress at work, improves the balanwertt and private life and thus increases
employee satisfaction, work morale, efficiency doyhlty. In 2020, home office work was

implemented in 100% of jobs that do not requiregitgl presence and flexible employment
was widespread.

MKB Bank and health:

Health development and health preservation are fitapo objectives for MKB Bank, as
emphasised in various sports and health campaigmsh as the #20 Minutes Health
programme. Sports opportunities are available fapleyees in many ways and a healthy
lifestyle is promoted on several fronts. In 20@0¢ to the Pandemic, programmes supporting
sports were also organized in an online form. Bngua healthy work environment for
employees is a priority. In the spirit of the YedrHealth programme series announced in
2018, we organized screenings for employees d2®26.

Employees benefit from preferential health insuearvehich includes diagnostic services and
extended consultation hours at the Bank’s occupatiphysician on every day of the week.

Hobby and recreational facilities are also avadadti MKB Bank. The canteens of the Bank
serve fitness food and other items, suitable feckb nutrition, and restaurant services were
made available with home delivery during the Paridem

MKB Bank and sports:

The MKB Bank provides a wide range of sports oppdttes to its staff. The Vaci utca
headquarters and the Kasséak Lajos utca office ibgildave in total nearly 400°of fitness
facilities. In 2020, online sports events and irais became available so that the Bank can
support the health of its employees in the homérenment. The MKB Group also supports
sports in other ways: the MKB Sports Associatiorrapes 23 sports departments.

Secure work environment:

In order to fulfil its legislative obligations, MKBank has prepared a risk assessment of the
head office and other business sites of the Bawk,ding all branches. As it is an office work
environment, there is only a low risk of accider@®nsequently, there are very few work
accidents and their number is decreasing.
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Employees are also required to attend occupatisatdty and fire training every year. A
separate training material has been developedhforetnployees of the branch on how to
respond if the branch is attacked. The personakenahand organisational conditions of safe
work were defined in the Health and Safety Regoitetiof the Bank in compliance with the
law.

A Health and Safety Representative also works atB#ink on behalf of the Works Council.
The HS Representative is entitled to make surettizatequirements of healthy and safe work
are fulfilled at the Bank.

Corporate governance:

MKB Bank, as a publicly traded company, whose shame listed on the Budapest Stock
Exchange, has prepared and published its Corp@aternance Report on the basis of the
Corporate Governance Recommendations of the BSE.

MKB Group attaches great importance to the develypnand operation of a corporate
governance system that complies with best marlaadtige and ensures efficient and effective
operation, and responsible corporate governance.

MKB Bank's governance structure takes into accawgulatory, supervisory and stock
exchange requirements as well as business spedffitB Bank intends to comply as much as
possible with the Corporate Governance Recommenmtatf the BSE.

Regulations on the related policies, the appliededidiligence and risk management
procedures:

* Regulation on the Recruitment and Selection Process

» Cafeteria Policy

* Incentive system

* Regulation on the Internal Training System of MKB&

* Regulation on Work at Home

» Employee recognition programme

* Regulation on Sponsorship and Management of SuRsatiests

» Health and Safety Regulation

» Regulation on the Procedural Rules of PromotingaEgecess at MKB Bank

Human rights policies and their results, applied de diligence processes

Relying on the standards also expressed in the Gb@®nduct, the Bank takes into account
the interests of its employees based on fair asesdsrecognises their right to the integrity of
their private life but, in exchange, the Bank expets employees to responsibly protect their
health.

It is especially important for the Bank to see thatemployees can equally focus on their

families and work as well as professional careersilipport that, the Bank offers a healthy

work environment without any discrimination. ThenRaloes not prepare a risk assessment of
the enforcement of human rights but it operatesompliance with the equal access strategy
and internal banking regulations that outline thecpdural rules.

The equal access procedural rules of MKB Bank wieneeloped on the basis of Section 283
of Act CCXXXVII of 2013 on Credit Institutions arféinancial Enterprises, the Decree of the
Minister of National Economy 22/2016 (29 June) twe tules of equal opportunities for
persons with disabilities in access to financialises provided by credit institutions and the
MNB Recommendation 4/2017 (13 March) on the treatnaf disabled customers. The
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regulation contains the rules of implementation aethils defined in MKB Bank’s equal
access strategy and constitute an inseparabléheasof.

The Bank’s equal access was developed in the gpitite Bank’s social responsibility as the
Bank pays special attention to the special needdligdbled customers and to special
treatments promoting their equal access to servides fundamental objective is to integrate
the strategic requirements into the Bank’s dailgrafion and to make them an integrated part
of the attitude of executive officers and all otleenployees. The purpose of the regulation is
to enable the disabled customers of the Bank te bagess, whenever possible, to services of
the same quality as those offered to ordinary ecoste but adapted to their special needs.

The Bank applies a fair treatment based on respetiesteem while keeping contact with its
stakeholders. It rejects all forms of discriminatizased on sex, age, ethnic origin, religious or
political belief, belonging to any interest grogexual orientation, different native languages
and any other direct or indirect discrimination@xcluding conduct.

MKB Bank also operates a notification systegmg@nimbox@mkb.he-mail address), where
anyone can report any violation of law, or intermegulation or other rule of conduct
experienced by them, even anonymously.

A Works Council also operates at MKB Bank in coraptie with the currently effective
Labour Code. The Works Council is the main interegresentation forum, representing the
interests of the employees. The employees may \advied in the discussion of issues and
taking decisions affecting them and can learn alaoyt change therein through the Works
Council. The Ethics and Conciliation Committee bé tWorks Council has the power to
resolve conflicts between employees and conflietsvben managers and employees.

MKB Bank does not employ children and is not engagedorced labour either.

Data protection and data security:

Data protection represents the latest generatiohuafan rights and MKB Bank also pays
attention to that field accordingly. It has incorgied checkpoints in its business processes and
IT development processes to ensure complianceGMRR requirements.

In line with industry practice and MNB regulatiofdKB Bank is constantly updating its
security readiness, upgrading and replacing itseldurity systems.

The Bank also prioritises the security of digitahonels. We use regular external vulnerability
tests and intrusion tests to make sure that thed tdsecurity is adequate.

In full compliance also with the MNB recommendapiMKB Bank informed its customers

on what to do in relation to cyber fraud and datésining and raised attention about the
importance of prevention and alertness regularhiterown platforms as well as in various
publications issued on a number of occasions duhagear.

The members of staff of MKB Bank have a great adatxperience in how to prevent data
phishing, or identify the actual cases as well mplément measures to mitigate losses.
Potentially affected customers are contacted byMK®& Cyber Security Centre to make sure
that the customer is aware of the transaction iestion and has actually initiated it. MKB
Bank also takes all security and legal measuresinezt on such occasions in addition to
informing its customers.
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Environmental policy and its results, applied due digence processes
Sustainability and climate strategy:

The MKB Financial Group is committed to being a kphayer in creating sustainable

economic operation. As a Hungarian financial intin, it has a key role and responsibility in

supporting and financing sustainable and climaterted investments. By reducing its

ecological footprint and acting responsibly, the BKroup also wants to set an example for
market participants and partners, and feels obliggufotect the environment.

To translate the commitment into action, by appogt responsible leader and setting up a
climate task force, the MKB revised and renewedSitstainability and Climate Strategy in
December 2020, setting out its goals for a fiverygtategic period.

The strategic goals set out a vision and actiorss uMKB Group's role as a financial
institution, as well as for the MKB Group as a ggaf companies.

 “MKB, partner in green finance”: as part of theastgy, the goal is to create an
infrastructure, product and service range for retad corporate customers that will
help them achieve their own sustainability and atiengoals. The MKB attaches great
importance to investing in renewable energy andretbee supports the
implementation of these projects. MKB is committede SG-based funding in its own
operations and towards its customers. Part of théB'S sustainability and climate
strategy is the gradual revision of the risk fraragwand the incorporation of the ESG
approach into the risk framework. On the one hamd, affects the full transposition
of the requirements of the European Union, as agllhe examination of the special
elements that can be adjusted to the Hungarianahark

 "MKB as a responsible group of companie8s a responsible group of companies,
the MKB Group aims to fully comply with the goald olimate neutrality and
sustainability, in particular the widest possiblperless and contactless operation in
line with ESG principles. The group seeks to achithese goals through its day-to-
day operations, internal processes and the formafids employee community.

Measures aimed at optimising energy consumption:

The majority of MKB Banks’s energy consumption tetato the utility consumption of

buildings and fuel consumption of its vehicle fle&nergy consumption is constantly
monitored and supervised in each building. Theonalti centre of this network is at Kassak
Lajos street office building.

The lighting system is gradually modernised inMKB Bank buildings in order to reduce
electricity consumption. Presence detectors westliled in the majority of public areas to
prevent lamps being left switched on without a oeas certain premises. Natural sources of
lighting are preferred in all office buildings amattempts are made not to use any artificial
lighting in the rooms if there is sufficient suriigduring the day.

The energy consumption optimising measures aldaded the upgrade of the cooling of the
head office and the replacement of the wet codlimgers of the liquid cooling equipment by
pure air cooling-based appliances. Thus the efiiwy of energy consumption almost trebled
and the water and sewer consumption of the buitdivas decreased significantly too.

In 2020, a solar system of 573 of solar panels with a maximum inverter power 0fks/A
was installed on the headquarters building andheroffice building on Kassék Lajos Street.
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The positive impact of the measure can also berebdean the annual energy consumption
indicators of the buildings of MKB Grodip

Annual consumption 2018 2019 2020
Electricity (kwWh) 13 443 085 11 739 135 11 084 110
Natural gas (gnm3) 989 021 933 664 932 862
Heat (MJ) 2 427 965 2227784 2 141 367
Water (m3) 27 486 25 808 24 340

In its environmental risk assessment the Bank tadk account the annual energy
consumption and annual carbon dioxide emission.nst recent complete energy efficiency
audit for MKB Bank was carried out in 2019 by NKMdt@num Zrt. in full compliance with
EU Directive 27/2012, Act LVII of 2015 and Goverant Decree 122/2015 (26 May). In
addition, on the basis of the Decree of the HumgaEnergy and Public Utility Regulatory
Authority (MEKH) 2/2017 (16 February), monthly eggrdesk officer report is also prepared
with energy consumption analyses.

Selective waste collection and management:

MKB Bank focuses on sustainable development. Onésobasic pillars is selective waste
collection, which is promoted with bins provided @ffice corridors and kitchens for
collecting PET bottles, batteries and caps as ageklectronic waste (cartridges, toners, etc.).
Following adequate treatment, the selectively ctdié waste may be recycled, thus reducing
the impact on the environment.

MKB Bank takes all reasonable efforts to have greperation, in the context of which
electric waste management is another key issue.difisation strategy has also a positive
impact on MKB Bank’s paper consumption.

Waste management is governed by a number of lad/segyulations, and MKB Bank satisfies
all legislative requirements. The Bank prepares tevamanagement reports annually,
containing the classification and quantities of wwagenerated and collected. In 2020, MKB
Bank generated 49,445 kg paper and cardboard waste12,865 kg scrapped electric and
electronic waste.

Environmental measures relating to the vehicle fte¥ MKB Bank:

MKB Bank has its own vehicle fleet and runs mosit®tars on petrol and only fewer cars on
diesel. From 2020, the Bank will not support thechase of diesel vehicles. At the same time,
an increasing proportion of electric/hybrid cars appearing in new purchases.

As a result of the scheduled replacement of treg,ftee age of the vehicles is a maximum of 5
years. MKB Bank also uses taxi services for its leyges. It was also a factor in the selection
of the contracted service provider that it had ldrgest number of electric car fleet on the
Budapest market. At the end of 2019, the Bank signed a contract with MOL Limo, the
aim of which is to replace petrol-powered taxi s&vin thefuture and to provide more

® Remark: When the statement was prepared, the Dee®20 energy consumption data were not yet fully
available. Missing data were determined based eviquis year's consumption.
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environmentally friendly urban transport. At thedesf 2020, the Bank revised the purchase
limits for motor vehicles, significantly increasitige budget for hybrid / electric vehicles.

Anti-corruption and anti-bribery policy and its res ults, applied due diligence procedures

In compliance with its statutory obligations, MKBaBk laid down its anti-fraud and anti-
corruption measures in various regulations.

Anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist financingneasures:

MKB Bank developed its group anti-money launderamgd anti-terrorist financing policy
because it uses the available tools to activelyigiate in the prevention, combating and
detection of money laundering, terrorist financamd economic crime both in Hungary and
internationally. In order to effectively performosde tasks, the Bank applies the following
main principles:

* The Bank Group consistently meets and complies alithelevant international and
Hungarian embargo rules, requirements and regaktmncerning the fight against
money laundering and the relevant national andnatenal legislation.

e The Bank Group does not and will not finance illegams transactions, drug
trafficking, child labour, slave trade, prostitutior corruption.

* The Bank Group does not and will not finance pessonundertakings managed or
controlled by persons qualifying as unreliable,ihgwbeen sentenced for any related
criminal act.

* Bank Group duly observes the FATF recommendations pursues its activities in
compliance with them.

The AML procedures apply to all employees of the IBand fully comply with the FATF
40+9 recommendation, the Directive of the Europearidment and of the Commission
2015/849 and the Regulation of the European Cou2@il5/847. MKB Bank takes all
reasonable efforts to prevent using the servicksaaf by the Bank for money laundering or
terrorist financing. MKB Bank has a Compliance angation in which separate departments
work on preventing money laundering and terroiisricing. The Bank fully co-operates with
the official agencies in the identification of alspicious cases, with special regard to
potential money laundering and terrorist financifidhe declarations required under the
international regulations are available on the Bamlebsite.

In order to reduce the risk of money laundering &edorist financing, the Bank must be
aware of the activities of its customers, the ratfrbusiness relationships, business partners,
financial habits, the Hungarian and business practhe economic background of debits and
credits in the account, the expected sales (amoungncy), hence it maintains a regular and
active relationship with its customers. In accomawith the legal requirements, the Bank’s
staff perform the due diligence of customers. Natygersons and representatives of legal
entities must also provide a declaration on the BtaRis of the beneficial owner, which is
then verified by the Bank’s staff in public sources

MKB Bank prepared its internal risk assessmenbmmiance with the provisions of Act LIII
of 2017 on the prevention and combating of monemd&ring and terrorist financing, taking
into account the Hungarian and international ecaoaunditions and habits and the known
risk factors. The Bank is also obliged to applycqdse risk classification on the basis of the
nature and volume of the business relationship toaresaction order or the conditions related
to the customer, product, service or the applisthiment.

MKB Bank identified its major risks in its risk assment policy and reserves the right to
refuse any customer relationship, transactionasstaction order if it is not in accordance with
its risk appetite. The Bank monitors unusual atésiand has identified cash transactions as a
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high risk, in particular in the case of extremedyge or highly intensive cash turnover, thus
verifying it continuously controls such turnover.

MKB Bank does not maintain a business relationsfith customers who carry reputational
risks, only customers who use their products fgitimate purposes and whose identity can be
determined and verified without any doubt. The Baldles not provide services to natural
persons or legal entities who/which are subjeettp sanction or are included in any restricted
list, such as the restricted list of the United iblad Security Council (UN), the EU
Consolidated Financial Sanctions list (EU), the Retsed List handled by the Foreign Assets
Control Office (OFAC) of the United States, whicls@includes the Specially Designated
Nationals and Blocked Persons (SDN). In addititve, Bank identified industries, products
and countries that represent a high risk.

MKB Bank tries to prevent and detect fraud not dnlits customer relations.

The MKB Group has detailed internal regulationsertng insiders and potential insiders,
which fully comply with the restrictions and prohibns detailed in the Capital Market Act.

In the supply contracts partners must commit to ml@ance with the effective laws and
regulations. The Bank’s Compliance Unit also conslutie diligence on the partners before
each new contract or a supply contract that haseeh reviewed for a year. The Bank does
not enter into any contract with a supplier who sloet satisfy the minimum requirements
stated by law.

The Bank also expresses the requirement of prudpatation in its Code of Conduct.
Compliance with the effective law and the intermagulations of the Bank is a basic
requirement for each employee of the Bank Groupn@@ance with the Code of Conduct is
required from all partners with a business or ottotract with the MKB Group.

Rules on gifts:

In order to ensure transparent operation and ptegruption, the Bank applies strict rules on
conflict of interest and gifts to business partn&ise Regulations on the Conflict of Interest of
Employees and Gifts set out the rules of acceptimd) groviding gifts for employees, the

terms and conditions of holding executive officesitions, the restrictions on influential roles
in the business organisation and on obtaining #oential share and majority influence as
well as the rules of authorisation.

Regulations related to the respective policy angléd due diligence procedures:

* On the assessment of reliability of the employdedB Bank

» MKB Bank Group Policy on the Prevention of Money hdering and Terrorist
Financing

* On the conflict of interest of employees and omsgif

« MKB Bank group regulation on the prevention and bating of money laundering
and terrorist financing and on the implementatiériimancial and asset restrictions
ordered by the European Union and the UN SecurigynCib

» Regulation on the Fraud Reporting System of MKB IBan

* MKB Bank Anti-corruption Policy

» Policy on the Management of Inside Information, e Prohibition of Insider
Trading, Unlawful Disclosure of Inside Informatiand of Market Manipulation
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SUMMARY OF MAIN RESULTS OF POLICIES PURSUED IN THE F IELDS OF
SOCIAL AND EMPLOYMENT ISSUES, RESPECT FOR HUMAN RIGH TS,
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND THE FIGHT AGAINST CORRU PTION

Through its traditionally extensive community inveinent, MKB Group continued to
actively contribute to the promotion of various lleaeducation, and equal opportunities
programmes and activities in 2020.

In terms of employment it needs to be stressed ima2020, home office work was
implemented in 100% of jobs that do not requiregitsl presence and flexible employment
was widespread. It is favourable that the healdsgnvation programmes launched three years
ago continue to be popular. Due to the pandemi20R0, online sports events and trainings
became available so that the Bank can support dadthh of its employees in the home
environment. Implemented HR policies contributengployee satisfaction.

By optimizing the energy consumption of office blinigs, the Bank's energy consumption
was significantly reduced and the employees' enwental awareness was further increased
in 2020. By reducing its ecological footprint anctiag responsibly, the MKB Group also
wants to set an example for market participants @arthers, for which the Bank revised and
renewed its sustainability and climate strateg@étember 2020.

In 2020, MKB Bank consistently and effectively dpgdl its anti-corruption, anti-money
laundering policies, and its dedicated Anti-CoriaptPolicy managed by Compliance.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS RELATING TO SOCIAL AND EMPLOYMENT ISSUES,
RESPECT FOR HUMAN RIGHTS, ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION A ND THE
FIGHT AGAINST CORRUPTION CONCERNING BUSINESS RELATI ONS,
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES, AND THE MANAGEMENT THEREOF

MKB Bank identified its major risks in its risk a&ssment policy. Due to the nature of the
Bank's operations, it is exposed to operationél @perational risk is the risk of loss due to
human error, system failures, inappropriate ortfairternal processes, possible fraud or
abuse of bank employees, customers or third padiesxternal events, which includes legal
risk, conduct risk, modelling risk, information armmmunication technology risk, and
reputational risk. The Bank's key strategic objectis to minimize operational risks by
applying risk-reducing controls in its core busspsocesses.

The Bank also expresses the requirement of prudpatation in its Code of Conduct.

Compliance with the effective law and the intermagulations of the Bank is a basic
requirement for each employee and all partners avltisiness or other contract with the Bank
are also expected to comply with the Code of CohduMB Bank does not maintain a

business relationship with customers who carry tegpnal risks, only customers who use
their products for legitimate purposes. MKB Bankmgdeted a risk assessment also in
employment and identified the risks relevant imtgiof its operation which are also taken into
account in its HR activities.

KEY NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS:

» Breakdown of employees by job, age and genderlu@ed in the chapter on Policies
related to employment and the results thereof,iegplue diligence procedures)
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e Energy consumption: (included in the Environmental Policy and its results, applied due
diligence processes chapter)

Budapest, 30 March 2021

/ £

¢f Executive Officer Deputy Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENT
on the non-consolidated annual financial statements of 2020
and on the Report of the Management
Pursuant to Ministry of Finance Decree no. 24/2008. (VIII.15.)

MKB Bank Nyrt ‘(hereinaﬁer: Bank) declares concerning its non-consolidated annual
financial statements — accepted by the Annual General Meeting of the Bank on 29 April 2021
and audited by an independent auditor - the following statement:

The Bank declares that the non-consolidated annual financial statements have been compiled
in accordance with the applicable accounting rules. The non-consolidated annual financial
statements compiled based on the best knowledge of the Bank’s competent experts and
decision making managers present a realistic and reliable picture on the assets, liabilities,
financial position, as well as profits and losses of the Bank as an issuer of securities.

The Bank declares furthermore that The Report of the Management (Management’s
discussion & analysis) provides a reliable picture of the position, situation, development and
performance of the Bank as an issuer of securities and describes the key risks and uncertainty
factors.

Budapest, 29 April 2021

MKB Bank Nyrt.

/ﬁ//‘"’ /
JanosNyemcsok

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
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